
13 December 2017

Cabinet

Wednesday 13 December 2017 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester
  

AGENDA

Item Discussion Portfolio

1 Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence.

Leader of the 
Council 

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 8)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 15 November 2017 
(minutes attached).

Leader of the 
Council 

3 Declarations of Interest 

To declare any pecuniary or personal interests relating to specific 
matters on the agenda.

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda

Leader of the 
Council 

4 Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

Written questions 

To answer any written questions from a County Councillor, (or any 
person living or working in the county, or is affected by the work of the 
County Council), about any matter which relates to any item on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

The closing date for the receipt of written questions is 4.00 pm on 
Thursday 7 December 2017. 

Leader of the 
Council 



13 December 2017

Oral questions

To answer any oral questions from members of the public. An oral 
question may be asked by a member of the public about any item on the 
agenda for this meeting, provided notice of the question is given by the 
questioner to the Chief Executive’s representative at least 30 minutes 
prior to the start of the meeting.

Depending on the nature of the questions, it may not be possible to 
provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in which case a written 
answer will be provided as soon as reasonably possible after the 
meeting. Questions received and proposed responses do not 
accompany this agenda but will be circulated prior to the meeting.

Key Decisions

5 Medium Term Financial Strategy - 2018/19 to 2020/21 (Pages 9 - 114)

Cabinet to approve, for consultation and scrutiny, the proposed detailed 
budget 2018/19 and the Medium Term Financial Strategy covering the 
period 2018/19 to 2020/21. 

Leader of the 
Council 

Finance and 
Change 

6 Financial Monitoring Report 2017/18 (Pages 115 - 128)

Cabinet to consider an update on the year-end forecast for the 2017/18 
County Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets. 

Finance and 
Change 

7 Procurement of Corporate Insurances and Related Procurement of 
a Broker (Pages 129 - 136)

a) To seek approval to tender for the council’s corporate insurance 
policies, (and award a contract to commence 24 June 2018), and,  

b) To make a legally compliant direct award of a contract for 
insurance brokerage services to the incumbent supplier of such 
services to specifically assist in the procurement of the contract 
for corporate services and claims handling. 

Finance and 
Change 

8 Energy Contract Award (Electricity) for Gloucestershire County 
Council Estate and Schools (including Academies) (Pages 137 - 
144)

To seek approval to modify the term of the contract for the supply of 
electricity to the Council and participating schools.

Finance and 
Change 

9 To establish a new Secondary School for Cheltenham (Pages 145 - 
154)

To seek Cabinet approval to establish a new secondary school in 
Cheltenham. 

Education, Skills 
and Growth 



13 December 2017

Cabinet
Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE, Cllr Richard Boyles, Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr Nigel Moor, 
Cllr Vernon Smith, Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cllr Kathy Williams and 
Cllr Roger Wilson

Notes 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to 
make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns 01452 
328472 /fax: 425149 e-mail: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

2. INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or reports 
relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the meeting, please 
contact: Jo Moore, Senior Democratic Services Adviser :01452 324196/fax: 425240/e-mail: 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

3. DEFINITION OF A KEY DECISION - A ‘Key Decision’ is one that is, if implemented, is likely to
 Result in significant additional expenditure or savings to the value of £500,000 or more, or
 Be significant in terms of its effect on communities in two or more electoral divisions.

4.

5. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS - Members are required to sign the attendance list.

PHOTOGRAPHY, FILMING AND AUDIO RECORDING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS is permitted 
subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions. Please contact Democratic 
Services (01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting. If you are 
a member of the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the 
Democratic Services Officer on duty at the meeting.  

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please 
leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point located outside the 
main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further 
instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MINUTES 

15 November 2017

Gloucestershire
County
Council

PRESENT

Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE - Leader of Council
Cllr Richard Boyles - Children and Young People 
Cllr Tim Harman - Public Health and communities 
Cllr Nigel Moor - Fire, Planning and Infrastructure 
Cllr Vernon Smith - Highways and Flood 
Cllr Lynden Stowe - Economy, Skills and Growth 
Cllr Ray Theodoulou - Finance and Change 
Cllr Kathy Williams - Adult Social Care Commissioning 
Cllr Roger Wilson - Adult Social care Delivery 

1. Apologies 

There were no apologies at the meeting. 

2. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 27 September 2017 were confirmed and signed 
as a correct record.

3. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

4. Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

A total of 11 member questions were submitted in advance of the meeting. 

The following supplementary questions were asked at the meeting.

Question 1: Cllr Iain Dobie

Agenda item 8: Financial Monitoring Report 2017-18 (pages 47 to 68 of the 
agenda pack)

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Cllr Dobie asked whether ‘consistently investing in supporting people with learning 
disabilities’ meant cuts of £4 million in the last two years and £7 million since 2014-
15?

Cllr Kathy Williams stated that the Council continued to invest in services for people 
with learning disabilities.  She referred to the employment programme to get people 
with learning disabilities into work.

Question 2: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson 

Agenda item 8: Financial Monitoring Report 2017-18 (pages 47 to 68 of the 
agenda pack)

Cllr Hodgkinson asked what contingencies were being built in to the budget if the 
Adult Social Care Support Grant of £1.541 million was a one-off?

Cllr Roger Wilson explained that the Council’s budget for 2018-19 was currently 
being put together and careful consideration was being given to the level of funding 
required in future years.

Question 3: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson

Agenda item 8: Financial Monitoring Report 2017-18 (pages 47 to 68 of the 
agenda pack)

Cllr Hodgkinson asked what increase in funding the Cabinet Member thought was 
required for Adult Social Care given that demand was increasing year on year?

Cllr Roger Wilson stated that a great deal of work was being undertaken on demand 
management.  Every area of the Adult Social Care budget was being examined to 
make sure that it was sufficient.  He recognised that it was a challenging time and 
cost pressures would only increase moving forward.

Question 4: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson

Agenda item 8: Financial Monitoring Report 2017-18 (pages 47 to 68 of the 
agenda pack)

Cllr Hodgkinson asked how much the spend on consultants for 2017-18 so far 
compared with the same period for the previous financial year?

Cllr Ray Theodoulou advised that he did not have the information to hand but would 
provide it outside the meeting.

Page 2



Question 5: Cllr Iain Dobie

Agenda item 8: Financial Monitoring Report 2017-18 (pages 47 to 68 of the 
agenda pack)

Cllr Dobie expressed concern that the percentage of the Council’s Public Health 
budget spent on Mental Health had reduced from 2 % to 1.2%, compared to the 
national average of 1.6%.  He asked the Cabinet Member whether he believed that 
the Council should be spending at least 2 %  of its budget on Mental Health?

Cllr Tim Harman recognised that what we do about mental health was one of the 
great challenges facing the county and the country. He noted the importance of 
funding available from the Public Health budget and other budgets. 

5. Tender and Award of Recyclate Services under the Dynamic Purchasing 
System (DPS) for Household Recycling 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure, sought 
approval to extend all current recyclate contracts (except for wood) for a further 
period of two months and to tender and award new recyclate contracts.  He 
confirmed that the cost of implementing the recommendations would be met from 
within existing budgets so no additional costs would be incurred.

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the reasons 
for the recommendations, the Cabinet: 

RESOLVED to authorise the Commissioning Director: Communities and 
Infrastructure to: 

1) Extend the duration of all the existing recyclate contracts:

(a) awarded using the dynamic purchasing system; and
(b) those awarded directly outside of the dynamic purchasing system

as set out in paragraph 1.4 of the report (with the exception of the current 
contract for the recycling of wood) by two months in each case so each will 
terminate on 31 March 2018.

2) Using the Household Recycling Centre Dynamic Purchasing System:

(a) Procure and award a new contract for the provision of wood recyclate 
services, the contract to have the term of three years and three months 
commencing on the 1 January 2018 with an option to extend for up to a 
further year and an estimated value of £2 million over its full term.

Page 3



(b) Procure and award a new contract for the provision of the remaining 
recyclate services as set out in paragraph 1.4 of the report, the contracts in 
each case to have the term of three years commencing on the 1 April 2018 
with an option to extend for up to a further year and an estimated value of 
£1.5 million over their full term for the new metal and cardboard contracts 
respectively.

3) Where under the Household Recycling Centre Dynamic Purchasing System 
no contractors are registered for a lot or where there is no bid or no viable bid 
is received in respect of a lot to procure and direct award a recyclate contract 
in each case for those respective Lots with providers who are able to offer the 
Council best value for the provision of those respective services provided that 
the term of any such directly awarded contract.

6. Stonehouse A419 Improvement Scheme - Contract Procurement and Ancillary 
Orders 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure sought 
approval for the Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure, to be 
authorised to conduct  a compliant competitive tender process and to award a 
contract in respect of the A419 Improvement Scheme proposals. 

Cllr Moor noted that the A419 was a key route into the Stroud valleys and the 
improvement scheme was important for the county’s economy.  

Cllr Vernon Smith, the Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood, welcomed the 
scheme which he believed would complement the wider investment in the local road 
network.  He expected work to start on site in Autumn 2018.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne, the local member for Quedgeley, said that the scheme was 
particularly good news for residents of his division and those people living in 
Hardwicke. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the reasons 
for the recommendations, the Cabinet:

RESOLVED to authorise the Commissioning Director: Communities and 
Infrastructure to:

1) Conduct a compliant competitive tender process for the award of a contract to 
a single supplier for the construction of the Stonehouse A419 Improvement 
Scheme.

Page 4



2)   Upon conclusion of the competitive tender process, and in consultation with 
the Lead Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure, to enter into a 
contract with the preferred provider evaluated as offering the Council best 
value for money for delivery of the services. In the event that the preferred 
provider for the contract is either unable or unwilling to enter into that contract 
with the Council then the Director: Communities and Infrastructure, is 
authorised to enter into such contract with the next willing highest placed 
suitably qualified provider.

3) Make any other ancillary orders that might be required to successfully 
implement the scheme.

4) Use £0.52 million of existing Highways budget to fund the design works which 
will be recovered.

7. Domiciliary Care - Urban Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) 

Cllr Kathy Williams, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, and Cllr Roger Wilson, 
Cabinet Member for Vulnerable Adults and Commissioning, sought approval for the 
establishment of a dynamic purchasing system (DPS) for the provision of care for 
vulnerable and older people in the urban zones of Cheltenham and Gloucester.

Cllr Wilson recognised that certainty of care was critically important for vulnerable 
people.  He said that a dynamic purchasing system in Gloucester and Cheltenham 
would provide a similar approach to the rest of the county and allow the Council to 
purchase care services from alternative providers if necessary.

Cllr Williams stated that it was vitally important that continuity of care was in place 
going into the Winter months.

Having considered all the information, including known proposals and the reasons 
for the recommendations, the Cabinet:

RESOLVED to delegate authority to the Commissioning Director: Adults (and
Director of Adult Social Services) to

1) Ensure an EU compliant competitive process by establishing a dynamic 
purchasing system for the provision of care for vulnerable and older people in 
the urban zones of Cheltenham and Gloucester until 30 September 2023.

2) Throughout the term of the dynamic purchasing system, to admit or remove 
domiciliary providers to the system in accordance with the required selection 
criteria or any revised selection criteria set out in the system.

Page 5



3) To award packages of care to domiciliary providers on the dynamic 
purchasing system where the lead providers are unable to meet the assessed 
demand from health and social care.

8. Financial Monitoring Report 2017/18 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou: Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, gave an update on 
the year-end forecast for the Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets 2017/18.

Cllr Theodoulou stated that there continued to be major pressures around the  Adult 
Social Care and Children’s budgets.  He noted that all of the savings’ programmes in 
Adult Social Care had been brought together under the Adults’ Single Programme.  
He said that the Children’s budget had risks associated with it as the number of 
children in care was continuing to rise in common with other local authority areas.  
There were significant costs associated with the improvement plan following the 
Ofsted inspection.  

He explained that adjustments had been made to the Communities and 
Infrastructure budget and it was no longer in a deficit position.  Reductions in the 
deficit on the Local Government Pension Scheme had allowed £4 million to be 
released into the Revenue Budget on a ‘one-off’ basis.  He noted that 86% of 
savings planned through the Meeting the Challenge 2 (MtC2) Programme had now 
been achieved.  

He advised that a number of proposals had been put forward to increase the Capital 
Programme in recognition of the slippage with some other projects. He said that the 
Council had put forward a bid with the District Councils to participate in the 
Government’s Business Rates Retention Pilot.  If successful, the Council could gain 
additional one-off revenue of as much as £5 million.  

In noting the report, the Cabinet:

RESOLVED to

1  Note the forecast revenue year end position as at the end of September 2017 
for the 2017/18 financial year of a net £0.087 million underspend.

2  Agree the following revenue contributions to capital of:

2.1 £0.100 million from Support Services to the ICT capital programme to 
provide Wi-Fi in Children’s Services office accommodation.

2.2 £0.258 million from Highways to support the Highways Capital 
Programme.

Page 6



3  Approve the following budget virements:

3.1 The 2016/17 unallocated Adults Social Care Levy of £2.5 million be 
permanently allocated to Learning Disabilities.

3.2 The one off Adult Social Care Support Grant of £1.541 million is 
allocated to support Older People/Physical Disabilities and Mental 
Health pressures in the current year.

4  Approve the transfer of £5 million from one off savings in the Corporate and 
Technical budget to the Transformation Reserve.

5  Approve £0.71 million from the Transformation Reserve to support costs 
relating to the implementation of the Ofsted Improvement Plan.

6  Approve a £10 million pre-payment to the Gloucestershire LGPS Fund  to 
generate revenue savings as outlined in the report.

7  Note the forecast capital year end position for 2017/18 of £9.815 million 
slippage.

8  Approve the following changes to the Capital Programme:-

8.1 A transfer of £2.521 million of existing C&I unallocated capital funding 
(made up of £1.727 million of Highways, £0.478 million of Structural 
Maintenance and £0.316 million of Integrated Transport) to fund the 
additional works costs on phase one of Cinderford Northern Quarter Spine 
Road following on from the July 2015 Cabinet decision to proceed with the 
project.

8.2 An increase of £3.014 million to the Highways Capital budget, funded by 
£2.700 million DfT Grant for the Cross Keys Roundabout £0.258 million of 
revenue contributions from Highways revenue budgets and £0.056 million 
from external contributions.

8.3 An increase of £0.198 million to the Infrastructure Capital budget of the 
Saturn Multi Modal Transport model, funded from the Transformation 
Reserve.

8.4 An increase of £0.100 million in the ICT Capital programme budget to 
provide Wi-Fi in Children’s Services office accommodation. This will be 
funded by a revenue contribution from Support Services.

Page 7



8.5 A new capital scheme at Bourton-on-the-Water Primary, funded by £0.754 
million developer s106 contributions.

8.6 Note transfer of £0.360 million from the ‘Sandford Park House Dilapidation 
Costs’ scheme in the Adults Capital Programme to the AMPS Capital 
Programme to reflect the current management and reporting of these 
works.

8.7 Note the transfer of £0.375 million from the ‘Locality Solutions’ scheme in 
Children & Families Capital Programme to the AMPS Capital Programme 
to reflect the current management and reporting of these works.

9. Note the risks and opportunities associated with entering into a
Gloucestershire 100% Business Rate Retention pilot and:-

9.1 Continues to support the application to the Government to pilot 100% 
Business Rates Retention in 2018/2019 for Gloucestershire.

9.2 Authorise the Director: Strategic Finance, in consultation with the Deputy 
Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, to commit 
Gloucestershire County Council to entering into the pilot for 100% Business 
Rates Retention in 2018/2019 for Gloucestershire in the event the bid to 
DCLG is successful.

9.3 Notes that in the event the pilot bid is unsuccessful then the Council will 
remain in the Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool for 2018/2019.

Leader of Council

Page 8



MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY – 2018/19 to 2020/21

Cabinet Meeting 13th  December 2017

Leader
Cabinet Member

Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Leader of Council
Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Deputy Leader and Lead Cabinet Member for Finance 
and Change

Key Decision Yes

Other Documents Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016/17 – 2018/19
Council report: 15th February 2017
Council Efficiency Plan 2016/2020

Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2017/18 – 2019/20

Main Consultees Public, Schools Forum, Partners, Business Representation, Members of the 
Council, Scrutiny Committees, Trade Unions, Staff.

Planned Dates December 2017 to January 2018

Divisional Councillor All Councillors

Officers Jo Walker Tel: 01452 (32) 8469 Strategic Finance Director
Jane Burns Tel: 01452 (32) 8472 Director Strategy & Challenge 
Paul Blacker Tel: 01452 (32) 8999 Head of Financial Management

Purpose of Report To set out the budget strategy, the detailed draft budget for 2018/19 and the 
MTFS covering the period 2018/19 to 2020/21.

Recommendations Cabinet is recommended to:

Approve for consultation and scrutiny the proposed detailed budget for 
2018/19 and the MTFS (including Dedicated Schools Grant which will be 
considered by the Schools Forum), and the Treasury Management Strategy

Resource 
Implications

The report is concerned with the Council’s overall budget and the financial 
implications thereof.

1

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



Main Report Contents

1. Introduction

This draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is presented as the basis for 
consultation and scrutiny, prior to final Cabinet approval on 31st January 2018, and 
recommendation to County Council on 14th February 2018. It has been prepared using 
best estimates from available data, with the provisional financial settlement due in 
December 2017.  Any amendments required as a result of the financial settlement will be in 
the final budget submitted to County Council.

The MTFS contains the proposed budget for 2018/19. The budget totals £407.16 million 
and is based on a 1.99% Council Tax increase.  In addition there is the continuation of the 
‘social care precept’ allowing upper-tier authorities to increase council tax levels by up to 
2% specifically to fund Adult Social Care. This 2% social care precept raises an additional 
£5.42 million for Adult Social Care services.  

2. The Council Strategy 2018/19

Alongside the MTFS, we will also be bringing a refreshed Council Strategy to Cabinet in 
January 2018.  The existing strategy runs to March 2018.  The refreshed strategy will set 
out how the Council will address the issues we are facing in the short-term, as well as 
setting a clear path for the next generation.

The strategy will describe how the Council will deliver the 5 priorities which are reflected in 
Section B of the MTFS, as well as how we will measure and report progress.  

3. Funding Forecast 

The funding environment for local authorities is increasingly complex.  Cuts in government grant 
have been a feature of the settlement, and indications are that these are set to continue to the 
end of the current Spending Review (CSR) in 2019/20.  In 2016/17 central government made 
an offer to local authorities, which included details of the settlement for four years (over the 
CSR period), instead of just one year.  This increased the certainty of the main funding streams 
and the allocations.  The Council accepted this offer as a minimum funding offer, signing up to 
the four-year deal.  The budget for 2018/19 has been based on the figures the Council signed 
up to, which were honoured in the 2017/18 settlement in February 2017 and expected in the 
2018/19 settlement.  The provisional 2018/19 settlement is expected in mid December 2017, 
with the final settlement expected in February 2018.

Financial Settlement

The Council receives its funding through a number of sources; government grant, business 
rates retention income, council tax and charging for some of its services through fees and 
charges.  

Page 10



The main un-ringfenced grants received from central government that form the settlement 
are Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Business Rate Top Up Grant (which is part of the 
Business Rates Retention Scheme funding (BRR).  The current BRR Scheme was 
introduced from 2013/14. The Scheme allows the Council to retain some of the business 
rates raised locally. The business rate yield is divided equally between central and local 
government. The Council’s share of the locally retained element is 20%. The Top Up grant 
is received in order to protect upper tier services.

Under the latest proposals, by the end of the CSR period in 2019/20, RSG will have reduced 
by 84%, whilst Top Up grant remains relatively stable increasing in line with CPI, the 
Council’s share of business rate yield is forecast to rise in line with CPI.

Other Funding Streams

In addition to the main un-ringfenced grants received, the Council also receive a number of 
other grants, which central government include in their presentation of Core Spending 
Power of local authorities.  These include:

 Public Health Grant
Public Health funding is expected to reduce by 3.9% in real terms to 2019/20 and 
following an announcement in March 2017, ring fencing was extended into 2018/19. The 
Council has forecast a reduction of around 2.5% for 2018/19.

 Improved Better Care Fund
The CSR announced an additional £1.5 billion by 2019/20 through the Improved Better 
Care Fund.  From 2018/19 the Council will receive £6.8 million, which forms part of the 
overall budget of the Council for 2018/19.  The Council continues to work closely with 
Health partners to facilitate more integrated working between health and social care. 

 New Homes Bonus (NHB)
The Government introduced the NHB as a cash incentive scheme to reward councils for 
new home completions and for bringing empty homes back into use.  This provided 
match funding for each new property, originally for six years, but now reduced to four 
years plus a bonus for each affordable home.  The Council’s allocation of grant reduced 
by around 10% in 2017/18, and expectations are that it will reduce by a further 27% to £3 
million for 2018/19.

Well over half of the Council’s funding now comes from Council Tax. The general Council Tax 
referendum limit for local authorities remains at 4%, including the Adult Social Care levy as last 
year.   The budget for 2018/19 proposes to raise council tax by 1.99%, which generates 
estimated income of £5.17 million and the Adult Social Care Levy of 2% which generates an 
estimated £5.19m (both these amounts are calculated excluding the impact of any increase in 
the taxbase).  Both these measures help to mitigate the impact of the reduction in government 
grants outlined above and fund pressures on council services. 

Page 11



Following dialogue with the district councils additional funding has been built into the base 
budget for an estimated 1.5% increase in the tax base for the county. Once this is added to the 
taxbase the revenue gained by a proposed tax increase outlined above rises.  The Council 
gains £5.42 million from the ASC levy, (£5.19 million tax 2% increase plus £0.24 million 
taxbase uplift), and £9.22m from the general council tax increase (£5.17 million 1.99% council 
tax increase plus £4.05 million taxbase uplift).   An estimated surplus of over £3 million on the 
Collection Fund is also assumed.  District councils will be confirming all these figures by the 31st 
January 2018 deadline before the budget is approved by Council in February 2018.

Alongside the settlement there are other significant changes that impact on local 
government, that are affecting the financial forecasts for the Council.  This includes the 
move to 100% BRR and Business Rate Pilots, and the Fair Funding Review.

100% BRR and Business Rate Pilots

The Local Government Finance Bill was published on 13th January 2017.  Its main purpose 
was to put in place the framework for 100% BRR.  However, with the General Election in 
June 2017 this Bill was withdrawn, and was not mentioned in any subsequent publications.

Then on the 1st September 2017 the Department for Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG) published an “Invitation to local authorities to pilot 100% business rates retention in 
2018/19 and to pioneer new pooling and tier-split models,” with a deadline of 27th October 
2017.  Extensive modelling work was undertaken by the council and the six district councils 
supported by an external consultant which reviewed the risks and benefits and resulted in  a bid 
to  DCLG.  In the event the bid is successful it could result in a one off financial benefit in 
2018/19 for all seven councils.  Further detail is available in the November Budget Monitoring 
report, which authorised the Director: Strategic Finance, in consultation with the Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, to commit Gloucestershire County Council to 
entering into the pilot for 100% Business Rates Retention in 2018/2019 for Gloucestershire in 
the event the bid to DCLG is successful.

DCLG are expected to announce successful pilots in December 2017 alongside the provisional 
financial settlement announcements. If the Gloucestershire bid is unsuccessful, the existing 
Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool would continue in 2018/19 (excluding Tewkesbury).

The Gloucestershire Pool

The Council entered into a pooling agreement with all six district councils in the county in 
2013/14. The reason for this was to retain a larger proportion of additional business rate income 
within the county, as a result of paying a lower levy on growth, above the baseline, to central 
government to support council services and economic growth.

In the first year of operation, 2013/14, the Pool reported a surplus, however in 2014/15 the Pool 
suffered a loss due to the impact of backdated appeals on rateable values and, in particular, the 
successful backdated appeal by Virgin Media, the largest valued business in Tewkesbury.  An 
improved position was reported in 2015/16 and 2016/17 with the Pool once again in a surplus.  
Latest modelling forecasts a surplus for 2017/18.  

Page 12



Due to on-going issues and concerns around the appeals issue with Virgin Media, the Pool 
reformed from 2016/17 to exclude Tewkesbury Borough Council, thus reducing the risk of a 
deficit occurring.  As mentioned earlier if the 100% BRR bid to DCLG is unsuccessful, the 
current arrangement for the Pool will continue into 2018/19, excluding Tewkesbury.

Fair Funding Review

The National Fair Funding Review is reviewing the underlying needs formula and distribution 
methodology used for assessing need and allocating funding to Local Government because the 
formula has not been reviewed since 2013.  DCLG are looking for a formula based model with 
common cost drivers such as population, sparsity and deprivation, which are relevant, 
objective, distinct, stable and future proof.  Originally, the review was expected to be completed 
in time to implement the new approach by 2019/20 however it is now not expected to be 
implemented until 2020/21.  

A consultation paper is expected imminently, and the Council will review and feed back as 
necessary on this.  Of particular importance will be “transition” (or damping) arrangements that 
are put in place, so that authorities can develop financial plans with some knowledge of the 
potential “worst-case” scenario.  The design of this “transition” is going to be crucial, as well as 
the amount and timing of transition allowed. 

4. Budget Pressures

The proposed budget for 2018/19 contains provision to fund key budget pressures 
including unavoidable contractual inflation, pay (1%) and increases in demand led services.  
In addition the proposed budget includes funding for key Administration priorities and 
additional funding for Children & Families following the recent OFSTED inspection. 

5 Budget Summary

The proposed revenue budget for 2018/19 totals £407.16 million, a net reduction of £0.54 
million from 2017/18 – this is made up of £28.72 million of investment in services offset by 
£29.26 million of savings and efficiencies. 

In addition to the permanent investments included in the MTFS document the 2018/19 
budget proposals include a number of one-off investments funded from the Transformation 
Reserve. These are:-

 £1.59 million - Growing Our Communities Fund  
Building on the success of the three grant programmes; Active Together, Healthy 
Together and the Children’s Activity Fund this proposal takes the learning from the 
running of these three programmes from 2014 – 2017. The evaluation and feedback 
from stakeholders revealed the following benefits of a small grants programme:

It helped to foster good relationships and mutual trust between GCC and the VCS.  
Members were pivotal to the success of the programme by adopting a light touch 
approach.  The Council has built many positive relationships with local charities and 
social enterprises who appreciated the flexibility the grants gave them to help meet local 
needs without too many strings attached.

Page 13



The grants have encouraged and inspired the development of local solutions.
Small grants can lever in additional funding and help to grow volunteer capacity thus 
increasing community resilience.  Many projects harnessed existing skills and knowledge 
within the community to deliver their outcomes.

Recognising that these programmes will finish at the end of 2017/18 the MTFS proposes 
a Growing our Communities Fund 2018 – 2021, which is a member led communities 
grant programme.  The purpose of the fund is to launch a grants programme that invests 
in active communities by supporting projects and activities that will make a positive 
difference to local communities. This light touch support to community initiatives would 
aim to:

o contribute to identifying and reduce social isolation;

o develop self supporting community hubs;
o support digital/virtual support networks
o promote healthy lifestyles 
o Support safer neighbourhoods
 

The proposed £1.590 million reflects a sum of £30,000 being available to each councillor 
over a three year period (2018/19 to 2020/21) to fund community based investments as 
described above.

 £0.53 million - Lengthsman Scheme 
Following the success of the Lengthsman scheme and additional one off funding in 
2017/18, the MTFS proposes an additional one off £0.53 million in 2018/19 to continue 
the scheme after which it will become incorporated into the new Highways contract.

 £2.74 million - A417 Reserve
Given the Cabinet’s commitment to the £4 million support to the A417 highways safety 
improvement work, a further £2.74 million is proposed to be added to the A417 Reserve 
to create the total funding commitment of £4.0 million.  

A summary of this draft budget is provided below. This excludes the proposed one off 
investments to be funded from Reserves.

Page 14



Overall Budget

MTFS 2018/19 Budget Summary

Budget Area

Approved 
2017-18 
MTFS Base 
Budget

Removal of 
2017-18 One 
Off 
Investments 
from 
Service 
Areas to 
T&C

2017-18 
Agreed Base 
Budget 
Adjustments;
Corporate 
budget and 
cross cutting 
saving 
allocations

2017-18 GCC 
Revised 
Base Budget

Cost  
Reductions

Cost Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018-19 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s

Programme Budget Areas

Adults 136,882 -4,035 -946 131,901 -11,561 12,255 132,595 694 0.53%

Children and Families Vulnerable Children 58,683 -1,610 -178 56,895 - 10,985 67,880 10,985 19.31%

Children and Families - Other Services 30,641 -410 -312 29,919 -891 380 29,408 -511 -1.71%

Communities and Infrastructure 83,804 -4,520 -621 78,663 -527 2,198 80,334 1,671 2.12%

Business Support 25,138 - 944 26,082 -666 2,299 27,715 1,633 6.26%

Technical and Corporate 47,642 10,575 1,113 59,330 -14,975 606 44,961 -14,369 -24.22%

Total GCC 382,790 - - 382,790 -28,620 28,723 382,893 103 0.03%

Public Health 24,912 - - 24,912 -640 - 24,272 - 0.00%

Total Budget 407,702 - - 407,702 -29,260 28,723 407,165 -537 -0.13%

6 Public Sector Equality Duty

A Due Regard Statement is being drafted and will be updated in January 2018 to include the 
evidence base about service users and workforce and the final budget proposals.

7 Capital Programme

The capital programme provides total investment in the county totalling £490.09 million.  The 
main investment relates to Communities and Infrastructure (£256.92 million), Schools and 
facilities for children (£149.86 million) Business Support (£58.84 million) and Adults (£24.47 
million).  Consistent with the Council’s priority to reduce the level of long term debt, and the 
impact of interest and capital repayments on the revenue budget, the capital programme for 
2018/19 is largely “capped” at the level of developer contributions, capital grants received 
and revenue contributions from capital financing budgets with internal borrowing only being 
used for key administration priorities.

The above figures exclude the Renewable Energy Generation - Solar Farm scheme under 
which the Council was to finance the design, build and operation of medium-scale ground-
mounted solar Photovoltaic (PV) generation facilities on a number of sites. The scheme was 
originally approved in February 2015 funded from internal borrowing, subject to further 
detailed evaluation. Due to Government changes to renewable energy subsidies (feed in 
tariffs) the sites approved are not currently financially viable and therefore the MTFS 
proposes to remove this scheme from the programme making £12.795 million of internal 
borrowing available to fund investment in infrastructure as outlined further on in the report. 
Development work around opportunities to invest in new projects relating to Energy Supply 
Technologies is ongoing and in the event a viable project emerges, it will be presented to 
Cabinet for approval with a new business case including relevant funding options.

The capital programme for 2018/19 onwards contains £167.59 million of new investment on 
capital schemes, financed from grants and capital financing budget, as set out in the table 
below.

Page 15



Priority schemes not supported by grants or contributions have been included within the 
new programme on the basis that they can be funded from capital receipts, internal 
borrowing, revenue contributions and contributions from reserves,   thereby avoiding the 
need for new borrowing. These new schemes recommended for approval amount to £63.67 
million.

The proposed capital programme includes significant investment – the vast majority of 
projects will be funded from government grants or capital financing budgets. New 
borrowing is only planned for two major investment projects – Cheltenham School where 
we have a statutory duty to provide sufficient school placements and highway investment to 
fulfil the manifesto promise of investing £150 million in highways over the next 5 year 
period.

Funding for New Capital Investment

Grant £000
Adults - Disabled Facilities Grant 2018/19 (estimate) 5,561

Children and Families – Basic Need Grant 2018/19 (balance remaining) 13,970

  Children and Families – Basic Need Grant 2019/20 12,565

  Children and Families – Schools Condition Allocation 2018/19 (estimate) 5,131

Children and Families – Special Provision Fund 2018-19 650

Children and Families – Special Provision Fund 2019-20 650

Children and Families – Special Provision Fund 2020-21 650

Communities & Infrastructure – Highways Maintenance Block Grant 
2018/19 14,350

Communities & Infrastructure – Highways Maintenance Block Grant 
2019/20 (indicative) 14,350

Communities & Infrastructure – Highways Maintenance Block Grant 
2020/21 (indicative) 14,350

Communities & Infrastructure – Highways Maintenance Incentive Grant 
2018/19 (estimate) 2,994

Communities & Infrastructure – Highways Maintenance Incentive Grant 
2019/20 (estimate) 2,994

Communities & Infrastructure – Highways Maintenance Incentive Grant 
2020/21 (estimate) 2,994

Communities & Infrastructure – Integrated Transport Block Grant 2018/19 2,861

Communities & Infrastructure – Integrated Transport Block Grant 2019/20 
(indicative) 2,861

Communities & Infrastructure – Integrated Transport Block Grant 2020/21 
(indicative) 2,861

Communities & Infrastructure – National Investment Productivity Fund 
2018/19 2,696

Communities & Infrastructure – Pothole Action Fund 2018/19 1,435

Page 16



Total Grant 103,923

Capital Financing Budgets 63,669

Total New Capital Funding 2017/18 onwards 167,592

8 Consultation Undertaken

Following the publication of the budget proposals, a consultation will be launched between 
14th December 2017 and 17th January 2018. Stakeholders will be asked to give us their 
views on our overall priorities, council tax levels (including the National Adult Social Care 
levy), and the Council’s draft budget.

This will take place with the following groups:

 All Gloucestershire residents,
 Key partners including Health, the Independent and Voluntary sectors and town 

and parish councils,
 Trade Unions and professional associations,
 Staff, via the usual communication channels,
 Gloucestershire businesses
 Schools, via the schools forum, open meetings and Head Teacher groups

The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee have also agreed that they will carry 
out their budget scrutiny process in January 2018. The Scrutiny meeting has been arranged 
for 10th January 2018, and will include briefings from Directors and Cabinet 
Representatives.

Following these meetings the Scrutiny Management and Overview Committee will feed 
back their views to the Cabinet prior to the final budget being developed.

Following consultation, the MTFS, Council Strategy and supporting policy documents will be 
considered by Cabinet again on 31st January 2018, with the recommended budget being 
considered by the County Council on 14th February 2018.

Page 17



9 Forward Draft Plans for the Revenue Budget in 2019/20 and 2020/21

The Council’s plans are set for the three years covering 2018/19 to 2020/21. The proposed 
detailed budget for 2018/19 is set out within the MTFS, whilst the current draft forecast 
budgets for 2019/20 and 2020/21 are:

2019/20 2020/21

£m £m

Budget 419.2 422.3

These are forecast financial positions for 2019/20 and 2020/21 and will be updated as 
further information becomes available.

10 Treasury Management

The proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 
for 2018/19 is set out in the draft MTFS. This strategy proposes a new Minimum 
Revenue Provision policywhich is set out in detail within the strategy which delivers a £2 
million saving per annum as outlined in the proposed MTFS.

The Strategy takes account of the Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the 
Public Sector.  It will be considered by the Audit and Governance Committee on 26th 
January 2018 and any comments will be reported to Cabinet on 31st January 2018 and 
County Council on 14th February 2018.

11 Reserves

Under the Local Government Act 2003, the Council has a responsibility to ensure that 
reserves are adequate. During 2017/18 all reserves have been examined in detail.

A summary of the Council’s forecast reserves as at 31st March 2018 and movements 
since 31st March 2017 are as follows:

31st March 31st March
2017 2018
£000 £000

Earmarked Reserves – Non Schools 112,689
6

  96,166
Earmarked Reserves - Schools Related   24,483   24,483
General Fund Reserves   19,848   18,553
Total Capital Reserve   78,388   78,388

Total Reserves  235,408 217,590

Page 18



As shown above, Non School Revenue Earmarked Reserves are forecast to fall from 
£112.689 million as at 31st March 2017 to £96.166 million as at 31st March 2018, a 
reduction of £16.523 million.  It has been assumed that both School Related Reserves 
and Capital Reserves will remain at the level of balances held at 31st March 2017.

General balances are anticipated to reduce to a level of £18.553 million, following support to 
the 2017/18 revenue budget approved by County Council in February 2017. This also 
assumes a balanced revenue outturn position for 2017/18. This equates to 4.56% of the 
2017/18 net budget. If an over spend occurs in 2017/18, general fund balances are likely to 
reduce further.

12 Risks

In preparing the budget the following factors mitigate the risks in the budget:

 Account has been taken of current spending trends and, where known and affordable 
within the core finance available to the Council, additional costs have been built into the 
proposed 2018/19 budget.

 Budget risks have been explicitly considered in preparing the budget and taken into 
account, particularly the funding constraints going forward.

 The level of reserves has been examined and will continue to be closely monitored during 
the period of this MTFS, in the context of protecting the Council from existing and future 
liabilities, particularly the financial risk associated with the backdating of sleep In allowances 
following recent case law.

 Balancing the Council’s budget over this period of financial constraint requires a series of 
major challenges. Whilst robust programme management plans have been put into place 
to deliver these savings, as evidenced by performance over the last three years, there is 
inevitably some residual risk.

 The highest risk areas continue to be demand led services, especially care for older and 
vulnerable people including Children in Care where demand is rising and the impact of 
the recent Ofsted judgement is having an impact.  Although additional resources are 
being invested in these areas under the proposed 2018/19 budget options, they are 
limited by the core funding and local taxation alternatives available to the Council.

 Provision has been made for pay awards, pension and national insurance increases, 
contractual inflationary pressures and the forecast impact of the new National Living 
Wage. 

 The reserves held are invested and the interest received supports the Council’s budget.

 Consideration to the funding pressures within the DSG High Needs Block Funding has been 
made. Whilst the Council has a programme in place to resolve this issue, if the High Needs 
block continues to overspend this will be initially funded through available DSG balances 
and further measures would be taken to reduce expenditure. Ultimately if these measures 
were not successful then eventually there would be a risk that this liability could fall on the 
Council. 

Page 19



13 Next Steps

Following consultation and scrutiny, the MTFS and detailed budget for 2018/19 will be 
reviewed by Cabinet on 31st January 2018 for recommendation to Council on 14th February 
2018.

Page 20



1

Gloucestershire 
County Council

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy

2018/19 to 2020/21

Budget 2018 /19

Page 21



2

A Context

1 This draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is presented as the basis for 
consultation and scrutiny, prior to final Cabinet approval on 31st January 2018, and 
recommendation to County Council on 14th February 2018. It has been prepared 
using best estimates from available data, which will be updated when the provisional 
financial settlement is received in mid December 2017.  These amendments will be 
incorporated into the final budget submitted to Cabinet in January 2018 and County 
Council in February 2018.

2 The MTFS contains the proposed budget for 2018/19. The budget totals £407.16 
million and is based on a 1.99% Council Tax increase.  In addition, there is the 
continuation of the ‘Adult Social Care precept’ allowing upper-tier authorities to 
increase council tax levels by up to 2% specifically to fund Adult Social Care. This 2% 
levy raises an additional estimated £5.42 million for Adult Social Care services.

3 The draft MTFS should be considered in the context of the Council Strategy, which 
sets out our approach to meeting people’s needs.

4 The Council Strategy summarises these high level plans and is supported by a series 
of policy statements that set out our proposals for specific areas in more detail.

5 In the context of the Council Strategy, commissioning intentions for each 
commissioning area are provided at Annex 1. The Annex highlights current 
achievements and future plans in relation to the redesign of services within 
Gloucestershire, which aim to maximise effectiveness whilst delivering on the 
significant financial challenges facing the Council. These detailed narratives cover 
Children and Families (Annex 1.1), Adults (Annex 1.2), Public Health (Annex 1.3) and 
Communities and Infrastructure (Annex 1.4). 

Page 22



3

B Council Strategy 2018/19

6 The Council Strategy is the key high-level document that, along with the MTFS, sets 
the Council’s strategic policy direction. It is approved each year by the Council, 
alongside the MTFS and sets out the vision and values that will guide the Council, the 
priorities for addressing the challenges and opportunities we face, and how we will 
demonstrate progress in delivering those priorities.

7 The priorities set out in the strategy are:

- Protecting the most vulnerable people in our county
- Building sustainable communities
- Investing in vital services and infrastructure
- Growing our economy
- Creating a council fit for the future

C Other Consultation

8 Following the publication of the budget proposals, a consultation will be launched 
between 14th December 2017 and 17th January 2018. Stakeholders will be asked to 
give us their views on our overall priorities, council tax levels (including the National 
Adult Social Care levy) and the Council’s draft budget.

This will take place with the following groups:

 All Gloucestershire residents,
 Key partners including Health, the Independent and Voluntary sectors and 

town and parish councils,
 Trade Unions and professional associations,
 Staff, via the usual communication channels,
 Gloucestershire businesses,
 Schools, via the schools forum, open meetings and Head Teacher groups

9 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee have also agreed that they will 
carry out their budget scrutiny process in January 2018. The Scrutiny meeting has 
been arranged for 10th January 2018, and will include briefings from Directors and 
Cabinet Representatives.

Following this meeting the Scrutiny Management and Overview Committee will 
feed back their views to the Cabinet prior to the final budget being developed.

10 Following consultation, the MTFS, Council Strategy and supporting policy documents 
will be considered by Cabinet again on 31st January 2018, with the recommended 
budget being considered by the County Council on 14th February 2018.

Page 23



4

D Finance Settlement and Funding Assumptions

11 The funding environment for local authorities is increasingly complex.  Cuts in 
government grant have been a feature of the settlement, and indications are that 
these are set to continue to the end of the current Spending Review (CSR) in 
2019/20.  In 2016/17 central government made an offer to local authorities, which 
included details of the settlement for four years (over the CSR period), instead of just 
one year.  This increased the certainty of the main funding streams and the 
allocations.  The Council accepted this offer as a minimum funding offer, signing up 
to the four-year deal.  The budget for 2018/19 has been based on the figures the 
Council signed up to, which were honoured in the 2017/18 settlement in February 
2017 and expected in the 2018/19 settlement.  The provisional 2018/19 settlement is 
expected in mid December 2017, with the final settlement expected in February 
2018.

Financial Settlement

12 The Council receives its funding through a number of sources; government grant, 
business rates retention income, council tax and charging for some of its services 
through fees and charges.  

13 The main un-ringfenced grants received from central government that form the 
settlement are Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Business Rate Top Up Grant, 
(which is part of the Business Rates Retention Scheme funding (BRR)).  The BRR 
Scheme was introduced from 2013/14. The Scheme allows the Council to retain 
some of the business rates raised locally. The business rate yield is divided equally 
between central and local government. The Council’s share of the locally retained 
element is 20%. The Top Up grant is received in order to protect upper tier services.

14 Under the latest proposals, by the end of the CSR period in 2019/20, RSG will 
have reduced by 84%, whilst Top Up grant remains relatively stable increasing in 
line with CPI, the Council’s share of business rate yield is forecast to rise in line 
with CPI.

Other Funding Streams

15 In addition to the main un-ringfenced grants received, the Council also receives a 
number of other grants, which central government include in their presentation of 
Core Spending Power of local authorities.  These include:

 Public Health Grant
Public Health funding is expected to reduce by 3.9% in real terms to 2019/20 and 
following an announcement in March 2017, ring fencing was extended into 
2018/19. The Council has forecast a reduction of around 2.5% for 2018/19.

 Improved Better Care Fund
The CSR announced an additional £1.5 billion for Adult Social Care by 2019/20 
through the Improved Better Care Fund.  From 2018/19 the Council will receive 
£6.8 million, which forms part of the overall budget of the Council for 2018/19.  
The Council continues to work closely with Health partners to facilitate more 
integrated working between health and social care. 

Page 24



5

 New Homes Bonus (NHB)
The Government introduced the NHB as a cash incentive scheme to reward 
councils for new home completions and for bringing empty homes back into use.  
This provided match funding for each new property, originally for six years, but 
now reduced to four years plus a bonus for each affordable home.  The Council’s 
allocation of grant reduced by around 10% in 2017/18, and expectations are that 
it will reduce by a further 27% to £3 million for 2018/19.

16 Well over half of the Council’s funding now comes from Council Tax. The general 
Council Tax referendum limit for local authorities remains at 4%, including the Adult 
Social Care levy as last year.   The budget for 2018/19 proposes to raise council tax 
by 1.99%, which generates estimated income of £5.17 million and the Adult Social 
Care Levy of 2% which generates an estimated £5.19m (both these amounts are 
calculated excluding the impact of any increase in the taxbase).  Both these 
measures help to mitigate the impact of the reduction in government grants outlined 
above and fund pressures on council services. 

17 Following dialogue with the district councils additional funding has been built into the 
base budget for an estimated 1.5% increase in the tax base for the county. Once this 
is added to the taxbase the revenue gained by a proposed tax increase outlined 
above rises.  The Council gains £5.42 million from the ASC levy, (£5.19 million tax 
2% increase plus £0.24 million taxbase uplift), and £9.22m from the general council 
tax increase (£5.17 million 1.99% council tax increase plus £4.05 million taxbase 
uplift).   An estimated surplus of over £3 million on the Collection Fund is also 
assumed.  District councils will be confirming all these figures by the 31st January 
2018 deadline before the budget is approved by Council in February 2018.

18 Alongside the settlement there are other significant changes that impact on local 
government, that are affecting the financial forecasts for the Council.  This includes 
the proposed move to 100% BRR, Business Rate Pilot application and the Fair 
Funding Review.

100% BRR and Business Rate Pilots

19 The Local Government Finance Bill was published on 13th January 2017.  Its main 
purpose was to put in place the framework for 100% BRR.  However, with the 
General Election in June 2017 this Bill was withdrawn, and was not mentioned in any 
subsequent publications.

Then on the 1st September 2017 the Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) published an “Invitation to local authorities to pilot 100% 
business rates retention in 2018/19 and to pioneer new pooling and tier-split models,” 
with a deadline of 27th October 2017.  Extensive modelling work was undertaken by 
the council and the six district councils supported by an external consultant which 
reviewed the risks and benefits and resulted in a bid to DCLG.  In the event the bid is 
successful it could result in a one off financial benefit in 2018/19 for all seven 
councils.  Further detail is available in the November Budget Monitoring report, which 
authorised the Director: Strategic Finance, in consultation with the Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, to commit Gloucestershire County 
Council to entering into the pilot for 100% Business Rates Retention in 2018/2019 
for Gloucestershire in the event the bid to DCLG is successful.

Page 25



6

20 DCLG are expected to announce successful pilots in December 2017 alongside the 
provisional financial settlement announcements. If Gloucestershire bid is 
unsuccessful, the existing Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool would continue in 
2018/19 (excluding Tewkesbury).

The Gloucestershire Pool

21 The Council entered into a pooling agreement with all six district councils in the 
county in 2013/14. The reason for this was to retain a larger proportion of additional 
business rate income within the county, as a result of paying a lower levy on growth, 
above the baseline, to central government to support council services and economic 
growth.

22 In the first year of operation, 2013/14, the Pool reported a surplus, however in 
2014/15 the Pool suffered a loss due to the impact of backdated appeals on rateable 
values and, in particular, the successful backdated appeal by Virgin Media, the 
largest valued business in Tewkesbury.  An improved position was reported in 
2015/16 and 2016/17 with the Pool once again in a surplus.  Latest modelling 
forecasts a surplus for 2017/18.  

23 Due to on-going issues and concerns around the appeals issue with Virgin Media, the 
Pool reformed from 2016/17 to exclude Tewkesbury Borough Council, thus reducing 
the risk of a deficit occurring.  As mentioned earlier if the 100% BRR bid to DCLG is 
unsuccessful, the current arrangement for the Pool will continue into 2018/19, 
excluding Tewkesbury.

Fair Funding Review

24 The National Fair Funding Review is reviewing the underlying needs formula and 
distribution methodology used for assessing need and allocating funding to Local 
Government because the formula has not been reviewed since 2013.  DCLG are 
looking for a formula based model with common cost drivers such as population, 
sparsity and deprivation, which are relevant, objective, distinct, stable and future 
proof.  Originally, the review was expected to be completed in time to implement the 
new approach by 2019/20 however it is now not expected to be implemented until 
2020/21.  

25 A consultation paper is expected imminently, and the Council will review and feed 
back as necessary on this.  Of particular importance will be “transition” (or damping) 
arrangements that are put in place, so that authorities can develop financial plans 
with some knowledge of the potential “worst-case” scenario.  The design of this 
“transition” is going to be crucial, as well as the amount and timing of transition 
allowed. 

Page 26



7

E Revenue Budget Proposal 2018/19

26 The proposed revenue budget for 2018/19 totals £407.16 million, a net reduction of 
£0.54 million from 2017/18 – this is made up of £28.72 million of investment in 
services offset by £29.26 million of savings and efficiencies. 

27 In addition to the permanent investments within the 2018/19 budget proposals also 
include a number of one-off investments funded from the Transformation Reserve. 
The one-off proposals are

 £1.59 million - Growing Our Communities Fund  
Building on the success of the three grant programmes; Active Together, 
Healthy Together and the Children’s Activity Fund this proposal takes the 
learning from the running of these three programmes from 2014 – 2017. The 
evaluation and feedback from stakeholders revealed the following benefits of a 
small grants programme:

It helped to foster good relationships and mutual trust between GCC and the 
VCS.  Members were pivotal to the success of the programme by adopting a 
light touch approach.  The Council has built many positive relationships with 
local charities and social enterprises who appreciated the flexibility the grants 
gave them to help meet local needs without too many strings attached.

The grants have encouraged and inspired the development of local solutions.
Small grants can lever in additional funding and help to grow volunteer 
capacity thus increasing community resilience.  Many projects harnessed 
existing skills and knowledge within the community to deliver their outcomes.

Recognising that these programmes will finish at the end of 2017/18 the MTFS 
proposes a Growing our Communities Fund 2018 – 2021, which is a member 
led communities grant programme.  The purpose of the fund is to launch a 
grants programme that invests in Active Communities by supporting projects 
and activities that will make a positive difference to local communities. This 
light touch support to community initiatives would aim to:

o contribute to identifying and reduce social isolation;

o develop self supporting community hubs;
o support digital/virtual support networks
o promote healthy lifestyles 
o Support safer neighbourhoods
 

The proposed £1.590 million reflects a sum of £30,000 being available to each 
councillor over a three year period (2018/19 to 2020/21) to fund community 
based investments as described above.

 £0.53 million - Lengthsman Scheme 
Following the success of the Lengthsman scheme and additional one off 
funding in 2017/18, the MTFS proposes an additional one off £0.53 million in 
2018/19 to continue the scheme after which it will become incorporated into the 
new Highways contract.

Page 27



8

 £2.74 million - A417 Reserve
Given the Cabinet’s commitment to the £4 million support to the A417 highways 
safety improvement work, a further £2.74 million is proposed to be added to the 
A417 Reserve to create the total funding commitment of £4.0 million.  

28 A summary of this draft budget is provided below. This excludes the proposed one off 
investments to be funded from Reserves.

Overall Budget

MTFS 2018/19 Budget Summary

Budget Area

Approved 
2017-18 
MTFS Base 
Budget

Removal of 
2017-18 One 
Off 
Investments 
from 
Service 
Areas to 
T&C

2017-18 
Agreed Base 
Budget 
Adjustments;
Corporate 
budget and 
cross cutting 
saving 
allocations

2017-18 GCC 
Revised 
Base Budget

Cost  
Reductions

Cost Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018-19 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s

Programme Budget Areas

Adults 136,882 -4,035 -946 131,901 -11,561 12,255 132,595 694 0.53%

Children and Families Vulnerable Children 58,683 -1,610 -178 56,895 - 10,985 67,880 10,985 19.31%

Children and Families - Other Services 30,641 -410 -312 29,919 -891 380 29,408 -511 -1.71%

Communities and Infrastructure 83,804 -4,520 -621 78,663 -527 2,198 80,334 1,671 2.12%

Business Support 25,138 - 944 26,082 -666 2,299 27,715 1,633 6.26%

Technical and Corporate 47,642 10,575 1,113 59,330 -14,975 606 44,961 -14,369 -24.22%

Total GCC 382,790 - - 382,790 -28,620 28,723 382,893 103 0.03%

Public Health 24,912 - - 24,912 -640 - 24,272 - 0.00%

Total Budget 407,702 - - 407,702 -29,260 28,723 407,165 -537 -0.13%

29 The 2018/19 draft budget is funded as follows:

£000

Original 2017/18 Budget 407,702

Inflation 6,125
Cost and spending increases 22,598

Cost Reductions -29,260
Total 407,165
Less:
Settlement Funding 93,601
Public Health Grant 24,270
Improved Better Care Fund 6,838
New Homes Bonus 2,957
Other Non Ring Fenced Grants 2,003
Collection Fund Surplus 3,000
Budget to be met by Council Tax Payers 274,496
Council Tax at band D = £1,226.31

Page 28



9

30 The proposed budget for 2018/19 contains provision to fund key budget pressures 
including estimates for unavoidable contractual inflation, pay (1%) and increases in 
demand led services.  In addition the proposed budget includes funding for key 
Administration priorities and additional funding for Children & Families following the 
recent OFSTED inspection. 

F Financial Performance in 2017/18

31 The current forecast of the year end revenue position for 2017/18, based on 
actual expenditure at the end of October 2017 and forecasts made in November 
2017, is a £0.214 million under-spend. Details of the forecast year end position, 
analysed by service area, is provided in the table below.

Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position as at the end of Oct 2017

Variance

%

£000 £000 £000 % £000 £000

Adults 145,232 144,812 -420 -0.3% 0 -420 

Public Health 24,912 24,912 0 0.0% 0 0 

Children & Families 98,203 104,542 6,339 6.5% 6,046 293 

Communities & 
Infrastructure

88,706 88,706 0 0.0% 0 0 

Business Support Services 26,383 26,383 0 0.0% 0 0 

Support Services 
Recharges

-26,408 -26,408 0 0.0% 0 0 

Total for Services 357,028 362,947 5,919 1.7% 6,046 -127 

Technical & Corporate 50,674 44,541 -6,133 -12.1% -6,133 0 

Total 407,702 407,488 -214 -0.05% -87 -127 

Forecast 
Variance 

Previously 
reported 

Service Area
2017/18 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn 
Position

Change in 
variance 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance

Page 29



10

32 Further  details  of  the  forecast  year  end  position  can  be  found  in  the  
Financial Monitoring Report 2017/18 presented to Cabinet elsewhere on this 
Agenda. 

G. Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)

33 In July 2017 the Secretary of State announced arrangements for DSG funding in 
2018/19 and 2019/20, confirming a National Funding Formula (NFF) would be 
used to allocate funds to local authorities for both the schools block and high 
needs block elements of the DSG from April 2018, and an additional £1.3 billion 
nationally would be spent on schools over the next two years.

34 In order to provide stability the announcement stated no local authority will see a 
reduction in its cash allocation for the high needs block or it’s per pupil allocation 
for the schools block.

35 A new Central School Services Block (CSSB) has been created by the 
Department for Education (DfE) by moving funds from the existing Schools Block 
of the DSG. This will cover the LA statutory responsibilities for both maintained 
schools and academies.

36 The impact on Gloucestershire’s DSG is an overall increase of 1.76% in 2018/19 
and a further increase of 0.98% in 2019/20 when compared to the 2017/18 DSG 
baseline. The change across the individual DSG blocks is shown below:

37 The DSG baseline above does not currently include the early years funding block 
(£30.1m in 2017/18), it is anticipated the DfE will include this when they update 
the DSG baseline in December 2017 for the October 2017 Pupil Census.

38 Although the final schools block figure will be confirmed by the DfE in December 
2017, the final high needs block will not be confirmed until the end of March 2018 
after further information on high needs places has been collected. The final early 
years block will not be confirmed until April 2019 after it has been updated for the 
January 2019 pupil count.

School Block Funding

39 In September 2017 final decisions on the NFF were made by the DfE. Further 
information on the NFF and methods local authorities can use for allocating funds 
to schools have also subsequently been provided by the DfE and Education and 
Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) through regional meetings, at the national fair 
funding conference and  through ESFA workshops. The key announcements from 
these are:

Page 30



11

 The NFF will be implemented in 2018/19 as planned. It will be used as a method 
of allocating funds to local authorities (not direct to schools). There will be local 
discretion on the formula for 2018/19 and 2019/20 so local authorities along with 
their schools forum will determine the allocations to individual schools in those 
years.

 The additional £1.3 billion nationally has been used in the NFF to:
o Increase the baseline amount per pupil for all schools by 0.5% in each 

of the two years.
o Increase the basic amount per pupil for both primary and secondary 

schools
o Introduce a new minimum allocation per pupil factor.

 The minimum per pupil element has been set at £3,300 for primary schools in 
2018/19 and £3,500 in 2019/20.  The minimum per pupil for secondary schools is 
£4,600 in 2018/19 and £4,800 in 2019/20.

 The minimum funding guarantee can be determined locally at any rate between 
+0.5% and -1.5%.

 The schools forum can agree a transfer from the schools block to the high needs 
block of up to 0.5% of the schools block value but there must be full consultation 
with schools.

 There will not be a looked after children factor in the schools NFF and the 
government is therefore putting extra funding into the pupil premium plus 
allocation which as a consequence will increase to £2,300 in 2018/19.

 The DfE and ESFA have confirmed that it will not be possible for local authorities 
to replicate the NFF when they allocate funds to schools for the following reasons:

o The NFF is illustrative only based on October 16 census data.  Funds 
issued to schools in 2018/19 will be based on October 2017 census 
data. The DfE have confirmed that although they will adjust NFF 
allocations to local authorities for overall pupil number changes in 
primary and secondary, they will not be re-baselining the NFF in 
2018/19 or 2019/20 for any other changes.

o Some of the NFF Funding is required to meet the full year effect of 
lump sums and varied pupil numbers in the new schools that opened 
in 2017/18, along with any changes in factors such as rates and rents 
which are being funded by the DfE on a historic basis. 

o There will need to be a local capping arrangement to meet the cost of 
the Minimum Funding Guarantee for schools.

o The ESFA have issued an Authority Proforma Tool (APT) that local 
authorities have to use in 2018/19 to allocate funds to schools. The 
calculations in the ESFA’s APT are different to those used by the DfE 
in the NFF.

Page 31



12

40 The Schools Forum at its 20th October meeting agreed that the school funding 
formula for 2018/19 should be calculated using the following methodology:

 Ensure all schools receive a minimum 0.5% per pupil increase in 2018-19 
compared to their baselines by setting the minimum funding guarantee (MFG) at 
plus 0.5%.

 Apply the DfE minimum per pupil rates quoted for 2018/19 at £3,300 Primary 
and £4,600 Secondary.

 Apply all the NFF factors and data provided by the DfE.
 Set the cap at a level that exactly equals the MFG cost.
 Set the factor allocation rates in proportion to the NFF rates quoted by the DfE, 

but all scaled by the same percentage to equal the school block funding remaining 
available for delegation.

 Use the APT provided by the ESFA to calculate the final allocations to schools.

41 There is a requirement to submit the final 2018/19 schools formula to the DfE for 
approval by 19th January 2018, and then issue budgets to schools by 28th 
February 2018.

High Needs Block Funding

42 The High Needs budget is under huge pressure. The latest forecast is for an 
overspend of around £800,000 in 2017/18. In 2018/19 there is a facility to seek 
the agreement of the Schools Forum to a transfer of up to 0.5% from the Schools 
Block to the High Needs Block; this would add a further £1.65m as a one-off cash 
sum.

43 The Council have not asked the Forum to support a transfer in 2018/19 on the 
grounds that:

 It would be a one-off rather than a permanent transfer
 There are DSG balances (£3.5m at 1st April 2017)) available specifically to 

support the high needs budget
 School budgets are under great pressure too
 We are talking with schools about new approaches to identifying and meeting 

additional needs,  with the aim of containing spending within budget and 
addressing areas (e.g. exclusions) where outcomes are a concern; a deduction 
from school budgets would be an unhelpful backdrop to those discussions

44 The option to transfer from the Schools Block will also be available, again as a 
one-off, in 2019/20. The Schools Forum may need to re-consider the option at 
that time if spending cannot be contained within budget for 2018/19.

45 The Council has a High Needs programme in place which has the objective of 
bringing anticipated expenditure into line with the funding available by the end of 
2018/19. If the High Needs block continues to overspend this will be initially 
funded through available DSG balances and further measures would be taken to 
reduce expenditure. Ultimately if these measures were not successful then 
eventually there would be a risk that this liability could fall on the Council.

Page 32



13

Early Years Block

46 In December 2016 the Early Years National Funding Formula (EYNFF) was 
announced by the DfE and implemented from April 2017. Provisional funding 
levels for 2018/19 will be notified in December 2017 with updated figures in spring 
2018 and 2019 which take into count pupil census movements.  One of the 
conditions of the EYNFF was that the element of funding spent on central support 
services, which includes children’s centres, reduced to 7% in 2017/18 and to 5% 
in 2018/19. The impact of having to adjust for this requirement will result in a 
shortfall in funding of circa £265,000 for early years services which the service will 
need to cover.

Central School Services Block (CSSB)

47 In 2018/19 this will be allocated based on national average allocations per pupil. 
Gloucestershire is currently £106,054 (4.08%) above this average. Any drop in 
funding is limited to 2.50% per year so there will be some transitional protection in 
2018/19 but by 2019/20 Gloucestershire will be funded for the CSSB at the 
national funding rate. The CSSB covers the local authority statutory 
responsibilities for, maintained schools and academies as well as the costs of the 
Schools Forum and for the governments charge for copyright licences in schools.

H Council Tax

48 The Council’s current 2017/18 Band D Council Tax is £1,179.26, including the 
Adult Social Care Precept.  For 2018/19 it is proposed that Council Tax will 
increase by 1.99% plus an additional 2% the Adult Social Care Precept.

49 Forecast Council Tax levels for each band are shown below.

2018/19 Increase on
Budget 2017/18

Band £ £

A 817.54 31.37
B 953.80 36.60
C 1,090.06 41.82
D 1,226.31 47.05
E 1,498.83 57.51
F 1,771.33 67.96
G 2,043.85 78.42
H 2,452.62 94.10

Nearly two-thirds of households are in Bands A, B or C.

I The Robustness of the Budget Proposals

50 The MTFS and proposed detailed budget for 2018/19 have been formulated in 
accordance with the medium term financial planning framework and budget 
principles as detailed in Annex 4.

Page 33



14

51 The starting point for producing the MTFS for the next three years, and the 
detailed budget proposals for 2018/19, is the 2017/18 MTFS.

52 The proposed 2018/19 budget, and future years’ budgets, also takes into account 
forecast funding changes, new unavoidable commitments, changes in legislation 
and Administration priorities. 

J Flexible Use of Capital Receipts

53 As part of the local government settlement for 2016/17 Government announced 
greater flexibility for council’s in how they make use of capital receipts.  Councils 
were previously only allowed to use capital receipts for repaying debt or funding 
further capital spend.  The rules now allow new capital receipts to be used to fund 
the revenue costs of transformation projects designed to generate ongoing 
revenue savings in the delivery of public services and /or to transform service 
delivery in a way that reduces costs or demand for services in the future.  Plans 
for utilising capital receipts in this way need to be approved by County Council, 
incorporated in the Council’s Efficiency Statement, and progress reported on an 
annual basis to DCLG.  

54 The proposed budget 2018/19 does not anticipate the use of capital receipts in 
this way during 2018/19 financial year.  However, given the expected size and 
scale of the transformation programme required to balance the budget over the 
coming years, it is likely the facility to use capital receipts in this flexible manner 
will be required in future.

55 When developing and adopting a Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy the 
impact on the Council’s Prudential Indictors would be carefully considered.   

K Council’s Financial Standing and Risks

56 Under the Local Government Act 2003 the Council has a responsibility to ensure 
that reserves are adequate. During 2017/18 all reserves have been examined in 
detail.

57  A summary of the Council’s forecast reserves as at 31st March 2018, and 
movements since 31st March 2017 are as follows:

31st March 31st March 

2017 2018

£000 £000

Earmarked Revenue Reserves -Non Schools 112,689   96,166
Earmarked Reserves – School Related   24,483   24,483
General Fund Reserves   19,848   18,553
Total Capital Reserves   78,388   78,388

Total Reserves   235,408    217,590

Page 34



15

58 General balances are anticipated to reduce to a level of £18.553 million, following 
support to the 2017/18 revenue budget approved by County Council in February 
2017. This also assumes a balanced revenue outturn position for 2017/18. This 
equates to 4.56% of the 2017/18 net budget. If an over spend occurs in 2017/18, 
general fund balances are likely to reduce further.

59 This is considered to be a satisfactory level of general reserves, being within the 
target range of 4% to 6%.  However given the risks facing the council, particularly 
the potential for an estimated £7 million back dated Sleep In allowance following 
recent case law, it is not recommended to reduce these levels further.

60 Non School Revenue Earmarked Reserves are forecast to fall from £112.689 
million as at 31st March 2017, to £96.166 million as at 31st March 2018, a 
reduction of £16.523 million.  It has been assumed that both Schools Related 
Reserves and Capital Reserves will remain at the level of balances held at 31st 
March 2017.

61 Annex 5 provides further detail on the Earmarked Reserves, including all of the 
proposed and forecast reserve movements during the year.

L Strategic Finance Director (Section 151 Officer) Review of the Budget

62 The level of General Reserves needs to reflect the risks the Council is facing. 
These risks will depend upon the robustness of the budgets, the adequacy of 
budgetary control and external factors such as inflation and interest rates. Other 
specific risks include the pay cap exceeding 1% and the potential backdating of 
sleep-in payments. 

63 In preparing the budget, and in the context that non schools earmarked reserves 
will fall during 2017/18, the following factors mitigate the risks in the budget:

 Account has been taken of current spending trends and, where known and 
affordable within the core finance available to the Council, additional costs have 
been built into the proposed 2018/19 budget.

 Budget risks have been explicitly considered in preparing the budget and taken 
into account, particularly the funding constraints going forward.

 The level of reserves has been examined and will continue to be closely 
monitored during the period of this MTFS, in the context of protecting the Council 
from existing and future liabilities, particularly the financial risk associated with the 
backdating of sleep In allowances following recent case law.

 Balancing the Council’s budget over this period of financial constraint requires a 
series of major challenges. Whilst robust programme management plans have 
been put into place to deliver these savings, as evidenced by performance over 
the last three years, there is inevitably some residual risk.

Page 35



16

 The highest risk areas continue to be demand led services, especially care for 
older and vulnerable people including Children in Care where demand is rising, 
and particularly post Ofsted inspection. Although additional resources are being 
invested in these areas under the proposed 2018/19 budget options, they are 
limited by the core funding and local taxation alternatives available to the Council.

 Provision has been made for pay awards, pension and national insurance 
increases, contractual inflationary pressures and the forecast impact of the new 
National Living Wage.

 The reserves held are invested and the interest received supports the Council’s 
budget. 

 Consideration to the funding pressures within the DSG High Needs Block 
Funding has been made. Whilst the Council has a programme in place to resolve 
this issue, if the High Needs block continues to overspend this will be initially 
funded through available DSG balances and further measures would be taken to 
reduce expenditure. Ultimately if these measures were not successful then 
eventually there would be a risk that this liability could fall on the Council.

64 On the basis of the above, the Strategic Finance Director’s advice is that the level 
of reserves, following the movements indicated earlier, are adequate, the financial 
standing of the Council is sound in the context of the key risks, and that the 
proposed budget is robust and achievable.

M Public Sector Equality Duty

65 A Due Regard Statement is being drafted and will be updated in January 2018 to 
include the evidence base about service users and workforce, and the final 
budget proposals.

N Forward Draft Plans for the Revenue Budget 

66 The Council’s plans are set for the three years covering 2018/19 to 2020/21. The 
proposed detailed budget for 2018/19 is set out within the MTFS, whilst the 
current draft forecast budgets for 2019/20 and 2020/21 are:

2019/20 2020/21
£m £m

Budget 419.2 422.2
3921.
767 Annex 6 gives outline financial proposals for 2019/20 and 2020/21, and will be 

updated as further information becomes available.

O Capital Expenditure

68 The proposed capital programme is set out in Annex 7a, with details of the 
financing of this programme being provided at the start of this Annex.

Page 36



17

69 The capital programme provides total investment in the county totalling £490.09 
million.  The main investment relates to Communities and Infrastructure (£256.92 
million), Schools and facilities for children (£149.86 million) Business Support 
(£58.84 million) and Adults (£24.47 million).  Consistent with the Council’s priority 
to reduce the level of long term debt, and the impact of interest and capital 
repayments on the revenue budget, the capital programme for 2018/19 is largely 
“capped” at the level of developer contributions, capital grants received and 
revenue contributions from capital financing budgets with internal borrowing only 
being used for key administration priorities.

70 The above figures exclude the Renewable Energy Generation - Solar Farm 
scheme under which the Council was to finance the design, build and operation of 
medium-scale ground-mounted solar Photovoltaic (PV) generation facilities on a 
number of sites. The scheme was originally approved in February 2015 funded 
from internal borrowing, subject to further detailed evaluation. Due to Government 
changes to renewable energy subsidies (feed in tariffs) the sites approved are not 
currently financially viable and therefore the MTFS proposes to remove this 
scheme from the programme making £12.795 million of internal borrowing 
available to fund investment in infrastructure as outlined further on in the report. 
Development work around opportunities to invest in new projects relating to 
energy supply technologies is ongoing and in the event a viable project emerges, 
it will be presented to Cabinet for approval with a new business case including 
relevant funding options.

New Capital Investment 2018/19 onwards

71 The capital programme for 2018/19 onwards contains £167.59 million of new 
investment on capital schemes, financed from grants and capital financing 
budget, as set out in the table below.

72 Priority schemes not supported by grants or contributions, which are detailed in 
Annex 7b, have been included within the new programme on the basis that they 
can be funded from capital receipts, internal borrowing, revenue contributions and 
contributions from reserves,  thereby avoiding the need for new borrowing. These 
new schemes recommended for approval amount to £63.67 million.

Funding for New Capital Investment

Grant £000
Adults - Disabled Facilities Grant 2018/19 (estimate) 5,561

Children and Families – Basic Need Grant 2018/19 (balance remaining) 13,970

  Children and Families – Basic Need Grant 2019/20 12,565

  Children and Families – Schools Condition Allocation 2018/19 (estimate) 5,131

Children and Families – Special Provision Fund 2018-19 650

Children and Families – Special Provision Fund 2019-20 650

Children and Families – Special Provision Fund 2020-21 650

Communities & Infrastructure – Highways Maintenance Block Grant 2018/19 14,350

Page 37



18

Communities & Infrastructure – Highways Maintenance Block Grant 2019/20 
(indicative) 14,350

Communities & Infrastructure – Highways Maintenance Block Grant 2020/21 
(indicative) 14,350

Communities & Infrastructure – Highways Maintenance Incentive Grant 
2018/19 (estimate) 2,994

Communities & Infrastructure – Highways Maintenance Incentive Grant 
2019/20 (estimate) 2,994

Communities & Infrastructure – Highways Maintenance Incentive Grant 
2020/21 (estimate) 2,994

Communities & Infrastructure – Integrated Transport Block Grant 2018/19 2,861

Communities & Infrastructure – Integrated Transport Block Grant 2019/20 
(indicative) 2,861

Communities & Infrastructure – Integrated Transport Block Grant 2020/21 
(indicative) 2,861

Communities & Infrastructure – National Investment Productivity Fund 
2018/19 2,696

Communities & Infrastructure – Pothole Action Fund 2018/19 1,435

Total Grant 103,923
Capital Financing Budgets 63,669

Total New Capital Funding 2017/18 onwards 167,592

Children and Families

73 The Council receives 2 main capital grants for schools from the Department for 
Education: Basic Need and Schools Condition. 

74 The Basic Need allocation of £20.92 million for 2018/19 was approved in the 
2017/18 MTFS for future years’ spend. Of this grant, £6.95 million has been 
allocated to the existing programme, leaving a balance of £13.97 million available 
for new investment. The Basic Need allocation for 2019/20 is confirmed as £12.57 
million. £15.00 million of the above basic need grants has been allocated to the 
new Cheltenham Secondary School scheme.

75 An estimated figure for the Schools Condition allocation of £5.13 million has been 
included for 2018/19 based on the allocation received for 2017/18.

76 The Cheltenham School scheme is required due to the shortfall of school places 
in the Cheltenham area from 2018 onwards. The estimated total cost of the 
scheme is £30 million with £15 million being funded from the Basic Needs 
allocation over three years. For the purposes of the MTFS it has been assumed 
that the rest will be funded from internal borrowing. The internal borrowing 
requirement may reduce if s106 contributions can be negotiated. This funding is 
uncertain but could be in the region of £6m over a five year period.

Page 38



19

Communities and Infrastructure

77 The Council receives capital grants for Highways Maintenance Block and 
Integrated Transport Block.

78 The Department of Transport has confirmed the Maintenance Block Grant 
allocation for 2018/19 as £14.35 million and has provided indicative amounts of 
£14.35 million for both 2019/20 and 2020/21. 

79 The Integrated Transport Block Grant funding arrangements were revised from 
2015/16. In 2018/19 the total Integrated Transport Grant allocation for 
Gloucestershire is £2.861 million of non ring-fenced grant directly from the 
government. The same figure has been provided as the indicative amount for 
both 2019/20 and 2020/21.

80 Over recent years the Council has continued to invest in structural maintenance, 
despite austerity, and in its 2017 manifesto the administration committed to invest at 
least £150m over the next five years.  This requires an additional £40 million of 
investment, the majority of which will be capital. This investment will more than 
double the amount of annual planned resurfacing works over a five year period (May 
2017 to April 2022). In July 2017 Cabinet approved £1m of Highways investment 
towards costs associated with procurement. The remaining £39 million of Highways 
investment has been included in the MTFS Budget for approval and it is proposed 
that this will be funded from internal borrowing.

P Borrowing

Total external borrowing requirement at the end of 2017/18 is forecast to be 
£306.9 million, a reduction of £2.0 million compared with the £308.8 million 
outstanding at the end of 2016/17.

81 External borrowing is generally obtained from the Public Works Loans Board 
(PWLB), usually at fixed rates of interest, over a set number of years.

82 However, in recent years, due to the significant differential between interest rates 
charged by the PWLB and interest earned on invested balances, the Council has 
internally funded borrowing from investment balances (mainly reserves). This 
strategy, currently followed by the majority of local authorities, essentially involves 
lending investment balances to ourselves to reduce overall interest costs.

83 In line with the Council’s aim to reduce the level of external borrowing, capital 
receipts have increasingly been used to fund capital expenditure. The MTC2 
target for capital receipts from the sale of assets was £60 million by the end of 
2017/18. An additional target of £33 million has been set for the 3 year period 
2018/19 to 2020/21. This funding will mainly be used to repay debt or finance 
capital expenditure to avoid new borrowing.   A Disposal Schedule will be 
considered by Cabinet in January 2018 in line with the Disposal Strategy.

Page 39



20

84 The proposed capital programme includes significant investment – The vast 
majority of projects will be funded from government grants or capital financing 
budgets. Internal borrowing is planned for two major investment projects: 
Cheltenham School, where we have a statutory duty to provide sufficient school 
placements and highway investment to fulfil the manifesto promise of investing 
£150 million in highways over the next 5 year period. 

Q Prudential Code

85 In accordance with the Local Government Act 2003 the Council needs to comply 
with the “Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities” (The Code).

86 Under the 2003 Act, Authorities have the freedom to determine the level of 
borrowing they wish to undertake to deliver their capital programmes.

87 The Code has been developed as a professional Code of Practice to support local 
authorities making these decisions. Regulations issued under the Act make 
compliance with the Code mandatory.

88 The objectives of the Code are:
 To ensure that capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and 

sustainable.
 To ensure treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with good 

professional practice.
 To be consistent with good local strategic planning, asset management planning 

and option appraisal.

89 To demonstrate that these objectives have been fulfilled the Code sets out 
indicators that must be used and the factors which must be taken into account.

The Council complies with the Prudential Code:

 By having medium term plans (Corporate Strategy, Revenue and Capital 
budgets).

 By having plans to achieve sound capital investment via the Capital 
Strategy, Project Appraisal and Asset Management Plans.

 By complying with the Treasury Management Code of Practice.
 By producing the indicators for affordability and prudence required by the Code.

R Treasury Management

90 The proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy (AIS) for 2018/19 are shown in Annex 8.

91 It will be considered by the Audit and Governance Committee on 26th January 
2018 and any comments will be reported to Cabinet on 31st January 2018.

92 Annex 8 provides details of:

 Treasury Management Strategy for 2018/19 including, borrowing, debt 
rescheduling and repayment options.

Page 40



21

 Prudential Indicators.

 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement.

 Policy on the use of Financial Derivatives.

 Specified and Non Specified Investments for use by the Council.

93 The proposed Treasury Management Strategy recommends a change in relation 
to the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).  In 2015/16 the policy was amended 
to a fixed fee for existing debt, totalling £8.2 million.  Following further review of 
the Capital Financing Requirement and the Prudential Indicators, and discussions 
with the Council’s treasury advisors (Arlingclose) and external auditor (Grant 
Thornton) it is proposed to further reduce the MRP charge for existing debt to 
£6.2 million, releasing £2 million per annum.  This change still allows for a prudent 
provision for the repayment of existing debt, and ensures that Prudential 
Indicators are not breeched.

94 The other main changes to the proposed Treasury Management Strategy for 
2018/19, when compared with the 2017/18 strategy, are as follows:

 The lowest risk category approved for use has been raised from BBB+ to A-.

 For non-specified investment limits, the total limit for investment in unrated UK 
Government and local authorities is removed. 

 A section has been added on non treasury management investments, in 
accordance with expected changes to the Treasury Code.

Page 41



22

S Attached Annexes

Annex 1 Commissioning Intentions
Annex 2  Budget Movements by Service Area

Annex 3  Budget Summary by Service Area
Annex 4  Medium Term Financial Planning 

Framework
Annex 5  Reserves and Balances Analysis
Annex 6  Revenue Budget Forward Projections
Annex 7a  Capital Programme 2018/19
Annex 7b  New Schemes 2018/19 Funded from Capital Receipts

Annex 8 Treasury Management Strategy

Page 42



23

Annex 1 Commissioning Intentions

Annex 1.1: Children and Families Commissioning Intentions

Context

The Council has wide ranging responsibilities for children’s services; this includes leading 
and co-ordinating all local partners to ensure outcomes for children and young people 
improve. In 2017/18 the total budget for children’s services excluding Dedicated Schools 
Grant was £97.9 million; this included other grants and funding from formula/Council Tax. 
The strategic direction for children’s services is set by the local Children and Young 
People’s Plan; this together with the current corporate strategy, identifies a continuing need 
to improve outcomes for the most vulnerable.

In March 2017 Ofsted inspected services for children in need of help and protection, looked 
after children and care leavers and graded the overall service as inadequate. Whilst there 
were strengths in our adoption services (graded good) and an improving picture for our 
children in care and care leavers (graded requires improvement), our help and protection 
and leadership and management were inadequate. The Council has developed an 
improvement plan to set out how we are bringing about the necessary improvements to 
services for children and young people across Gloucestershire and to ensure clarity and 
direction for Children’s Services, our partners and everyone who needs to be involved in our 
transformation journey.  Following the recent Ofsted inspection earlier this year, this has left 
Children's Services on a very structured improvement journey. 

Strategic Direction

We are in the process of developing our new “Families" plan, outlining the county’s 
approach to the needs of children, young people and their families for the next 3 years.  The 
plan will be live from April 2018 so there is an element of Transition for 2018-19  as we 
move from a purely child and young person focus to a wider families approach.  The new 
plan will also support and embed our Ofsted improvement journey, both for the short and 
longer strategic aspirations are to improve the outcomes for not only children young people 
and their families but for the wider partnerships and children's services workforce.

Wider drivers for change

The Children and Families Act 2014 seeks to improve services for vulnerable children and 
support families. It underpins wider reforms to ensure that all children and young people can 
succeed, no matter what their background. The changes to the law give greater protection to 
vulnerable children, better support for children whose parents are separating, a new system 
to help children with special educational needs and disabilities, and help for parents to 
balance work and family life. It also ensures vital changes to the adoption system can be put 
into practice, meaning more children who need loving homes are placed faster. Reforms for 
children in care can be implemented, including giving them the choice to stay with their 
foster families until their 21st birthday.

The Care Act 2014 is designed to bring the current laws related to adult social care together 
into one Act. Whilst predominately focused on Adults, the Care Act did introduce new 
legislation to support young people who find themselves caring for a parent or sibling; a 
decision to reconfigure the young carers’ service and disaggregate it from the Adult Service 
is underway.

Page 43



24

Children and Social Work Act 2017 is intended to improve support for looked after children 
and care leavers, promote the welfare and safeguarding of children, and make provisions 
about the regulation of social workers. The Act sets out corporate parenting principles for 
the council as a whole to be the best parent it can be to children in its care. These are 
largely a collation of existing duties local authorities have towards looked after children and 
those leaving care and will now extend our duties up to the age of 25 for all those leaving 
care. We will be required to publish our support offer to care leavers and to promote the 
educational attainment of children who have been adopted or placed in other long-term 
arrangements. The legislation extends the current considerations of the court when making 
decisions about the long-term placement of children to include an assessment of current 
and future needs and of any relationship with the prospective adopter. The Act makes 
changes to the arrangements for local child safeguarding partnerships and the serious case 
review process, including provision for a central Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel 
for cases of national importance. It also establishes a new regulatory regime for the social 
work profession.

Needs Analysis

The Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) identifies a number of areas that require review.

Gloucestershire has a high number of school exclusions in comparison to national, regional, 
and Statistical Neighbour rates. In particular, the permanent exclusions in both primary and 
secondary schools are high, with fixed term exclusions being broadly in-line with 
comparators. The proportion of secondary pupils excluded is the highest among our 
Statistical neighbours, and in the highest quartile among England authorities. A significant 
proportion of these exclusions relate to children and young people with additional needs. So 
work to review appropriateness of placements and the support arrangements that are put in 
place will be required in order to reduce the number of placements in independent special 
schools and out of county.

For the Early Years Foundation Stage in 2015, 64% of children achieved a good level of 
development (GLD), which was an improvement on 2014, but Gloucestershire remains 
slightly below the regional and national averages of 67% and 66% respectively. There is a 
notable gap in gender with 72% of girls, and 56% of boys achieving a GLD (mirroring the 
national gender differences). Children with Black or Chinese ethnicities are less likely to 
achieve a GLD. The proportion of children achieving a GLD split by first language shows 
that children with a first language other than English are less likely to achieve a GLD. More 
work is required to fully implement the 2- 2.5 year integrated check which brings together 
the Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) Progress Check at age two with the Healthy Child 
Programme (HCP) 2-2½ year health and development  in order to identify those who might 
otherwise struggle to reach a GLD.

Gloucestershire currently has an increasing cared for population which is forecast to reach 
nearly 700 by March 2018 from a previous level of around 550. There are a number of 
possible reasons for this; the current improvement journey shows that our thresholds are 
poor and inconsistently applied so, along with an improvement in practice and assessment; 
this will increase the number of children and young people becoming looked after. The 
Children and Social Care Act has also extended the statutory duties for leaving care up to 
the age of 25 (previously 21), which will automatically increase our care population. 

Page 44



25

The 2014/15 rates of young people aged 10-24 admitted to hospital for self-harm in 
Gloucestershire (526.0 per 100,000) is significantly worse than England (398.8) and similar 
to the South West (537.9). The Gloucestershire rates increased between 2012/13 and 
2013/14, with the most recent rates showing a slight decrease from 2013/14. Led locally by 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG), all key partners have now agreed a 
transformation plan that takes a ‘whole system approach’ to supporting mental health and 
wellbeing of children and young people.

Meeting the Challenge 2017/18

The MTC targets for 2017/18 totalled £10.07m and are on course to deliver savings of 
£9.9m due to the front loading of some children’s centre restructure costs which will now be 
delivered in 2018/19. 

The MtC savings include further reductions in home to school transport budgets and a 
continuing fall in spend against an historic pension’s budget. The final roll out of SEN 
changes in respect of 16 -19 year olds reduced the need for some services and contractual 
efficiencies were found.

Looking forward

The Ofsted inspection leaves Children's Services on a very structured improvement journey. 
The associated improvement plan will need to be delivered in the next 12 months. This will 
focus particularly on the in care population, which is predicted to rise in part due to the 
Ofsted inspection but also due to the implementation of the Children and Social work act 
2017. Guidance on the act is due to be published shortly and specific commissioning tasks 
will flow from this. The council will also need to continue to respond to changes in 
government funding for core education services as responsibility for school improvement 
continues to transfer to schools and academies.

The Current Children and Young People’s plan is due to expire in March 2018. During 2017 
the Council will be reviewing the needs analysis and working with all partners to develop a 
Children and Families plan. This will take forward the priorities of the partnership with a 
focus on prevention through to providing support for the most vulnerable and keeping 
children safe. The new Children and families plan for 2018 onwards will have a family based 
focus and will frame the longer term commissioning strategy.

Delivering Change

There are four main drivers to the work:

 Delivering against the OFSTED improvement plan
 Commissioning to take forward the priorities identified in the new Children and 

Families Plan including areas identified in the JSNA.
 Implementing the changes in legislation outlined in the children and social care act 

2017 from April 2018.
 Delivering business as usual or on going commissioning arrangements.

Page 45



26

Specific planned activities for 2018/19 include:

1. Development and implementation of a new Placement Sufficiency strategy 
for children’s services this will include the extensive market management and 
development to provide:
 A service which embeds improved practice within Children’s services.
 A fully operational IRIS project.
 The right placement first time - to improve placement stability - this will also need 

to be embedded in practice. 
 Placements are developed in county to support children and young people to 

remain in local schools and health services
 Emergency provision is developed to meet current needs, including the out-of 

hours and PACE placements. 
 Development of the market for young peoples accommodation to meet the new 

Duty for leaving care young people which comes into force from April 2018 -  this 
will include UASC young people. Review of “support and assertive interventions 
“to prevent children and young people coming into care. 

2. Update the current multi agency strategy for CSE and ensure action plans for both 
CSE and Missing are robust and reflect current challenges.

3. Develop a vulnerable young people’s protocol to ensure clear governance 
arrangements are in place. 

4. Continue to work with colleagues across the partnership to implement the Joint 
Strategy for Children and Young People with Additional Needs ensuring seamless 
support for children and young people’s needs.  This will include a focus upon 
improving transitions to adult services for children with additional needs by ensuring 
they are prepared adequately for independence in adulthood from the age of 16

5. Implement the  new  Statutory  guidance  for leaving care young people, as stated 
within the new Children and Social Work Act  2017 which will be requirement from 
April 2018. This includes:
 To publish information about the authorities “Leaving care Offer”
 Appoint a personal advisor for  care leavers up to the age of 25 years  - 

regardless of whether the young person intends to pursue education or training
 LA’s also will have a duty to carry out an assessment of the young persons needs 

and to  provide the necessary advice and support 

6. Continue to implement ‘Gloucestershire’s Future in Mind- Childrens Mental Health 
Transformation plan with a focus on providing a balance between the need for more 
early intervention and prevention and on meeting the needs of those very vulnerable 
children and young people who achieve poorer outcomes than most of the 
population. This will include extending the Mental Health in schools approach from 
Stroud into Gloucester City, working with partners on the self harm pathway and also 
looking at the mental health needs of children and young people who have suffered 
trauma and abuse.

Page 46



27

7. Review and re-tender carer’s services in two lots to encompass the needs of adult 
and young carers.

8. Update the childcare sufficiency strategy and associated action plan to deliver to the 
anticipated rise in demand following the roll out of the free 30 hours entitlement.

9. Working with Public Health Nursing and Education, ensure the 2 – 2.5 integrated 
checks are fully embedded across the county.

10.Scoping the development of a multi agency safeguarding hub model for responding 
to families with the most complex needs effectively with partners (including the 
development of a problem solving court, Early FDAC, ACES,  PODS to reduce 
recurrent removals of children)

11.Continue to deliver the Council’s statutory responsibilities for education.

Page 47



28

Annex 1.2: Adults Commissioning Intentions

Context

Adult social care has a current (2017/18) net budget of £136.9 million, the single biggest 
area of expenditure of the County Council. We support approximately 25,000 people who 
have a disability, are vulnerable, or live with an age-related disorder, as well as 
commissioning services aimed at addressing social care and health inequalities, promoting 
health and well being. We work in partnership with our service users and carers, health, 
housing and the third sector to maximise people’s potential for independence, meeting 
assessed need within a legal framework most notably as set out in the Care Act 2014.

The overall performance of adult services continues to improve particularly in the key policy 
areas of reducing reliance on residential and nursing care and self directed support. We are 
also increasing the numbers of people supported to live independently through the use of 
technology (telecare) and continue to make progress in supporting people with disabilities 
into employment. We have also devoted additional resources to ensuring timely hospital 
discharge, although as a consequence the timeliness of assessment work and reablement 
interventions in the community is an area that needs attention.

Strategic Direction

As indicated our strategic ambition is to support people to live independently. The national 
policy framework created by Think Local Act Personal, builds on the direction set by “Putting 
People First” with its focus on community support and involvement, early intervention, 
prevention and reablement services. This has also been reinforced by the detailed guidance 
released in support of the Care Act 2014. As part of this, and for those people who have on-
going needs, we want to ensure we put each individual service user in control of their care 
and support, offering choice, providing professional advice and enabling their voice to be 
heard, with the ultimate aim of improving outcomes for people.

We are reducing reliance on institutional care, creating innovative alternatives and 
encouraging the use of universal services, whilst recognising that there will always be a 
place for specialists too. We are also addressing the wider responsibilities in the Act for 
carers and notwithstanding that some elements have now been postponed to 2020 for all 
people with care needs and not just those we support. We are also continuing to promote an 
ethos of early intervention and prevention as an integral element to our intentions.

Needs Analysis

The number of adults aged 18 and over in Gloucestershire is projected to rise from 492,300 
to 576,600 between 2015 and 2039, with the 18-64 age group predicted to grow by 1.8% 
and the over- 65s by 66.6% in the same period. The projected increase in older people 
(over-65s) in Gloucestershire, in particular, exceeds the national level (56.4%), and the 
number is predicted to rise from 126,800 in 2015 to reach 206,300 by 2039.

As the population ages, the number of older people with a very limiting long-term illness or 
disability is also predicted to rise, from 25,400 to 39,000 between 2015 and 2030. The 
number unable to manage at least one self-care activity is also predicted to grow, from 
43,000 to 64,000 in the same period. The majority of this increase will be among the over-
75s.

Page 48



29

Moderate or severe hearing impairment, dementia and obesity are among the conditions 
that will see a significant increase in the County’s older population. National estimates 
suggest that 80% of people living in care homes have some form of dementia or severe 
memory problems. In Gloucestershire, the number of older people with a dementia is 
expected to rise from 9,000 to 15,000 between 2015 and 2030. An estimated 12,700 people 
aged 65+ in Gloucestershire feel lonely always or often, and around 3,500 older people 
have severe depression.

The number of older carers aged 65+ is projected to rise from an estimated 18,400 people 
to 25,000 between 2015 and 2030, of which over a quarter are predicted to be over-80s, 
who may require extra support to provide care. One main concern among carers who care 
for older people is social isolation.

An estimated 9,000 people aged 18-64 in Gloucestershire have a serious physical disability. 
Many people with a physical disability have complex need. Some of the most common 
conditions that people with physical disabilities also experience are long-term pain, 
depression and mental health conditions. Just fewer than 60% of carers caring for people 
with a physical disability or sensory impairment have a long-standing illness or disability 
themselves.

An estimated 11,400 people aged 18 and over in Gloucestershire have a learning disability, 
of these 2,400 have moderate or severe conditions. The most prevalent type of learning 
disabilities in Gloucestershire is autistic spectrum disorder. While the overall number of 
adults with moderate or severe learning disability is predicted to rise by 3.6% between 2015 
and 2025, the number is predicted to rise most steeply in the older age group, by 19.8% for 
the over-65s in the same period. 

Many people with a learning disability have complex need; they are ten times more likely to 
have a vision impairment compared to the general population and significant proportions 
(40%) have a hearing impairment.

In 2015, an estimated 58,000 people aged 18-64 in Gloucestershire had a common mental 
disorder, and a further 26,000 people had two or more psychiatric disorders. Between 1,300 
and 1,600 people aged 18-64 are estimated to have experienced antisocial personality 
disorder, psychotic disorder or borderline personality disorder. Long-term illness or disability 
can lead to mental health issues, making the needs more complex. It is estimated that 46% 
of people who have a long-term health condition and 30% of people who have long-term 
pain have a mental health condition. An estimated 34% of people who have sight loss suffer 
from depression.

Compared to other carers, carers caring for someone with a mental health condition are 
more likely to experience mental health need themselves, and they are also at a higher risk 
of neglecting themselves.

Meeting the Challenge 2017/18

In line with the strategic direction set out above, we have a series of projects targeted at 
living within our means and adjusting to meeting demand differently. Most of these are 
designed around the implementation of national policy and good practice – expanding on 
the model of reablement, working in multidisciplinary teams whilst increasing our investment 
in the management of the social care function, avoiding crisis, commissioning differently, 
listening to our service users and improving the customer journey. We also continue to look 
at our processes.

Page 49



30

Looking Forward

The proposed budget for 2017/18 includes an additional increase of 2% for the National 
Social Care Levy. In addition to meeting the costs to date of implementing the Care Act, the 
increase will be used to part address the impact of demographic changes and cost 
pressures including the National Living Wage.  It will also help enable the transition to an 
approach based on a higher level of investment in early intervention and prevention. 

Recognising that not all pressures can be addressed within the resources available and in 
the context of our intentions to improve outcomes, we will seek to achieve financial balance 
in adult services by:

 continuing to strengthen our assessment and care management function whilst also 
developing stronger links with primary care as part of the integrated multidisciplinary 
place based model

 supporting more people to live independently in the community
 develop our offer to Carers in line with Care Act requirements.
 improving transitions to adult services for children with special needs by ensuring they 

are prepared adequately for independence in adulthood from the age of 16
 being more responsive to potential demand through early intervention and prevention
 continuing with our cultural change work which supports both staff and service users to 

reflect on their attitude to managing risk in everyday life
 further improvements in the efficiency and effectiveness of services we commission 

including those commissioned jointly with the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
 reducing admissions to full time care
 working with the NHS to better case manage people at risk of crisis or in need of urgent 

support, facilitate timelier discharges from hospital and reduce admissions and 
readmissions

 decommissioning services that are no longer peoples’ preferred choice as they opt to 
meet their needs in different ways

 stimulating the market and empowering communities who want to be involved
 working with District Councils and Housing Associations to both enhance the specialist 

housing offer and future-proof new-build homes to enable all lives to be lived as 
independently as possible

 working with partners to develop new opportunities for volunteering
 building on our success with helping people into the workplace by exploring innovative 

employment links to increase the number of disabled people in paid work
 continuing to actively reviewing high unit cost contracts to seek efficiencies including 

tighter management of voids in shared housing
 develop jointly with the CCG the Shared Lives service in the County
 ensuring our Telecare offer promotes helps people to live independently through 

solutions which improve service and cost less than traditional care
 enabling people with a learning disability to live more inclusive and independent lives in 

the community improving quality of life and ensuring each person has a circle of support 
around them

 embedding the use of Electronic Call Monitoring systems and ensuring we use the 
information that flows from the system to improve the quality of care and to inform our 
commissioning

 rolling out an outcomes based approach in the new domiciliary care service

Page 50



31

 partnering with the CCG to ensure people with a learning disability in long stay hospitals 
are returned to independent living in their own community

Delivering Change

Demographic changes indicate a rising demand for support from people with increasingly 
complex needs that requires us to better manage and respond to demand. This will involve 
a range of partnerships, many of which will be new relationships with communities. Whilst it 
will be challenging financially, it will result in investment in local communities and will provide 
opportunities to work with community and voluntary sector agencies in new ways and 
ensure we are sensitive to the communities in which many of our service users live.

The scale and pace of change continues at an unprecedented level and will create 
transitional issues as we all adjust to working in a different way. Communicating our 
intentions and listening to the voice of those we serve will be central to our thinking and will 
assist us to ensure all voices are heard and concerns and questions are actively addressed. 
All activities will be subject to community impact assessments and specific consultation will 
be undertaken where appropriate with stakeholders. We will actively pursue opportunities to 
engage with service users and their carers to continue to build confidence in those 
partnerships.

At the heart of this work is culture change, based on a three tier conversation at the frontline 
in adult services that gives us a simple structure to help focus on helping people to help 
themselves. 

Tier one – Help to help yourself.
Tier two – Help when you need it.
Tier three – Ongoing support for those that need it.

Page 51



32

Annex 1.3: Public Health Commissioning Intentions

Context

The three domains of public health; health improvement; health protection and health care 
public health, became part of local government’s public health function in 2013. 
Gloucestershire County Council has a statutory duty to promote the health of the 
Gloucestershire population, and responsibility for commissioning specific public health 
services, supported by a ring-fenced grant, which was extended to include new 
responsibilities for 0-5 year olds (health visiting) in 2015. 

In 2018/19, the grant available is £24.27m. The allocation is based on a national formula 
linked to health inequality and health need and remains ring-fenced until the end of March 
2019, with reductions to the end of 2019/20.

The grant is spent on activities whose main or primary purpose is to positively impact on the 
health and wellbeing of the local population, with the aim of reducing health inequalities in 
local communities. Specifically, Gloucestershire County Council is required to deliver a 
number of mandated functions:

 appropriate access to sexual health services;
 health protection assurance functions delegated from the Secretary of State;
 ensuring NHS commissioners receive population public health advice (CCG core 

offer);
 the National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP);
 ensuring those eligible are invited to receive an NHS Health Check;
 five mandated points of contact through the health visiting (0-5) service.

The conditions of the Public Health grant also identify further requirements, such as 
improving outcomes from drug and alcohol treatment services and oral health promotion.

Strategic Direction

Nationally, the strategy for Public Health in England was laid out in the Government’s White 
Paper Healthy Lives, Healthy People (2010). Locally, our system’s strategic ambition is 
reflected in the vision presented in Gloucestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Fit for 
the Future; ‘to improve the health of all Gloucestershire residents and protect the most 
vulnerable’ by ‘working with our communities to co-produce health, wellbeing and resilience.’
Public Health has identified the following principles to guide our commissioning intentions, in 
the context of closer working with colleagues commissioning services across the Prevention, 
Wellbeing & Communities Hub:

 We prioritise prevention, self-help/self-care and early intervention, with a view to 
improving health and wellbeing and changing demand for services;

 We take a strengths-based approach, to make the most of assets and resources 
within communities, help build community capacity and develop community 
safeguarding and resilience;

 We work to ensure the best start in life;
 We give equal weight to physical and mental health and wellbeing;

Page 52



33

 We focus resources where the need is greatest, helping to address avoidable health 
inequalities and targeting the most vulnerable;

 We work across GCC and the wider system, with health, social care, housing and 
other partners.

The Local Government Association has identified that investment in public health leads to 
reduced pressure on national and local government and the NHS, saving money that can be 
further invested in prevention and early intervention. This, in turn, through improved health 
and wellbeing and health equality, leads to further reductions in pressure on care services. 
Systematic primary prevention is critical to reduce the overall burden of disease in the 
population. It is estimated that 80% of cases of heart disease, stroke and type 2 diabetes, 
and 40% of cases of cancer could be avoided if common lifestyle risk factors were 
eliminated (WHO, 2005). Secondary prevention, involving detecting the early stages of 
disease and intervening before full symptoms develop (for example through the NHS Health 
Check programme) is often cost effective, and if implemented at scale, would rapidly have 
an impact on life expectancy (Kings Fund, 2013).

Gloucestershire’s Sustainability & Transformation Plan (STP), One Gloucestershire: 
Transforming Care, Transforming Communities, describes the vision for how publically 
funded health and social care services can support a healthier Gloucestershire, that is 
socially and economically strong and vibrant, to achieve an improved and more sustainable 
health and care system. 
Gloucestershire County Council’s Public Health function will continue to play a key role in 
influencing the STP, in particular leading its prevention and self-care plan through both the 
commissioning of services that contribute to the prevention of health and care needs and 
providing systems leadership on key societal health issues.

Needs analysis
The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is a strategic planning tool that brings 
together the latest information on the health and wellbeing of people who live in 
Gloucestershire and people who use Gloucestershire public services and underpins the 
Health and Wellbeing Board’s Strategy. It tells us that overall Gloucestershire is one of the 
healthiest counties in England. Health outcomes are above the national average and deaths 
from the major diseases like cancer, heart disease and strokes are below the national 
average and falling. 

However the picture in Gloucestershire is not perfect. There are areas of Gloucestershire 
where residents experience poorer health than the England average. Additionally, the health 
of people living in Gloucestershire has not been improving over time as seen in other parts 
of the country.  Although life expectancy at 65 years of age is better in Gloucestershire than 
the England, it is not improving in line with the national trends for life expectancy, especially 
for females. The age to which men in Gloucestershire can expect to live with good health 
has been declining since 2010. This, coupled with the fact we have an ageing population, 
presents our biggest challenge.

Page 53



34

The three leading causes of death in Gloucestershire are cancer (26%), circulatory disease 
(28%) and respiratory disease (15%). However, there are differences across the districts of 
Gloucestershire. For example, residents of Cotswold district have significantly lower 
mortality rates than the rest of the county for all three causes of death, whilst residents of 
Gloucester city have a significantly higher mortality rate for respiratory disease.
Lifestyle factors such as smoking, poor nutrition, physical inactivity and alcohol misuse are 
important contributors to most preventable diseases. Unless we take early action to support 
individuals, families and communities to take steps to improve their own health and 
wellbeing now, we will not be able to resource the increases in people with ongoing care 
needs in the future.

Meeting the Challenge 2017/18

Savings were realised in 2017/18 from the recommissioned adult drug and alcohol and 
healthy lifestyles services, which both commenced in January 2017. During 2017/18, Public 
Health delivered two major change projects in the reshaping of sexual health services and 
the public health nursing service (health visiting and school nursing). These will begin to 
deliver savings during 2017/18 and beyond.

These major recommissioning projects make up a significant portion of the allocated public 
health grant and, in 2018/19, the team’s focus will shift from recommissioning and tendering 
activity to overseeing the implementation of new services,  the ‘business as usual’ activity of 
contract management and developing the systems leadership role of public health.  
During 2016 Gloucestershire County Council were selected as one of four local authorities 
to participate in a three year national programme, working with Leeds Beckett University, to 
co-produce guidance for other local authorities to implement a whole systems approach to 
addressing obesity. During 2017/18 this work has informed the refinement of our local 
obesity strategy and plans and we are now developing a specific programme to improve the 
local food environment.   

Looking Forward

The Public Health grant allocation is a ring-fenced grant and the expectation is that it will be 
fully spent. However, the Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) in 2015 brought about a 
reduction in the Public Health grant over the four-year period to 2019/20. Whilst the four 
major recommissioning projects will be completed or almost completed by 2018/19, further 
reductions will need to be met through the review of individual elements of spend, e.g. in 
drug and alcohol activity outside of the main service.

2018/19 will also see an increased focus in Public Health’s influencing and knowledge 
management and decision-making support roles. Helping people to stay healthy and live 
independently for longer and ensuring children have the best start in life are major 
contributors to reducing cost pressures in the medium and longer term. As such, Public 
Health activity plays a key role in supporting the commissioning intentions of other parts of 
Gloucestershire County Council, including children’s and adult social care, as well as the 
wider system. 

Page 54



35

Delivering Change

Our commissioning intentions for 2018/19 are:

1. Deliver mandated functions
NHS Health Checks, Sexual Health, National Child Measurement Programme, Health
Protection, Core Offer to the CCG & Health Visiting service

2. Deliver our driving change projects
Remodelling of sexual health and Public health Nursing (Health Visiting and School 
Nursing)

3. Engage and influence partners to improve the public’s health
4. Develop and embed heath and wellbeing in GCC business
5. Continue to deliver the Active Individuals, Active Communities and Safe, Settled and 

Secure Lives policies

Specific planned activities for 2018/19 include:

1. Delivering our mandated functions

• NHS Health Checks – implement a more targeted approach to the delivery of NHS 
Heath Checks via GP practices

• Sexual Health – embed the reshaped sexual health service 
• National Child Measurement Programme
• Health Protection 
• Core Offer to the CCG – supporting the implementation, monitoring and evaluation of 

initiatives delivered as part of the STP
• Health Visiting service – embed the reshaped public health nursing service.

2. Deliver our driving change projects

• Implementation and embedding of the remodelled sexual health service.  During 
2017-18 a system wide redevelopment of Sexual Health services was led by a 
partnership of Gloucestershire County Council Public Health Team, NHS 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group and the Gloucestershire Local Medical 
Committee, with input from other partners. This work has seen a refocusing of the 
Specialist service on those with a specialist sexual health or contraceptive need, or 
who are vulnerable to poor sexual health outcomes and innovative service changes 
such as online postal testing, telephone triage service, and online booking among 
other developments. The new system changes are going live during 2017/18 and into 
2018/19. The new sexual health prevention service is due to go live in 2018/19. This 
will see a strengthening of primary sexual health prevention; aiming to reduce demand 
for health and social care services in the medium to long-term. 

Page 55



36

• Continue to work with Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust to deliver 2017/18 
changes  to the Public Health Nursing Service in line with the feedback received 
though the Public and stakeholder consultation.  This may include changes to the way 
mandated contracts are provided for some families, moving to a different pathway for 
identifying hearing problems and delivering support through new hubs and bundles. 
Support and oversee planning for planned schemes to be delivered in 2019/20.

• Continue to embed the new healthy lifestyles service including the implementation of 
new functions to support pregnant women and young children (first 1001 days) and 
healthy workplaces

• Re-commission Public Health Enhanced Services (PHES) from General Practices and 
community pharmacy, including a more targeted approach to the delivering the NHS 
Health Checks programme and strengthening sexual health and contraception 
services in Primary Care to support access for those who will no longer be seen in the 
Specialist Service. This will include the delivery of: primary care long acting reversible 
contraception, primary care sexual health clinics and community pharmacy 
emergency hormonal contraception

3. Engage and influence partners to improve the public’s health

• Actively working with the Clinical Commissioning Group and other partners as part of 
the Prevention & Self-Care Plan to ensure that up-stream health improvement 
services are routinely commissioned as part of a broader pathway approach

• Working with community organisations to develop innovative approaches to 
addressing health inequalities in key population groups

• Working across the system to develop and implement a whole systems approach to 
tackling obesity including a partnership approach to creating a healthier food 
environment

• Supporting the development and implementation of Gloucestershire Moves – 
Gloucestershire’s programme to promote active lifestyles

• Supporting the Health and Wellbeing Board as it seeks to explore Adverse Childhood 
Experiences (ACEs) and whether an ACEs informed approach should be taken 
forward in Gloucestershire

• Lead the development of a countywide oral health promotion strategy and plan
• Develop a local prevention consensus statement and concordat for better mental 

health, reflecting the national agenda for a system-wide approach to public mental 
health

4. Develop and embed health and wellbeing in GCC business

• To co-ordinate and develop the community offer across the whole care sector.  
Working within prevention and early intervention elements of the operating model and 
being cognisant of how the system works and how changes to the community offer 
can affect demand elsewhere

Page 56



37

• Scope a programme of work around embedding health in programmes addressing the 
wider determinants of health and identify priorities for implementation e.g. spatial 
planning, employment, transport and travel, environmental issues and poverty

• Support the implementation of GCCs workplace health and wellbeing plan
• Contribute to the development and implementation of GCCs behaviour change and 

demand management programme.

Page 57



38

Annex 1.4: Communities & Infrastructure Commissioning Intentions

CONTEXT

Place Vision - Place shaping for the future

The County Council, along with its partners, is not only responsible for providing services 
now; we design strategies and invest in infrastructure to enable the future, laying the 
foundations for the economically, socially and environmentally successful communities we 
need to become.

STRATEGIC DIRECTION

Place priorities – People, Planning & Place  

Places must work for the people that live in them. For the County Council, successful 
infrastructure is more than hard engineering; it provides the social, economic and 
environmental systems that support communities. Our priorities are shaped on 
understanding the different timescales, taking action that recognises the need to deliver over 
the next 3-years up to 2020, to enable already planned growth and change from 2020-2035 
and to facilitate discussion and plan new growth for 2035-2050. Put another way the County 
Council needs to plan for the community and economic needs of 2050, whilst making sure 
someone disposes of your waste and opens your library for business tomorrow morning.

NEEDS ANALYSIS

The future of Gloucestershire

Technological innovation is increasingly shaping our behaviour and how our places operate. 
Our transport, environment and economic systems will become more driven by data and 
technology than they are today, but our most valuable asset is our people. Our services – 
including health, education and skills - will need to function as part of our integrated 
infrastructure to support our communities and businesses.

The County Council will take a long-term view to ensure Gloucestershire is fit for the future 
beyond 2035 – the following is just a ‘snap-shot’ to the illustrate the journey we are on at all 
levels – it is not meant to be exhaustive – there are many futures that the County Council 
will need to try and shape and react to:

 Petrol and diesel cars became obsolete once the cost of electric vehicles dropped 
and their range increased. Most people no longer own or drive their own cars; they 
use shared autonomous vehicles that are available on demand. Welcome to Mobility 
as a Service – the Spotify model of transport.

 Roads are safer, the number and severity of accidents has fallen while residential 
streets have become relatively free of parked cars. However, the electrification of 
transport has increased demand for power; supply is now much more dependent on 
local generation and storage of energy.

Page 58



39

 Councils are smaller and smarter, with most back office functions automated and 
transactions taking place on-line. Staff are mobile; they orchestrate and commission 
networks of partners, providers and community groups, sharing data widely. On-line 
engagement and participation tools involve residents in scenario planning and 
resource allocation. 

 Homes and workplaces have seen great innovation based on fast digital connectivity, 
smarter use of energy and storage, and the re-use of rainwater and sewage. 
Restored front gardens offer benefits in terms of improved appearance, biodiversity 
and drainage as resilience challenges from climate change continue and include an 
unpredictable cycle of flood and drought

LOOKING FORWARD

Gloucestershire 2035-2050

Infrastructure delivery requires long-term planning, but the preparation starts now. Enabling 
the future will require new partnerships, where communities, technology and data come 
together to drive new thinking. The County Council is already building the networks to 
support our changing communities and places.

Food for thought:
 We will be able to evaluate how successful the Vision 2050 process was at shaping 

the County;
 The west coast mainline will use electric trains;
 The West of England and West Midlands Elected Mayor and Combined Authorities 

will be celebrating their 20th birthdays;
 By 2039 only 49.6% of the population will be of working age.
 Britain’s relationship with the European Union will have changed significantly 

impacting on global and national trade; as will the ability to rely on skilled workforce 
through immigration;

Gloucestershire 2020 to 2035

Decision-making has to happen at the most appropriate level. The County Council and its 
partners are clear that localised infrastructure, environment and industrial strategies, aligned 
with national objectives can deliver certainty. Beside long term planning, good infrastructure 
demands clear funding commitments, not competitive bidding processes. Importantly, it also 
provides social and environmental benefits as well as the economic return on investment.

Food for thought:
 HS2 and the 3rd runway at Heathrow will be operational and access to the airport will 

have been improved by Crossrail and the new western access; 
 Hinkley Point will be up and running and Oldbury is coming on line;
 Gloucestershire will have 60,000+ more homes than today and the highway network 

will be at capacity and reliant on technological advancement (i.e. autonomous 
vehicles) to create new capacity;

 The A417 missing link along with smart motorway and junction upgrades to J9, J10, 
J13 and J14 will all have been delivered reducing congestion and enabling 
development in the central Severn Vale.

Page 59



40

Gloucestershire 2017 – 2020

The national landscape is experiencing profound change and uncertainty. The County 
Council and its partners can provide the expertise and leadership needed to transform our 
communities and our localised economies. We will continue to work with Government to 
make the case for Gloucestershire - sharing our best practice to make a positive difference, 
creating solutions, advising and advocating where needed.

Food for thought:

 The Javelin Park Energy from Waste facility will be operational from summer 2019. 
Our reliance on landfill for the disposal of household residual waste will have 
dramatically reduced and instead Gloucestershire’s household waste will be 
generating electricity. The facility will generate enough electricity to power around 
25,000 homes. 

 Gloucestershire’s recycling rate continues to increase. Exceeding 50% for the first 
time in 2016/17 (and already meeting the EU waste framework directive target of 
50% by 2020), recycling levels will reach the joint waste strategy target of 60% by 
2020.

 50% of our highways operatives are over the age of 50.  Addressing the issues of 
developing a skilled workforce will require investment in skills; 

 Through people leaving the workforce and job growth there will be a requirement to 
fill 130,000 jobs between 2012-2022 (all sectors and all levels);

 For every new job there will be a requirement to fill 9 through replacement demand;
 As a major employer in the County, GCC will need to plan for its own workforce to 

work more flexibly, for longer and ensure there is emphasis on continuous skills 
development throughout employment;

 Physical and digital connectivity is a key factor in making Gloucestershire an 
attractive place to live and work for young people 

LOOKING FORWARD

2017 – 2020: Building partnerships and delivering today

Providing Place services* that support thriving communities means getting the basics right 
every day. Our positive relationships with partners, contractors and communities are 
enabling us to deliver and transform our services targeting investment based on need.

(*waste management, highways, Fire & Rescue, Transport; libraries, economic 
development, strategic infrastructure (highways, schools, digital), planning, regulatory 
services).

Economic growth and infrastructure

 We know how important the road network is for business and for us to be able to get 
to work, school and leisure. We will invest £150m over the next five years – our 
biggest ever investment in roads;

 We will deliver superfast broadband to every home by 2021. We have already 
invested over £29m which has brought broadband to over 107,000 homes and 
businesses in the county so far.

Page 60



41

 Complete economic corridor modelling by March 2018 to help position 
Gloucestershire’s economy based on an analysis of which directions it looks and use 
this to inform gfirst LEP economic and GCC infrastructure thinking;

 Work in partnership with Highways England and sub-regional Combined and Local 
Authorities to make sure that Road Investment Strategies 2 and 3 include the 
extension of the smart motorways network south of Worcester through to Bristol is 
implemented and linked to junction improvements in the County, particularly J9, J10, 
J13, J14 

 Work with bus and rail operators to invest in better public transport connectivity 
necessary to deliver sustainable economic growth, by opening modern transport 
interchanges in Gloucester city centre and at Cheltenham Spa station and by 
managing congestion on the road network.

 Work in partnership with Network Rail and regional Combined and Local Authorities 
to make sure that control periods 6 and 7 include projects to improve rail connectivity 
in the County, including the Metrowest extension to Gloucester delivered enabling 30 
minute services to the west of England

 Working collaboratively with partners and developers to create a cycle superhighway, 
connecting communities across the county, extending the range that people will cycle 
and making the outside more accessible. Bringing large scale bike hire (Boris Bikes) 
to the county and maximising the potential of electric bikes to increase the appeal of 
cycling to broader demographic groups and to more rural communities.

 Continue to support the Local Nature Partnership and further develop the Council’s 
approach to enabling ‘Green Infrastructure’, including Sustainable Drainage Systems 
and upper catchment flood alleviation solutions.

 Maximise the resources available for reducing long-term flood risk, in order to meet 
the Council’s statutory responsibilities as the Lead Local Flood Authority and deliver 
its Local Flood Risk Management Strategy.

 Continue to enable development and economic growth by providing high quality 
statutory consultee advice to the Local Planning Authorities on flood alleviation and 
Sustainable Drainage systems.

Employment and Skills

 Alongside that, we are committed to helping the County’s young people to develop 
skills and knowledge.  We will work with local employers to create 5,000 new 
apprenticeships, at least 2,000 of which will be in engineering.

 Our partnership working with employers and skills providers via the Gloucestershire 
Employment and Skills Board will strengthen various aspects of the local skills 
system including: apprenticeships; retaining older workers; more effective labour 
market information and careers support; stronger links between businesses and 
schools; improved support for local businesses to close their skills gaps; improved 
employment and skills opportunities for priority areas of the County (e.g. Matson and 
Podsmead, Forest of Dean).

 Continue to invest in employment and skills investment by Gloucestershire Adult 
Education Service in local communities, particularly those most in need. 

 Creating safe and trusted spaces through Library Growth Hub networks to support 
entry level businesses that may not choose to access more formal advice.

 Using apprenticeships to help recruit to public sector roles where there is a skills 
shortage.

Page 61



42

Place Based Services

 Continue to deliver effective regulatory services, including for Public Rights of Way 
and Traffic Regulation Orders, Trading Standards, Fire Safety and Planning 
Enforcement (minerals and waste), and ensure that they continue to be intelligence 
led, proportionate, reasonable, clearly prioritised.

 Maximise the Fire and Rescue Service Prevention Strategy to ensure early 
intervention and protection work is linked to health and social care, in order to deliver 
an effective and efficient service and to help manage demand on other services.

 Capitalise on the wider role of regulatory services to ensure early intervention and 
prevention work in partnership with health and social care is continued and 
expanded. 

 New Highways Contract procured with new structural maintenance resurfacing 
contract in place by April 2018, a professional services support contract and the new 
term maintenance contract operating from April 2019;

 Javelin Park energy from waste facility fully operational from autumn 2019;
 31 Libraries become Tier 3 Growth Hubs with 2 innovation labs to support 

educational and economic growth
 The library service in the local community continues to be the County Councils 

generic face to face customer presence in local places driving digital skills, supporting 
local businesses to innovate, develop and grow as Tier 3 growth hubs and providing 
an access ‘hub’ for a range of other services – concessionary fares, registrars, drop-
ins for people with disabilities, early health intervention, and job clubs

 Continue the journey towards carbon neutrality for the Council’s operations and plan 
and prepare for increasing numbers of severe weather incidents.

 Ensure that Gloucestershire’s roads, based on an objective analysis of the accident 
data, continue to be safe for users and that the number of people killed and seriously 
injured are reduced as far as possible

 Develop a new Fire and Rescue Integrated Risk Management Plan that defines the 
long-term operating model for the service in order to deliver a resilient, affordable and 
strong Gloucestershire presence.

 Improve the customer contact centre and reception experience, through smarter data 
intelligence, digital signposting and self service. Growing digital skills within our 
workforce to harness new technologies for smarter cities that will enhance our quality 
of life and enable Gloucestershire to compete within the global economy.

 Development of a Highways Skills Academy with key partners including local 
educational facilities, Gfirst LEP, highways contractors and wider supply chain all 
working towards the long term development of a skilled construction and engineering 
workforce.

 Completion of LED Street Lighting core investment programme to change all street 
lighting over to LED technology.

Continue to work through the Local Resilience Forum to ensure appropriate emergency 
management arrangements are in place and accord with the requirements of the Civil 
Contingencies Act.

2020 to 2035: Bringing national strategy down to the local level

Creating communities that work for all relies on effective localised decision making aligned 
with national strategy. Our local industrial, economic and environmental strategies must be 
integrated and make the case for Gloucestershire, making a clear our offer to national 
Government and what investment we need to deliver it. 

Page 62



43

Economic growth and infrastructure

 Continue to help UK government push ahead with the improvement work on the A417 
missing link;

 Deliver transport schemes including the Gloucester South West Bypass and A419 
Stonehouse improvements which have been funded through the Growth Deal (rounds 
1-3) and promote new infrastructure projects in future rounds that will support 
economic growth

 Pursue projects that start to earn income from innovative energy supply projects, with 
a particular emphasis on PV, battery storage and electric vehicle charging.

 Designing new developments, retrofitting existing infrastructure and encouraging 
behaviour change to transition from petrol/diesel car ownership towards electric 
vehicles, shared mobility and connected and autonomous vehicles.

 Apprenticeship delivery increased to help local businesses deal with their skills gaps. 
 LED lighting to support sustainable travel, maximising the use of solar for public/cycle 

paths and signage  
 Continued increase in self service options in libraries, with additional digital 

equipment to support increased confidence of the public to access services on line

Placed based services

 Through the Joint Waste Partnership deliver 60% recycling and 92% energy recovery 
from residual waste treated at Javelin Park

2035 - 2050 - Creating the places of the future

Tackling the challenges of climate change, employment, housing and population growth and 
change requires vision, leadership and innovation, harnessing the power of big data and 
people to find creative solutions. The County Council is facilitating and enabling change now 
to shape, plan and deliver the future. 

Economic growth and infrastructure

 Use the Vision 2050 engagement process to help shape the Council’s long term 
thinking.

MTC2 AND DELIVERING THE CHANGE

MTC2 targets for 2017/18 have been delivered. 

Place based services will continue to be under financial pressure as a result of increasing 
demand for social care. 

In response the Council’s Place Based services have been on a transformation journey for a 
number of years:

 Waste management, a key milestone being the commissioning of Javelin Park 
energy from waste facility;

 Transport, reducing spend on subsidised transport whilst maintaining accessibility by 
supporting the commercial network and integration with Home to School transport 
networks;

Page 63



44

 Investment in broadband with around 95% of premises in the county already having 
Next Generation Access (30mbps) and reshaping Libraries to be the digital skills 
hubs for the Council;

 The shift to cashless payment for on-street parking underpinned by more efficient 
enforcement and back office functions

The priorities for transformation, will include

 Continuing the planned journey with waste, transport, digital and libraries.
 Reshaping Gloucestershire Highways to allow it to deliver the £150m+ of investment
 Considering ways to benefit from investment in energy technology at the local level, 

including grid supply and balancing and servicing new technologies such as electric 
vehicles and bicycles.

 Exploiting new approaches to cashless parking and differentiating offers to residents, 
visitors and commuters.

 Getting better at evidencing the value of Place based services in shaping the wider 
determinants of health and working more closely with public health to secure 
investment in improving health and social outcomes in the county.

Transformation will only take Place based services so far into the future as they will need 
continued public subsidy. Investment in economic growth to generate tax revenues will 
therefore be essential. Continued access to revenue resources will be essential to help 
develop a pipeline of capital infrastructure projects. This will allow the Council to 
successfully compete in an ever more competitive bidding environment for Government 
Funding.  The need for strong partnerships with the Local Planning Authorities and gfirst 
LEP will be necessary to ensure that infrastructure investment supports and enables 
planned housing and employment land developments and economic growth. Better 
Business for All is one such programme that shows how Gloucestershire’s regulatory 
services, such as Trading Standards can develop the right skills and culture to support new 
and expanding businesses whilst generating new income streams to compensate for 
reduced public funding. Certainty, over the longer term Business Rate retention and 
devolution will be critical in understanding how the Council can invest in different ways to 
enable critical infrastructure.

Similarly, the Council will need to work in partnership through the new Employment and 
Skills Board to make sure that the economy has the long term workforce necessary to 
sustain the economy in the long term allowing businesses to start and / or grow in the 
County. 

In summary the challenge for the Council will be to continue to invest in enabling the 
economic growth that will generate the revenues necessary to deliver place based and 
wider social care services that are fit for today and also for tomorrow.

Page 64



45

Annex 2 – Budget Movements by Service Area 

2018-19 Adults Budget  including the National Adult Social Care Levy
Cost 

Increases
Cost 

Reductions
£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget (2017-18 Revised Budget) 131,901

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases

Improved Better Care Fund 6,838
Pay Inflation 337
To provide for a 1% pay award wef 1 April 2018

Increased cost of care of vulnerable adults

Inflation for Adult Social Care 2,061

Demand pressures linked to demographic growth 1,845

Complex Transitional services for Learning Disabilities 1,100

Disabilities - Transforming Care & Associated Discharges 354

Full year impact of NLW decisions in previous year 1,141

National Adult Social Care Levy 5,417

Amount of Additional adult social care levy 18-19 totals £5.417 million

National Living Wage 3,391
Inflationary cost pressure following the introduction of the national living wage
Care Act
To fund, over and above the funding set aside in the Better Care Fund, the on-
going costs of the requirements needing to be undertaken in 2018/19 of the Care 
Act 2014.  This includes continued investment in new ways of working, the 
development of referral centres and enhanced support to self funders.

1,453

Demand pressures linked to demographic growth 573

Page 65



46

2018-19 Adults Budget  including the National Adult Social Care Levy Continued
Cost 

Increases
Cost 

Reductions
£000 £000 £000

Cost Reductions

Adult Social Care  Single Savings Programme 

- Older People
-5,069

- Physical & Learning Disabilities
-2,492

Demand Management Issues Phase 3 -4,000

TOTAL NET CHANGE 12,255 -11,561 694

2018-19 Adults Budget  including National Adult Social Care Levy * 132,595

* This excludes the additional ringfenced social care grant funding totalling £7.176 million expected in 
2018-19.( £10.598 million in 2017-18)

The Older People and Vulnerable Adults element of the Programme supports the strategic 
directions of keeping people safe and independent, ideally in their own homes, investing in 
prevention to delay and avoid more expensive care support.  In addition it continues to support 
the integration of Health and Social Care to deliver positive outcomes for individuals.

The Disabilities element of the Programme supports the Building Better Lives Policy for 
supporting people with Disabilities in Gloucestershire.  The savings will be delivered through 
effective enablement, brokerage,  review to ensure needs are met utilising community resources 
and supporting people with disabilities into employment.(Physical Disabilities £0.487 
million/Learning Disabilities £2.005 million)

Projects targeted at living within our means and adjusting to meet the increasing demand 
differently.  Most of these projects are designed around the implementation of national policy 
and good practice - expanding the model of reablement, working in multidisciplinary teams but 
also increasing investments in management of the social care function, avoiding crisis, listening 
to our service users and improving the customer journey through the three tier conversations at 
the frontline in adult services.

Page 66



47

2018-19 Public Health Budget

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget (2017-18 Revised Budget) 24,912

Budget Changes:

Cost Reductions

2.5% national reduction in ring fenced grant allocation and savings achieved 
through remodelling of the sexual health and public health nursing services to 
release efficiency savings

-640

TOTAL NET CHANGE - -640 -640

Public Health Budget 2018-19 24,272

Page 67



48

2018-19 Children and Families Budget - Vulnerable Children

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Budget Changes:

Starting Budget (2017-18 Revised Budget) 56,895
Cost Increases

Pay Inflation 256
To provide for a 1% pay award wef 1 April 2018

National Living Wage 229
Inflationary cost pressures following introduction of the National Living Wage

External Placement Budget - the increased cost and number of 
placements

7,600

Section 17 & Discretionary Payments - to support increased activity within 
social care

623

Child Protection Conference Chairs - additional staffing to meet demand 
and required standards

121

Community Equipment Budget - to support increased activity due to 
demographic growth

225

Care Leavers - New Legislation to support Care Leavers to age 25 200

Inflation uplift for Adoption, Special Guardianship and Fostering 
Allowances

195

Special Guardianship Orders - Increased Numbers 808

Fostering - In House Fostering Service - additional staff and allowances 607

Children with Disabilities - Demographic Growth 82

DCYP Children with Disabilites - increase in number of Direct Payments 39

TOTAL NET CHANGE 10,985 - 10,985

Children & Families - Vulnerable Children Budget 2018/19 67,880

Page 68



49

2018/19 Children and Families Budget - Other Services

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget (2017/18 Revised Budget) 29,919

Budget Changes:

Education
Pay Inflation 92
To provide for a 1% pay award wef 1 April 2018

Home to School Transport 50
To provide for contractual prices inflation.
Home to School Transport 125
Increase in numbers entitled to transport
Home to School Transport -200
Reduce bespoke travel arrangements through Independent Travel Training, 
increased vehicle capacity to Special Schools and the use of individual Personal  
Travel Allowances for CYP with complex needs.
Pensions -150
Reduce the budget based on an assessment of the reduction in no. of pensioners 
and spouses based on age and trends

Commissioning
Pay Inflation 13
To provide for a 1% pay award wef 1 April 2018

Other Children Services
National Living Wage 100
Inflationary cost pressures following introduction of the National Living Wage
Supporting People 

Reduce community based support contract in line with utilisation and reduce 
capacity of accommodation based support in line with demand.

-541

TOTAL NET CHANGE 380 -891 -511

Children & Families - Other Services Budget 2018/19 29,408

Page 69



50

2018/19 Communities and Infrastructure Budget

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget (2017/18 Revised Budget) 78,663

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases

Pay Inflation 284
To provide for a 1% pay award wef 1 April 2018
Fire Fighters Pay Award (above general provision) 342
To provide for a further 1% pay award wef 1 April 2018
National Living Wage 383
Inflationary cost pressures following introduction of the National Living Wage
Development of Major Transport Schemes 150
Due to the removal of revenue funding options when applying for capital grant funding there 
is a need to fund feasibility costs to enable schemes to be ready for external funding 
applications. 
Waste 2
 HRC Maintenance to compactors
Highways LED 408
Street Lighting contract price inflation and increase in electricity consumption due to 
growth in assets
Road Safety Team 220
Ongoing funding to continue to run the Road Safety Partnership 
Customer Programme Shortfall 379

Highways - Additional Highways Costs 30

Cost Reductions

Parking -50
To review charging policy, including the introduction of ‘pay by the minute’ for on-street pay 
and display
Integrated Transport -50
Review charging opportunities & centralisation of budgets
Libraries -50
To re-shape support staffing arrangements
Waste -167
To consider the introduction of ‘winter opening’ hours at household recycling centres
Strategic Planning -50
To refocus spending on flood alleviation
Fire & Rescue Services -160
Reduced costs of new pension scheme.
Rationalisation of software licencing.
Realising the benefits of the introduction of new systems.

TOTAL NET CHANGE 2,198 -527 1,671

Communities and Infrastructure Budget 2018/19 80,334

Page 70



51

2018/19 Business Support Budget

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget (2017/18 Revised Budget) 26,082

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases

Pay Inflation 227
To provide for a 1% pay award wef 1 April 2018
National Living Wage 207
Inflationary cost pressures following introduction of the National Living Wage
Cost increases due to increase in child protection cases (extraordinary 
included) 

333

General Data Protection Regulations Compliance 300

E-storage Management Digital Strategy 132

Print Contract 42

HR Scanning System 68

SAP data archiving and support 122
Credit controller role 48

ICT contract inflation 820

Cost Reductions
Efficiency savings across all support services, including digitisation of 
processes

-396

Efficiency savings associated with improved cash flow and expansion of 
the GCC temporary staff register

-250

Efficiency savings from reduced printing through member ICT -20

TOTAL NET CHANGE 2,299 -666 1,633

Business Support Budget 2018/19 27,715

Page 71



52

2018/19 Technical and Corporate Budget

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget (2017/18 Revised Budget) 59,330

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases

Pay inflation 6
To provide for a 1% pay award wef 1 April 2018
Contingency to provide for an additional 0.5% pay award wef 1 April 2018 600
Cost Reductions

Removal of 2017-18 one off investments -10,575

MRP Changes
Capital Financing Changes as set out in detail within the Treasury Management 
Strategy

-2,000

Customer - Property Disposals -1,400
Revenue savings generated from the utilisation of the proceeds of property 
disposals to reduce debt and/or support financing of the capital programme

Treasury management -1,000
Increased income from investments

TOTAL NET CHANGE 606 -14,975 -14,369

Technical and Corporate Budget 2018/19 44,961

Page 72



53

Additional 2018/19 One Off Investments to be funded from the Transformation Reserve

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Growing Our Communities Fund – this fund will allow each Councillor to allocate 
£30,000 over a three year period to invest in key community projects.

1,590

Additional investment in the Lengthsman Scheme in 2018/19 until it is 
incorporated in the new Highways contract 530

A transfer to the A417 Reserve to create a total fund of £4.0 million 2740

TOTAL 2018/19 ONE OFF INVESTMENTS FROM TRANSFORMATION RESERVE 4,860 0 4,860

Page 73



54

Annex 3 – Budget Summary by Service Area

Overall Budget

Medium Term Financial Strategy - 2018/19 Budget  

Budget Area

2017/18 GCC 
Revised Base 
Budget

Cost  
Reductions

Cost Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018/19 
Budget

Cash Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s
Programme Budget Areas

Adults 131,901 -11,561 12,255 132,595 694 0.53%

Children and Families- Vulnerable Children 56,895 0 10,985 67,880 10,985 19.31%

Children and Families- Other Services 29,919 -891 380 29,408 -511 -1.71%

Communities and Infrastructure 78,663 -527 2,198 80,334 1,671 2.12%

Business Support 26,082 -666 2,299 27,715 1,633 6.26%

Technical and Corporate 59,330 -14,975 606 44,961 -14,369 -24.22%

Total GCC 382,790 -28,620 28,723 382,893 103 0.03%

Public Health 24,912 -640 - 24,272 -640 -2.57%

Total Budget 407,702 -29,260 28,723 407,165 -537 -0.13%

P
age 74



55

Adults MTFS 2018/19

2017/18 
GCC 
Revised 
Base 
Budget

Cost  
Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018/19 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %
Services for Older People 47,592 -5,883 3,100 44,809 -2,783 -5.85%
Services for People with a Physical Disability 12,391 -573 913 12,731 340 2.74%
Services for People with a Learning Disability 46,959 -4,979 6,023 48,003 1,044 2.22%
Services for People with Mental Health Issues 7,261 258 7,519 258 3.55%
Other Services for Adults 17,698 -126 1,961 19,533 1,835 10.37%
Total:  Adults 131,901 -11,561 12,255 132,595 694 0.53%

P
age 75



56

Children and Families MTFS 2018/19 

Children and Families  - Vulnerable Children MTFS 2018/19 

2017/18 
GCC 

Revised 
Base 

Budget
Cost  

Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018/19 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %
Vulnerable Children 56,895 11,449 68,344 11,449 20.12%
Total:  Vulnerable Children 56,895 - 11,449 68,344 11,449 20.12%

Children and Families - Other Services MTFS 2018/19 

2017/18 
GCC 

Revised 
Base 

Budget
Cost  

Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018/19 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %
Education 18,465 -350 267 18,382 -83 -0.45%
Commissioning 1,870 - 13 1,883 13 0.70%
Other Children Services 9,584 -541 100 9,143 -441 -4.60%
Total:  Children & Families Other Services 29,919 -891 380 29,408 -511 -1.71%

P
age 76



57

Children and Families MTFS 2018/19 

Children and Families  - Vulnerable Children MTFS 2018/19 

2017/18 
GCC 

Revised 
Base 

Budget
Cost  

Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018/19 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %
Vulnerable Children 56,895 10,985 67,880 10,985 19.31%
Total:  Vulnerable Children 56,895 - 10,985 67,880 10,985 19.31%

Children and Families - Other Services MTFS 2018/19 

2017/18 
GCC 

Revised 
Base 

Budget
Cost  

Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018/19 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %
Education 18,465 -350 267 18,382 -83 -0.45%
Commissioning 1,870 - 13 1,883 13 0.70%
Other Children Services 9,584 -541 100 9,143 -441 -4.60%
Total:  Children & Families Other Services 29,919 -891 380 29,408 -511 -1.71%

P
age 77



58

Communities & Infrastructure MTFS 2018/19 

2017/18 
GCC 

Revised 
Base 

Budget
Cost  

Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018/19 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %
Parking -2,864 -50 2 -2,912 -48 1.68%
Strategic Planning 1,772 -50 8 1,730 -42 -2.37%
Flood Alleviation 1,199 2 1,201 2 0.17%
Highways 17,735 618 18,353 618 3.48%
Integrated Transport Unit 10,195 -50 132 10,277 82 0.80%
Unallocated/Corporate Budgets 1,805 287 2,092 287 15.90%
Fire & Rescue Service 15,603 -160 472 15,915 312 2.00%
Libraries 3,263 -50 26 3,239 -24 -0.74%
Road Safety 123 226 349 226 183.74%
Regulatory Services 1,315 26 1,341 26 1.98%
Healthwatch 217 217 - 0.00%
Waste 27,429 -167 8 27,270 -159 -0.58%
Customer Services 1,250 12 1,262 12 0.96%
Customer Programme Savings -379 379 - 379 -100.00%
Total: C&I Including Waste 78,663 -527 2,198 80,334 1,671 2.12%

P
age 78



59

Business Support MTFS 2018/19

2017/18 GCC 
Revised Base 

Budget
Cost  

Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018/19 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %
Support Services 19,261 -646 1,258 19,873 612 3.18%
Strategy & Challenge 6,821 -20 1,041 7,842 1,021 14.97%
Total: Business Support 26,082 -666 2,299 27,715 1,633 6.26%

P
age 79



60

Technical & Corporate MTFS 2017/18

2017/18 
GCC 

Revised 
Base 

Budget
Cost  

Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018/19 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %
Corporately Controlled Budgets 17,507 604 18,111 604 3.45%
Capital Financing 29,897 -4,400 25,497 -4,400 -14.72%
Members and Elections 1,351 2 1,353 2 0.15%
One off Investments 10,575 -10,575 - -10,575 -100.00%
Total: Technical & Corporate 59,330 -14,975 606 44,961 -14,369 -24.22%

P
age 80



61

Medium Term Financial Planning Framework  2018/19 to 2020/21 Annex 4

Context

The purpose of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is to give financial expression to 
the Council Strategy for the next three year period. The MTFS sets out the Council’s high-level 
funded plan, for achieving its goals and priorities, balancing available financing and spending 
ambitions. It highlights the financial projections for financing, spending (revenue and capital), 
and reserves. The MTFS is prepared annually and covers the three year period 2018/19 to 
2020/21. It links decisions on resource allocation with decisions on policy priorities as set out in 
the Council Strategy.

Principles
The principles underlying the MTFS are:

 Stable and sustainable budgets.

 Ensures resources are focused on the Council’s highest priorities

 Demonstrates value for money.

 Recognises risk and ensures an adequate level of financial protection against risk by 
maintaining a prudent, but not excessive, level of financial reserves.

 Secure understanding of sources of potential finance.

 Builds financial capacity for organisational change.

 Is flexible – to allow shifts in spending should circumstances change.

 Does not overburden the Council with future financial commitments, with a key aim 
being to continue to reduce debt over the period of the new MTFS, thereby releasing 
on going debt related revenue savings.

 Aligns on-going financing resources with on-going spending commitments.

Budget Assumptions

The 2018/19 Budget and MTFS has been produced using the following assumptions
 Council tax will increase by 1.99% per annum
 The Adult Social Care Levy of 2% will be applied in 2018/19 and 2019/20
 The Pay Cap of 1% will apply to all Council employees (with the exception of Firefighters) 

during the period of this MTFS. 
 Inflation – budgets will only be adjusted for inflation where there is a contractual 

commitment
 General Reserves will remain at the current level which is within the 4-6% recommended 

level
 External Borrowing will be repaid as it matures and no new external borrowing is 

anticipated during the lifetime of this MTFS
 A limited amount of central contingency will be held to cover potential risk of:

 Pay award over 1%
 Unachieved savings targets 

Page 81



62

Annex 5: Reserves & Balances Analysis 

Balance 
at 31st 

March 
2017

Transfers Out 
2017/18

Transfers In     
2017/18

Projected 
Balance 

at 31st 

March 
2018

Notes

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Earmarked Reserves
Capital Fund 14,271 -8,052 6,947 13,166 1
Strategic Waste Reserve 36,005 1,700 37,705 2
Transformation Reserve 6,462 -6,130 5,000 5,332 3
Invest to Save 3,141 -900 2,241 4
Insurance Fund 12,560 12,560 5
Active Communities 1,230 -550 680 6
Public Health 3,641 -3,103 538 7
County Elections 934 -850 200 284 8
Vehicle & Plant Replacement 82 82 9
Fire Service Pensions 127 127 10
Fire Joint Training Centre 1,144 -27 1,117 11
Economic Stimulus Reserve 6,097 -5,465 632 12
Fire PFI Reserve - GFRS 3,048 3,048 13
Revenue Grant Reserves 10,710 10,710 14
Adoption Reserve 163 -163 0 15
Rates Retention Reserve 2,505 -835 1,670 16
Education Funding Risk Reserve 500 500 17
Vulnerable Children Reserve 3,124 -3,124 0 18
Home to School Transport Reserve 468 -100 368 19
A417 Missing Link 1,259 1,259 20
Adult Care 2,903 2,903 21
Communities & Infrastructure Reserve 703 -666 37 22
Traded Services & Shared Audit Service 
Reserves

253 253 23

LED Renewables Reserve 463 463 24
Services to Families with Young Children 
Reserve

300 -300 0 25

Other Reserves 596 -105 0 491 26
Earmarked Reserves ( Non School) 112,689 -30,370 13,847 96,166

Schools Related
School Balances 19,688 19,688 27
Other Schools Related 4,795 4,795 27

School Related 24,483 0 0 24,483

Earmarked Reserves Total 137,172 -30,370 13,847 120,649

General Fund Balances 19,848 -1,295 18,553 28

Total Revenue Reserves 157,020 -31,665 13,847 139,202

Earmarked Capital Reserves  Balance 
at 31st 
March 

2017

Transfers Out 
2017/18

Transfers In     
2017/18

Balance 
at 31st 
March 

2018
Capital Grant & Contributions Reserves 46,017 46,017 29
Capital Receipts Reserve 32,371 32,371 30
Total Capital Reserves 78,388 0 0 78,388

Page 82



63

Notes on Reserves

1. The capital fund balance assumes that £6.95 million will be transferred from the revenue 
capital financing budget to support approved capital programme expenditure. 

2. The s trategic w aste r eserve’s estimated balance as at 31st March 2018 is £37.70 
million, following a proposed transfer of £1.7 million from revenue. These funds are 
required to meet contract payments due on construction / completion.

3. The transformation reserve was set up in 2009/10 to fund liabilities to pay for 
redundancy and one-off transformation costs associated with the MtC programme. The 
reserve will be reduced by £2.4 million to fund the 2017/18 revenue budget, as approved 
by County Council in February 2017.

4. The invest to save reserve supports projects that are designed to deliver on-going savings 
in the future by providing “pump priming” funding. The transfer out of the reserve relates to 
a £0.9 million contribution to capital for the provision of photovoltaic PV panels for Shire 
Hall.

5. It is anticipated that the insurance fund will remain at current levels in line with 
recommended actuarial valuations and assessment of potential liabilities. 

6. The purpose of the reserve is to provide capacity to engage and build active communities 
as part of the Council’s Strategic Plan. Commitments against the reserve are likely to be 
spread over a number of years. The reserve will be reduced by £0.5 million to fund the 
2017/18 revenue budget, as approved by County Council in February 2017.

7. The public health reserve holds any unused balances from the Public Health Grant 
received by Government. 

8. The county elections reserve acts as a smoothing reserve to fund the costs associated 
with county council elections held every four years.  A budgeted annual contribution of
£0.2 million is annually made to this fund. The costs associated with the 2017 election are 
fully funded from this reserve.

9. The vehicle and plant reserve is intended to support Council procurement of Service 
vehicles and Plant

10.The fire pensions reserve was established to support any potential liabilities under the fire 
service pension schemes. The cost of early retirements due to ill health result in additional 
employers’ liabilities and the intention of this reserve is to offset any impact of these costs 
on the revenue budget if required.

Page 83



64

11.The fire joint training reserve acts as an equalisation fund to smooth out revenue 
implications over the course of the PFI contract. PFI credits are received within the early 
years of the contract and need to be held to fund anticipated costs in the later years of the 
contract. Reserve balances are now expected to slowly reduce for the remaining of the 
contract to 2028.

12.The economic stimulus reserve is committed to fund a series of initiatives to support 
economic growth within Gloucestershire i.e. fastershire rural broadband and 
apprenticeship initiative. It is forecast that the reserve will have a balance of £0.63 million 
at 31st March 2018.

13.The fire PFI reserve acts as an equalisation fund to smooth out revenue implications over 
the course of the PFI contract. PFI credits are received within the early years of the 
contract and need to be held to fund anticipated costs in the later years of the contract. 
Reserve balances are therefore expected to peak in 2025 at £4.77 million, but then 
reduce over the next 13 years to zero in 2038.

14.The revenue grants reserve is a technical reserve established, as required under 
accounting policies, for specific unapplied revenue grants where conditions related to the 
grant have been fully met. 

15.The adoption reserve was established to support costs associated with the adoption 
service. It is anticipated that this will be fully utilised in 2017/18.

16.The way that the Council is funded changed in 2013/14. As a result the Council is subject 
to volatility around Business Rates collections. To minimise this volatility the Council will 
receive a “Top Up” Grant from Central Government, which means that only our “Baseline” 
position will be subject to the volatility. This figure accounts for £20.6 million of our 
funding, and means that if our District Councils collect less business rates this figure could 
be lower. Central Government do have a safety net mechanism, that would mean that the 
Council would receive funding to offset this loss should Business Rates fall, however this 
safety net is set at 7.5%, meaning that our collected Business Rates would need to fall by 
£4.9 million before the safety net would become payable.  Where deficits do occur, the 
reserve will be used to prevent any impact on the revenue budget. The reserve will be 
reduced by £0.88 million to fund the 2017/18 revenue budget, as approved by County 
Council in February 2017. Part of this reserve is Gloucestershire Pool money, ring fenced 
for economic development projects across the County totalling £0.34 million. 

17.The education funding smoothing reserve funds any in-year funding adjustments made in 
relation to Academies. Such adjustments will be funded during the year from the reserve 
with base budget reductions made in the following year’s budget, i.e. if a school transfers 
to Academy status mid-year the Council’s budget will be top-sliced mid-year.

18.The vulnerable children’s reserve was established to cover the budgetary risks associated 
with the fluctuations in demand led Children Services, such as agency placements, 
fostering allowances, special guardianship and care allowances. It is anticipated that this 
will be fully utilized in 2017/18.

19.  The home to school transport reserve was created in order to smooth out the budgetary 
pressures caused by the fluctuations in school transport days between financial years.

20.This reserve was established to support the upgrading of a section of the A417. 

Page 84



65

21.Adult care reserve was established to cover the budgetary risks associated with the 
fluctuations in demand led adult services. 

22.This reserve was created to hold a number of small revenue carry forwards for 
Community and Infrastructure services and will be fully utilised in 2017/18 other than 
£0.37 million for Street Lighting LED phase 2 contract mobilisation which will be spent in 
2018/19. 

23.The traded services & shared audit reserve was created to support activities to generate 
further traded income.  

24.This is the smoothing reserve for the repayment of the SALIX/SEELs repayments over 7 
years. 

25.This funding was approved by Cabinet to fund capital works which will enable children 
centre buildings to be adapted and made suitable for the provision of a wider range of 
services. This reserve will be fully utilised in 2017/18. 

26.This relates to a small number of specific reserves.

27. It has been assumed that balances for Schools and the Dedicated School’s Grant will 
remain at similar levels to those held at 31st March 2017.

28.Assuming a balanced outturn position on the revenue budget for 2017/18 general 
reserves are forecast to fall to £18.55 million at 31 March 2018, following the transfer of 
£1.29 million to support the revenue budget approved by County Council February 2017. 
In the event of an over spend position a further draw down on general reserves will be 
required.

29.The capital grants & contributions reserve is a technical reserve established, as required 
under accounting policies, for specific unapplied capital grants & contributions where 
conditions related to the grant have been fully met. These fully committed funds will be 
used to support the capital programme from 2017/18 onwards. 

30.The capital receipts reserve holds capital receipts which have been received from 
approved property disposals. These receipts are held to finance the approved capital 
programme.

Page 85



66

Annex 6 Revenue Budget Forward Projections

MTFS 2018/19 – 2020/21 – Forecast draft budgets based on funding 
assumptions

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Revised Forecast Forecast Forecast

£m £m £m £m
Base Budget 407.70 407.70 407.17 419.22
Inflation ( Pay,Pensions 
and Prices) 1.82 2.43 2.34

National Living Wage 4.31 4.36 4.48
Other Pressures   
(Estimated) 22.60 21.49 10.25

Savings to be met from 
Transformation 
Programme

-29.26 -16.23 -14.07

Net Operating Budget 407.70 407.17 419.22 422.22

Funded by:-

Core Grant Funding -102.80 -93.60 -84.91 -77.96
Other Non Ring Fenced 
Grant Funding -11.10 -11.80 -18.18 -17.94

Public Health Grant -24.9 -24.27 -23.63 -23.63
Council Tax Surplus -4.08 -3.00 -3.00 -3.00
Reserve Movements -5.20 0.00 0.00 0.00
Council Tax 
Requirement 259.62 274.50 289.50 299.69

Council Tax Calculation

Council Tax Base ( Est) 220,159 223,839 227,016 230,422
Council Tax Band D 
Equivalent) £1,179.26 £1,226.31 £1,275.24 £1,300.62

% Increase in Council Tax 3.99% 3.99% 3.99% 3.99%
This excludes the additional ringfenced social care grant funding totalling 
£10.598 million in 2017-18,  £7.176 million expected in 2018-19 & £3.569 
million expected in 2019-20.

Page 86



67

Annex 7a 

Capital Programme 2018/19

MEDIUM TERM CAPITAL PROGRAMME - COUNTY COUNCIL SERVICES
FINANCING STATEMENT

------------------    Profiled Budget   ------------------ Total Prior Total 
Future Still Years Scheme

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Years Required Actual Investment
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

GROSS PAYMENTS

Adults 7,872 10,523 0 0 0 18,395 6,078 24,473
Children & Families 29,249 48,199 18,359 5,650 0 101,457 48,400 149,857
Communities:
Highways 39,882 51,715 30,205 30,205 9,000 161,007 65,160 226,167
Strategic Infrastructure 3,615 4,509 5,352 0 0 13,476 5,288 18,764
Waste Disposal 866 445 0 0 0 1,311 49 1,360
Libraries 520 1,567 0 0 0 2,087 905 2,992
Community Safety 1,384 1,672 815 150 0 4,021 3,614 7,635
Business Support:
AMPS 18,040 15,307 1,738 450 0 35,535 6,941 42,476
ICT Projects 2,929 3,824 1,750 0 0 8,503 2,915 11,418
Archives & Information Management 2,327 578 0 0 0 2,905 353 3,258
Customer 46 170 0 0 0 216 342 558
Business Support Misc 0 771 360 0 0 1,131 0 1,131
Total 106,730 139,280 58,579 36,455 9,000 350,044 140,045 490,089

AVAILABLE RESOURCES

Revenue Contributions 1,924 236 0 0 0 2,160
Section 106 Contributions 14,333 8,400 58 0 0 22,791
Capital Fund 10,074 7,079 2,026 0 0 19,179
Other External Contributions 525 145 0 0 0 670
External Grant - including Government 60,253 79,494 29,569 25,855 0 195,171
Other Reserves 3,525 2,725 859 0 0 7,109
Capital Receipts 16,096 25,201 7,067 600 0 48,964
Internal Borrowing 0 16,000 19,000 10,000 9,000 54,000
Other - including Borrowing 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 106,730 139,280 58,579 36,455 9,000 350,044

Surplus/deficit (-) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Page 87



68

Capital Programme 2018/19 Total Scheme Budget Financing for Total Scheme budget

Scheme Name

Current Total 
Scheme
Budget

Prior Years 
Actuals 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Future Years

Revenue 
Contrib

S106 
External 
Contrib Capital Fund

Other 
External 
Contrib

External 
Grant

Other 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 

Internal 
Borrowing

Other incl. 
Borrowing

Total for 
Remaining Life    

Prior Years 
Funding

Funding of 
budget total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Summary by Service Area
Adults 24,473 6,078 7,872 10,523 0 0 0 61 0 661 86 17,571 0 16 0 0 18,395 6,078 24,473
Children & Families 149,857 48,400 29,249 48,199 18,359 5,650 0 818 17,391 1,635 173 65,862 0 578 15,000 0 101,457 48,400 149,857
Highways 226,167 65,160 39,882 51,715 30,205 30,205 9,000 912 5,033 1,032 350 103,509 0 11,171 39,000 0 161,007 65,160 226,167
Strategic Infrastructure 18,764 5,288 3,615 4,509 5,352 0 0 198 0 1,404 0 2,191 5,329 4,354 0 0 13,476 5,288 18,764
Waste Disposal 1,360 49 866 445 0 0 0 0 0 431 0 0 880 0 0 0 1,311 49 1,360
Libraries 2,992 905 520 1,567 0 0 0 0 357 31 0 220 0 1,479 0 0 2,087 905 2,992
Community Safety 7,635 3,614 1,384 1,672 815 150 0 67 0 1,377 0 568 0 2,009 0 0 4,021 3,614 7,635
AMPS 42,476 6,941 18,040 15,307 1,738 450 0 0 10 5,685 0 4,186 900 24,754 0 0 35,535 6,941 42,476
ICT Projects 11,418 2,915 2,929 3,824 1,750 0 0 100 0 6,361 0 0 0 2,042 0 0 8,503 2,915 11,418
Archives & Information Management 3,258 353 2,327 578 0 0 0 4 0 484 61 1,064 0 1,292 0 0 2,905 353 3,258
Customer 558 342 46 170 0 0 0 0 0 78 0 0 0 138 0 0 216 342 558
Business Support Misc 1,131 0 0 771 360 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,131 0 0 1,131 0 1,131
Total Capital Programme 490,089 140,045 106,730 139,280 58,579 36,455 9,000 2,160 22,791 19,179 670 195,171 7,109 48,964 54,000 0 350,044 140,045 490,089

Adults
Sandford Park House 360 0 0 360 0 0 0 0 0 360 0 0 0 0 0 0 360 0 360
ERIC Replacement 1,580 630 800 150 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 950 0 0 0 0 950 630 1,580
GIS 1,000 569 371 60 0 0 0 0 0 246 10 175 0 0 0 0 431 569 1,000
Community Capacity Grant 2,168 0 0 2,168 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,168 0 0 0 0 2,168 0 2,168
Disabled Facilities Grant 16/17 4,682 3,382 1,300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,300 0 0 0 0 1,300 3,382 4,682
Disabled Facilities Grant 17/18 5,136 0 4,834 302 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,136 0 0 0 0 5,136 0 5,136
Supported Living Accommodation Fairford 730 0 100 630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 730 0 0 0 0 730 0 730
HOLD Scheme 654 0 80 574 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 654 0 0 0 0 654 0 654
Transitions for Life 450 0 0 450 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 450 0 0 0 0 450 0 450
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 2,152 1,497 387 268 0 0 0 61 0 55 76 447 0 16 0 0 655 1,497 2,152
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
Disabled Facilities Grant (indicative) 5,561 0 0 5,561 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,561 0 0 0 0 5,561 0 5,561
Total Adults 24,473 6,078 7,872 10,523 0 0 0 61 0 661 86 17,571 0 16 0 0 18,395 6,078 24,473

Children & Families
Alderman Knight sufficiency 1,900 782 1,083 35 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,118 0 0 0 0 1,118 782 1,900
Paternoster, replace temps 2,848 116 1,784 948 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 2,722 0 0 0 0 2,732 116 2,848
Cleeve School 1FE expansion 5,338 487 2,900 1,951 0 0 0 0 4,751 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 4,851 487 5,338
Beaufort School 1FE expansion 3,940 144 2,800 996 0 0 0 0 3,696 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 3,796 144 3,940
Balcarass School 1FE expansion 5,000 0 364 4,636 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000 0 0 0 0 5,000 0 5,000
Pittville School, increase capacity 2,258 1,534 524 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 724 0 0 0 0 724 1,534 2,258
Severn Vale School 1FE expansion 5,000 31 2,500 2,469 0 0 0 0 1,769 0 0 3,200 0 0 0 0 4,969 31 5,000
Cotswold School, 6th Form Accommodation 1,190 73 500 559 58 0 0 0 1,117 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,117 73 1,190
Barnwood Park School 1FE expansion 2,500 0 120 1,585 795 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,500 0 0 0 0 2,500 0 2,500
Short Breaks Capital Grants 942 388 350 204 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 554 0 0 0 0 554 388 942
Woodmancote Primary, nursery provision 365 0 345 20 0 0 0 0 357 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 365 0 365
Bishops Cleeve Primary, double classroom 334 0 322 12 0 0 0 50 274 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 334 0 334
Bledington Primary Pod Eco Classrooms 380 0 380 0 0 0 0 42 0 0 0 338 0 0 0 0 380 0 380
Bourton-on-the-Water Primary, s106 cont 778 24 500 254 0 0 0 0 754 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 754 24 778
Leighterton Primary replace temps 700 53 560 87 0 0 0 20 0 0 0 627 0 0 0 0 647 53 700
Chalford Hill Primary, replace temps 1,283 127 850 306 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,156 0 0 0 0 1,156 127 1,283
Cirencester Primary replace classrooms 1,500 83 100 1,192 125 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,417 0 0 0 0 1,417 83 1,500
Drybrook Primary remodel classrooms 790 18 15 732 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 772 0 0 0 0 772 18 790
English Bicknor Primary Pre-school 332 17 281 34 0 0 0 3 0 20 0 292 0 0 0 0 315 17 332
Fairford Primary 2 classrooms 600 0 150 450 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 600 0 0 0 0 600 0 600
Grangefield Primary, expansion 2,716 765 1,865 86 0 0 0 0 1,951 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,951 765 2,716
Rissington Primary, pre-school 376 0 315 61 0 0 0 30 0 0 346 0 0 0 0 376 0 376
Rissington Primary, classroom extension 250 0 240 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 250 0 0 0 0 250 0 250
Mickleton Primary, double classroom unit 524 0 100 424 0 0 0 0 524 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 524 0 524
Shurdington Primary expansion 1,400 1 499 900 0 0 0 0 1,008 0 0 391 0 0 0 0 1,399 1 1,400
Thrupp Primary, replace temps 811 42 731 38 0 0 0 33 0 0 0 736 0 0 0 0 769 42 811

P
age 88



69

Capital Programme 2018/19 Total Scheme Budget Financing for Total Scheme Budget

Scheme Name

Total 
Scheme
Budget

Prior Years 
Actuals 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Future Years

Revenue 
Contrib

S106 
External 
Contrib Capital Fund

Other 
External 
Contrib

External 
Grant

Other 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 

Internal 
Borrowing

Other incl. 
Borrowing

Total for 
Remaining Life 

Prior Years 
Funding

Funding of 
Budget Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Springbank Primary garden room 258 1 246 11 0 0 0 22 0 0 0 235 0 0 0 0 257 1 258
Gardners Lane Primary 2 Class Extension 828 0 676 152 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 823 0 0 0 0 828 0 828
Gloucester Road Primary, SEN/Group Room 350 4 312 34 0 0 0 0 291 3 0 52 0 0 0 0 346 4 350
Hunts Grove, ICT/FFE 406 0 0 325 81 0 0 0 0 0 0 406 0 0 0 0 406 0 406
Longford Primary, ICT/FFE 271 0 0 271 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 271 0 0 0 0 271 0 271
School kitchen upgrades 17/18 300 0 163 137 0 0 0 8 0 286 0 6 0 0 0 0 300 0 300
Calton Primary, 1FE expansion 4,716 4,464 150 102 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 252 0 0 0 0 252 4,464 4,716
Coney Hill Primary, extension & hygiene 260 0 223 37 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 260 0 0 0 0 260 0 260
Dinglewell Junior replace classrooms 821 0 40 761 20 0 0 35 0 0 0 786 0 0 0 0 821 0 821
Intensive Intervention Service (IRIS) 1,200 0 600 600 0 0 0 0 0 1,200 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,200 0 1,200
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 47,198 39,246 6,661 1,251 40 0 0 560 899 126 173 6,194 0 0 0 0 7,952 39,246 47,198
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
Basic Need Grant 18/19 8,970 0 0 8,970 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,970 0 0 0 0 8,970 0 8,970
Special Provision Fund 18/19 - 20/21 1,950 0 0 650 650 650 0 0 0 0 0 1,950 0 0 0 0 1,950 0 1,950
Basic Need Grant 2019/20 2,565 0 0 0 2,565 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,565 0 0 0 0 2,565 0 2,565
Schools Condition Allocation 18/19 (indicative) 5,131 0 0 5,131 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,131 0 0 0 0 5,131 0 5,131
Cheltenham New School 30,000 0 0 11,000 14,000 5,000 0 0 0 0 0 15,000 0 0 15,000 0 30,000 0 30,000
Building improvements to Impact Youth Centre space & 578 0 0 578 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 578 0 0 578 0 578
Total Children & Families 149,857 48,400 29,249 48,199 18,359 5,650 0 818 17,391 1,635 173 65,862 0 578 15,000 0 101,457 48,400 149,857

Highways
Metz Way Bus Lane (East of Eastern Ave) 1,856 385 116 1,355 0 0 0 0 1,274 0 0 197 0 0 0 0 1,471 385 1,856
Coopers Hill - Slip 380 115 219 46 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 265 0 0 0 0 265 115 380
Pothole Action Fund Unallocated 1,435 0 1,435 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,435 0 0 0 0 1,435 0 1,435
Cinderford Northern Quarter Spine Road 6,839 5,887 760 192 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 852 0 0 0 0 952 5,887 6,839
Gloucester South West Bypass - Llanthony 635 180 455 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 455 0 0 0 0 455 180 635
On street parking (Cheltenham Phase 4) 587 318 269 0 0 0 0 212 0 0 0 57 0 0 0 0 269 318 587
Cheltenham to Bishops Cleeve Cycle Track 770 53 100 617 0 0 0 0 717 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 717 53 770
A40 Improvements Over Roundabout 2,465 579 400 1,486 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,886 0 0 0 0 1,886 579 2,465
Elmbridge Major Scheme Bid 13,299 8,340 3,600 1,359 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,959 0 0 0 0 4,959 8,340 13,299
A435 Bishops Cleeve to Race Course Hiway 451 6 75 370 0 0 0 0 445 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 445 6 451
LED Streetlighting Major Project 22,217 7,525 6,695 7,997 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,271 0 10,421 0 0 14,692 7,525 22,217
Concrete Column Replacement-LED Project 1,988 1,188 800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 800 0 0 0 0 800 1,188 1,988
High Mast Replacement 390 72 318 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 318 0 0 0 0 318 72 390
Street Lighting - General 3,058 2,757 301 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 301 0 0 0 0 301 2,757 3,058
Berkeley New And Berkeley Old Bridges 3,306 2,174 1,132 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,132 0 0 0 0 1,132 2,174 3,306
Horsley Hill Landslip Nailsworth 862 237 625 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 625 0 0 0 0 625 237 862
Lydney Level Crossings 500 17 483 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 483 0 0 0 0 483 17 500
SM PRN A Roads Unallocated 1,352 0 1,352 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,052 0 300 0 0 1,352 0 1,352
SM NPRN B Classified Unallocated 1,774 0 1,774 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,524 0 250 0 0 1,774 0 1,774
Bowbridge Stroud - Community Offer 1,137 667 470 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 178 282 0 0 0 0 470 667 1,137
Bristol Road, Gloucester 590 93 166 331 0 0 0 0 495 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 497 93 590
St Johns Road Slimbridge 348 53 295 0 0 0 0 95 0 150 0 50 0 0 0 0 295 53 348
TS152 - Metz Way/Eastern Avenue design 570 27 24 519 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 543 0 0 0 0 543 27 570
SM NPRN C Classified Unallocated 4,822 0 4,822 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 4,619 0 200 0 0 4,822 0 4,822
SM NPRN Unclassified Unallocated 884 0 884 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 884 0 0 0 0 884 0 884
Footways Unallocated 421 0 421 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 421 0 0 0 0 421 0 421
Minor Works 2017-18 1,519 0 1,519 0 0 0 0 0 5 33 0 1,481 0 0 0 0 1,519 0 1,519
Reactive Works Unallocated 3,656 0 3,656 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,656 0 0 0 0 3,656 0 3,656
Safety Fencing 600 336 253 11 0 0 0 150 0 0 0 114 0 0 0 0 264 336 600
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 43,710 34,151 6,463 3,096 0 0 0 455 2,084 749 172 6,099 0 0 0 0 9,559 34,151 43,710
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
Structural Maintenance (estimate) 52,032 0 0 17,344 17,344 17,344 0 0 0 0 0 52,032 0 0 0 0 52,032 0 52,032
Pothole Fund (estimate) 1,435 0 0 1,435 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,435 0 0 0 0 1,435 0 1,435
Road Maintenance 39,000 0 0 10,000 10,000 10,000 9,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 39,000 0 39,000 0 39,000
Integrated Transport (estimated 2018/19) 8,583 0 0 2,861 2,861 2,861 0 0 0 0 0 8,583 0 0 0 0 8,583 0 8,583
National Investment Productivity Fund 2018/19 2,696 0 0 2,696 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,696 0 0 0 0 2,696 0 2,696
Total Highways 226,167 65,160 39,882 51,715 30,205 30,205 9,000 912 5,033 1,032 350 103,509 0 11,171 39,000 0 161,007 65,160 226,167

P
age 89



70

Capital Programme 2018/19 Total Scheme Budget Financing for Total Scheme budget

Scheme Name

Current Total 
Scheme
Budget

Prior Years 
Actuals 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Future Years

Revenue 
Contrib

S106 
External 
Contrib Capital Fund

Other 
External 
Contrib

External 
Grant

Other 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 

Internal 
Borrowing

Other incl. 
Borrowing

Total for 
Remaining Life    

Prior Years 
Funding

Funding of 
budget total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Strategic Infrastructure
Fastershire Broadband Strategy 13,700 4,215 2,785 1,500 5,200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,131 4,354 0 0 9,485 4,215 13,700
Priors & Oakley FAS - FDGiA 2,583 239 700 1,644 0 0 0 0 0 166 0 2,178 0 0 0 0 2,344 239 2,583
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 2,283 834 130 1,180 139 0 0 198 0 1,238 0 13 0 0 0 0 1,449 834 2,283
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
Multi Modal Transport Model - SATURN 198 0 0 185 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 198 0 0 0 198 0 198
Total Strategic Infrastructure 18,764 5,288 3,615 4,509 5,352 0 0 198 0 1,404 0 2,191 5,329 4,354 0 0 13,476 5,288 18,764

Waste Disposal
Hempstead HRC 460 49 406 5 0 0 0 0 0 411 0 0 0 0 0 0 411 49 460
Mobile Compactors 460 0 460 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 440 0 0 0 460 0 460
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
Mobile Compaction and site works - Phase 2 440 0 0 440 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 440 0 0 0 440 0 440
Total Waste Disposal 1,360 49 866 445 0 0 0 0 0 431 0 0 880 0 0 0 1,311 49 1,360

Libraries
Customer Services Programme 1,519 43 45 1,431 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,476 0 0 1,476 43 1,519
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 1,473 862 475 136 0 0 0 0 357 31 0 220 0 3 0 0 611 862 1,473
Total Libraries 2,992 905 520 1,567 0 0 0 0 357 31 0 220 0 1,479 0 0 2,087 905 2,992

Community Safety
BA Project 700 234 400 66 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 466 0 0 0 0 466 234 700
Operational equipment 270 4 135 131 0 0 0 0 0 266 0 0 0 0 0 0 266 4 270
Appliances & Equipment 17/18 (Vehicles) 600 0 400 200 0 0 0 0 0 600 0 0 0 0 0 0 600 0 600
Mobile Data Terminals 300 0 50 100 150 0 0 0 0 300 0 0 0 0 0 0 300 0 300
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 3,775 3,376 399 0 0 0 0 67 0 211 0 102 0 19 0 0 399 3,376 3,775
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
Personal Protective Equipment 600 0 0 300 300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 600 0 0 600 0 600
Emergency Response Vehicles 1,090 0 0 875 215 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,090 0 0 1,090 0 1,090
Upgrade emergency control room mobilising system 300 0 0 0 150 150 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 300 0 0 300 0 300
Total Community Safety 7,635 3,614 1,384 1,672 815 150 0 67 0 1,377 0 568 0 2,009 0 0 4,021 3,614 7,635

AMPS
SH MTFS SH Maintenance 1,096 453 300 343 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 1 0 633 0 0 643 453 1,096
MTFS SH Reorganisation 1,380 1,051 329 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 329 0 0 329 1,051 1,380
Locality Hubs 330 9 50 221 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 321 0 0 0 0 321 9 330
MTFS SH Refurbishment 7,186 1,141 5,645 400 0 0 0 0 0 35 0 0 0 6,010 0 0 6,045 1,141 7,186
Worksmart - Photovoltaic Panels 1,140 0 540 600 0 0 0 0 0 240 0 0 900 0 0 0 1,140 0 1,140
Area Based Review 7,800 0 2,463 5,337 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,800 0 0 7,800 0 7,800
Blackfriars & Quays Redevelopment 4,130 487 2,243 1,400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,643 0 0 0 0 3,643 487 4,130
Shire Hall Maintenance - 16-17 MTFS 1,500 0 1,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,500 0 0 1,500 0 1,500
Health & Safety Works 2016/17 - 2018/19 900 0 600 300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 900 0 0 900 0 900
Disabled Access Corp 2016/17 - 2018/19 450 0 0 450 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 450 0 0 450 0 450
Shire Hall - Social Care Hub - MTFS17/18 2,900 0 2,500 400 0 0 0 0 0 2,900 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,900 0 2,900
Shire Hall Office Moves - MTFS 17/18 1,772 0 1,000 772 0 0 0 0 0 1,772 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,772 0 1,772
Locality Solutions (Stroud) 375 0 0 375 0 0 0 0 0 375 0 0 0 0 0 0 375 0 375
Rural Estates - Farm Investment 1,570 0 0 1,000 570 0 0 0 0 75 0 0 0 1,495 0 0 1,570 0 1,570
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 5,087 3,800 870 349 68 0 0 0 10 279 0 221 0 777 0 0 1,287 3,800 5,087
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
Shire Hall - Conferencing Facility 400 0 0 400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 400 0 0 400 0 400
Health & Safety Programme 750 0 0 250 250 250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 750 0 0 750 0 750
Shire Hall - Must Haves 2,810 0 0 2,310 500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,810 0 0 2,810 0 2,810
Service Properties Refurbishment 900 0 0 400 300 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 900 0 0 900 0 900
Total AMPS 42,476 6,941 18,040 15,307 1,738 450 0 0 10 5,685 0 4,186 900 24,754 0 0 35,535 6,941 42,476

P
age 90



71

Capital Programme 2018/19 Total Scheme Budget Financing for Total Scheme Budget

Scheme Name

Total 
Scheme
Budget

Prior Years 
Actuals 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Future Years

Revenue 
Contrib

S106 
External 
Contrib Capital Fund

Other 
External 
Contrib

External 
Grant

Other 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 

Internal 
Borrowing

Other incl. 
Borrowing

Total for 
Remaining Life 

Prior Years 
Funding

Funding of 
Budget Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

ICT Projects
ICT Strategy - Telephony 1,809 878 625 306 0 0 0 0 0 300 0 0 0 631 0 0 931 878 1,809
ICT Strat - Secure Wi-Fi 744 405 241 98 0 0 0 100 0 129 0 0 0 110 0 0 339 405 744
ICT Strat - Network Strategy Upgrade 1,296 46 464 786 0 0 0 0 0 1,070 0 0 0 180 0 0 1,250 46 1,296
ICT Strat - End User Device O/S 2,100 0 120 230 1,750 0 0 0 0 2,100 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,100 0 2,100
ICT Strat - VM Refresh - V6 environmt 353 0 117 236 0 0 0 0 0 353 0 0 0 0 0 0 353 0 353
ICT Strat - Replace NGD recycled devices 762 0 259 503 0 0 0 0 0 762 0 0 0 0 0 0 762 0 762
ICT Strat - Document Storage 273 0 0 273 0 0 0 0 0 273 0 0 0 0 0 0 273 0 273
Social Work, Not Paperwork 327 0 327 0 0 0 0 0 0 327 0 0 0 0 0 0 327 0 327
C&F ICT Systems Rationalisation 500 0 0 500 0 0 0 0 0 500 0 0 0 0 0 0 500 0 500
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 2,974 1,586 776 612 0 0 0 0 0 547 0 0 0 841 0 0 1,388 1,586 2,974
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
Audio Visual Conferencing Equipt 280 0 0 280 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 280 0 0 280 0 280
Total ICT Projects 11,418 2,915 2,929 3,824 1,750 0 0 100 0 6,361 0 0 0 2,042 0 0 8,503 2,915 11,418

Archives & Information Management
Alvin Street Extension - For the Record 3,039 341 2,312 386 0 0 0 0 0 473 61 1,064 0 1,100 0 0 2,698 341 3,039
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 27 12 15 0 0 0 0 4 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 12 27
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
For the Record’: additional storage and transforming 192 0 0 192 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 192 0 0 192 0 192
Total Archives & Information Management 3,258 353 2,327 578 0 0 0 4 0 484 61 1,064 0 1,292 0 0 2,905 353 3,258

Customer
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 558 342 46 170 0 0 0 0 0 78 0 0 0 138 0 0 216 342 558
Total Customer 558 342 46 170 0 0 0 0 0 78 0 0 0 138 0 0 216 342 558

Business Support Misc
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
Procure to Pay Digital Project 900 0 0 540 360 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 900 0 0 900 0 900
SAP Environment - additional data storage 82 0 0 82 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 82 0 0 82 0 82
HR Scanning system 149 0 0 149 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 149 0 0 149 0 149
Total Business Support Misc 1,131 0 0 771 360 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,131 0 0 1,131 0 1,131

P
age 91



72

Annex 7b 

Capital Programme New Schemes 2018/19 onwards funded from Capital Receipts, Internal Borrowing, Reserves & Revenue Contributions

Scheme Name

Current Total 
Scheme
Budget

£000
2018/19 

£000
2019/20

£000
2020/21+

£000
Comments

Community & Infrastructure

Multi Modal Transport Model 198 185 13
To construct a multi modal Transport model to aid with the identification of 
infrastructure requirements for the County.

Road Maintenance 39,000 10,000 10,000 19,000 To improve the condition of the Gloucestershire road network
Mobile Compaction and site works - Phase 2 440 440 Replacement of static waste compaction equipment at the end of its life
Community & Infrastructure total 39,638 10,625 10,013 19,000

Children & Families
Building improvements  to Impact Youth Centre 
space & Lodge building - Lewis Lane

578 578 Property rationalisation - Refurbishment of GCC Youth Centre space

Cheltenham School 15,000 6,000 9,000
A new school build to accommodate growing numbers in the County. Total scheme 
cost is £30m with £15m to be funded from the Basic Need Grant

Children & Families Total 15,578 6,578 9,000 0

Asset Management & Property Services
Health & Safety Programme 750 250 250 250 Surveys and capital works on safety aspects for GCC property portfolio
Shire Hall - essentials 2,810 2,310 500 Capital works to enable property rationalisatoin
Refurbishment of Service Properties 900 400 300 200 To enable effective service operations
Shire Hall conferencing facility 400 400 To provide an in house conference function
Asset Management & Property Services Total 4,860 3,360 1,050 450

P
age 92



73

Capital Programme New Schemes 2018/19 onwards funded from Capital Receipts, Internal Borrowing, Reserves & Revenue Contributions

Scheme Name

Current Total 
Scheme
Budget

£000
2018/19 

£000
2019/20

£000
2020/21+

£000
Comments

ICT Projects
Audio visual conferencing eqt 280 280 IT solutions enabling collaborative partnership working
ICT Projects Total 280 280 0 0

Business Services Centre
Procure to Pay Digital Project 900 540 360 Digitising manual procurement through to payment processing
SAP Environment - additional data storage 82 82 System critical data storage
Business Services Centre Total 982 622 360 0

Archives
For the Record’: additional storage and 
transforming archive service

192 192 To ensure the future archiving requirements are made in line with legislation

Archives Total 192 192 0 0

Human Resources

HR Scanning system 149 149
To ensure the Council meets its GDPR requirements in relation to employment 
records

Human Resources Total 149 149 0 0

Community Safety - Fire & Rescue

Emergency response vehicles 1,090 875 215

GFRS has a well established fire engine replacement programme to ensure that its 
fleet remains sustainable and reliable for responding to emergencies. There are 
two new fire engines needed for 2017 – 18 and one aerial ladder platform and 
replacement of some light fleet vehicles

Upgrade emergency control room mobilising 
system

300 150 150 Updating the mobilising system to accommodate the Countrywide changes to the 
Emergency Services Network

Personal Protection Equipment 600 300 300
Replacement of Fire Fighting Equipment to ensure firefighters have the 
equipment needed to operate effectively

Community Safety - Fire & Rescue Total 1,990 1,175 665 150
Total New Schemes 2018/19 onwards 63,669 22,981 21,088 19,600

P
age 93



74

Annex 8 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement

and Investment Strategy 2018/19 to 2019/20

Gloucestershire County Council

Contents

1. Background

2. External Context

3. Interest Rate Forecast 

4. Local Context

5. Borrowing Strategy 

6. Sources of Borrowing and Portfolio Implications

7. Debt Rescheduling

8. Annual Investment Strategy

9. Risk Assessment and Credit Ratings

10. Security of Investments

11. Policy on the use of Financial Derivatives

12. Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
 
13. Monitoring and Reporting on the Treasury Outturn and Prudential Indicators

14. Other Items 

Appendices

A. Economic and Interest Rate Forecast 

B. Existing Portfolio Projected Forward

C. Prudential Indicators

Page 94



75

1. Background

1.1 In February 2010 the Council adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s 
Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2011 Edition (the CIPFA Code) 
which requires the Council to approve a treasury management strategy before the start of each 
financial year.

1.2 In addition, the Department for Communities and Local Government (CLG) issued revised 
Guidance on Local Authority Investments in March 2010 that requires the Council to approve an 
investment strategy before the start of each financial year.

1.3 This report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to have 
regard to both the CIPFA Code and the CLG Guidance.  In particular this Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement aims to approve:

 Treasury Management Strategy for 2018/19 
 Annual Investment Strategy for 2018/19
 Prudential Indicators for 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21
 MRP Statement 

1.4 The Council has borrowed and continues to invest substantial sums of money and therefore has 
potentially large exposures to financial risks, including the loss of invested funds and the effect of 
changing interest rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and control of risk is therefore 
central to the Council’s treasury management strategy. 

1.5 In accordance with the CLG Guidance, the Council will be asked to approve a revised Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement should the assumptions on which this report is based change 
significantly. Such circumstances would include, for example, a large unexpected change in 
interest rates, or in the Council’s capital programme or in the level of its investment balance.

2. External Context

Economic background
2.1 The major external influence on the Authority’s treasury management strategy for 2018/19 will be 

the UK’s progress in negotiating its exit from the European Union and agreeing future trading 
arrangements. The domestic economy has remains relatively robust since the surprise outcome of 
the 2016 referendum, but there are indications that uncertainty over the future is now weighing on 
growth. Transitional arrangements may prevent a cliff-edge, but will also extend the period of 
uncertainty for several years. Economic growth is therefore forecast to remain sluggish throughout 
2018/19.

2.2 Consumer price inflation reached 3.0% in September 2017 as the post-referendum devaluation of 
sterling continued to feed through to imports. However, this effect is expected to fall out of year-on-
year inflation measures during 2018, removing pressure on the Bank of England to raise interest 
rates.  

2.3 In contrast, the US economy is performing well and the Federal Reserve is raising interest rates in 
regular steps to remove some of the emergency monetary stimulus it has provided for the past 
decade. The European Central Bank is yet to raise rates, but has started to taper its quantitative 
easing programme, signalling some confidence in the Eurozone economy.

Credit Outlook
2.4 High profile bank failures in Italy and Portugal have reinforced concerns over the health of the 

European banking sector. Sluggish economies and fines for pre-crisis behaviour continue to weigh 
on bank profits, and any future economic slowdown will exacerbate concerns in this regard.

Page 95



76

2.5 Bail-in legislation, which ensures that large investors including local authorities will rescue failing 
banks instead of taxpayers in the future, has now been fully implemented in the European Union, 
Switzerland and USA, while Australia and Canada are progressing with their own plans. In 
addition, the largest UK banks will ringfence their retail banking functions into separate legal 
entities during 2018. There remains some uncertainty over how these changes will impact upon the 
credit strength of the residual legal entities.

2.6 The credit risk associated with making unsecured bank deposits has therefore increased relative to 
the risk of other investment options available to the Authority; returns from cash deposits however 
remain very low.

3. Interest Rate Forecast

3.1 The Authority’s treasury adviser Arlingclose’s central case is for UK Bank Rate to remain at 0.25% 
during 2018/19. Two of the nine-member Monetary Policy Committee voted for an increase to 
0.50% in September, and the decision was said to be finely balanced for others, although all 
agreed that any increases would be limited and gradual. But stilted progress in the EU exit 
negotiations, softening consumer spending and a tightening of consumer credit are expected to 
stay the Committee’s hands. The risk of a cut to zero or negative rates has diminished and there is 
now a chance that rates will rise despite the economic fundamentals.

3.2 Longer-term interest rates have risen in the past year, reflecting the possibility of increasing short-
term rates. Arlingclose forecasts these to remain broadly constant during 2018/19, but with some 
volatility as interest rate expectations wax and wane with press reports on the progress of EU exit 
negotiations.

3.3 A more detailed economic and interest rate forecast provided by Arlingclose is attached at 
Appendix A.

4. Local Context

4.1 At 31st March 2017 the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes as measured by 
the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is £308.8m, while usable reserves and working capital 
which are the underlying resources available for investment were £272.1m.

4.2 The Council currently has £285.5 million of external borrowing, a £19.8m PFI lease liability and 
£336.066 million (as at 16th November 2016) of internal investments. This is set out in further detail 
at Appendix B, and forecasts changes in these sums are shown in the balance sheet analysis at 
Table 1 below. 

4.3 Under the Prudential Code the Council is able to borrow funds in excess of the current level of its 
CFR up to the projected level in 2020/21. The Council is likely to only borrow in advance of need if 
it felt the benefits of borrowing at interest rates now compared to where they are expected to be in 
the future, outweighs the current cost and risks associated with investing the proceeds until the 
borrowing was actually required. 

4.4 The forecast movement in the CFR in coming years is one of the Prudential Indicators (PIs). The 
movement in actual external debt and usable reserves combine to identify the Council’s borrowing 
requirement.

Page 96



77

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary and Forecast

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Closing CFR 302.076 318.854 337.842 344.918
Less:
Existing Profile of  External Borrowing 285.513 277.650 269.786 261.823

Other Long Term Liabilities (PFI) 19.825 19.138 18.465 17.688
Internal (over) Borrowing -3.262 22.067 49.591 65.408
Less:
Balances & Reserves 217.590 211.590 205.590 199.590
Working Capital 36.700 36.700 36.700 36.700
Investments (257.552) (226.223) (192.699) (170.882)

5. Borrowing Strategy

5.1 The total borrowing requirement at the end of 2017/18 is forecast to be £303.0 million (equivalent 
to the CFR).  This is financed by historic external borrowing of £285.5 million, and a PFI lease 
liability of £19.8 million.  The Council’s aim is to both repay maturing debt, and where possible 
some of the existing debt when oportunites to do this arise. The Council also considers new 
borrowing where it can be shown to be prudent and financial beneficial to do so. In 2017/18 £6.7 
million maturing external debt will be repaid.  £6.9 million is forecast to be repaid in 2018/19 and 
opportunities to repay debt early will be kept under review.  Where funding permits and it is cost 
effective to do so, additional loans may also be repaid.  

5.2 The Councils chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately low risk balance 
between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over the period for which funds 
are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Councils long-term plans change is a 
secondary objective.

5.3 The Councils borrowing strategy continues to address the key issue of affordability without 
compromising the longer-term stability of the debt portfolio. With short-term interest rates currently 
much lower than long-term rates, it is likely that in the event that the Council needed to borrow it 
would be more cost effective in the short-term to either use internal resources, or to borrow short-
term loans instead.  

5.4 By doing so, the Council is able to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone investment 
income) and reduce overall treasury risk. Whilst such a strategy is most likely to be beneficial over 
the next 2-3 years as official interest rates remain low, it is unlikely to be sustained in the medium-
term.  The benefits of internal borrowing will be monitored regularly against the potential for 
incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing into future years when long-term borrowing rates 
are forecast to rise modestly.  Arlingclose will assist the Council with this ‘cost of carry’ and 
breakeven analysis. 

5.5 In addition, the Council may borrow short-term loans (normally for up to one month) to cover 
unexpected cash flow shortages.

Page 97



78

6. Sources of Borrowing and Portfolio Implications

6.1 The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are:

• Public Works Loan Board and any successor body
• UK local authorities
• any institution approved for investments (see below)
• any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK
• UK public and private sector pension funds (except Gloucestershire Pension Fund)
• capital market bond investors
• UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies created to enable local 

authority bond issues

6.2 In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are not borrowing, but may 
be classed as other debt liabilities:

• operating and finance leases
• hire purchase
• Private Finance Initiative 
• sale and leaseback.

6.3 The Council has previously raised the majority of its long-term borrowing from the Public Works 
Loan Board, but it continues to investigate other sources of finance, such as local authority loans 
and bank loans, that may be available at more favourable rates.

6.4 The UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc was established in 2014 by the Local Government 
Association as an alternative to the PWLB.  It plans to issue bonds on the capital markets and lend 
the proceeds to local authorities.  This will be a more complicated source of finance than the PWLB 
for two reasons: borrowing authorities will be required to provide bond investors with a joint and 
several guarantee to refund their investment in the event that the agency is unable to for any 
reason; and there will be a lead time of several months between committing to borrow and knowing 
the interest rate payable. Any decision to borrow from the Agency will therefore be the subject of a 
separate report to Audit and Governance Committee.  

6.5 The Council holds £33.050 million of Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option (LOBO) loans where the 
lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate as set dates, following which the 
Council has the option to either accept the new rate or to repay the loan at no additional cost.  All 
of these LOBO’s have options during 2018/19, however lenders are unlikely to exercise their 
options in the current low interest rate environment. The situation with these LOBOs will be kept 
under regular review and the Council will take the option to repay LOBO loans at no cost if it has 
the opportunity to do so.  Previously a further £8 million of loans with Barclays were classified as 
LOBOs, however Barclays have now fixed the interest rates on these loans until maturity. These 
are now classified as fixed rate market loans.

6.6 Short-term and variable rate loans leave the Council exposed to the risk of short-term interest rate 
rises and are therefore subject to the limit on the net exposure to variable interest rates in the 
treasury management indicators at Appendix C.

7 Debt Rescheduling

7.1 The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and either pay a premium or receive a 
discount according to a set formula based on current interest rates. Some bank lenders may also 
be prepared to negotiate premature redemption terms. The Council may take advantage of this 
and replace some loans with new loans, or repay loans without replacement, where this is 
expected to lead to an overall saving or reduction in risk. Such repayments will only be made after 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change.

Page 98



79

7.2 Borrowing and rescheduling activity will be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee in the 
Annual Treasury Management Report, the Mid Year Report and any other treasury management 
reports presented to Audit & Governance Committee.

8. Investment Strategy

8.1 The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During 2017/18 the Council’s internal investment 
balance has ranged between £282.7 million and £357.2 million, and similar levels are expected to 
be maintained in the forthcoming year.

8.2 Both the CIPFA Code and CLG Guidance require the Council to invest its funds prudently, and to 
have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest rate of return, 
or yield.  The Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance 
between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk receiving 
unsuitably low investment income.

8.3 Negative Interest Rates: If the UK enters into a recession in 2018/19, there is a small chance that 
the Bank of England could set its Bank Rate at or below zero, which is likely to feed through to 
negative interest rates on all low risk, short-term investment options. This situation already exists in 
many other European countries. In this event, security will be measured as receiving the 
contractually agreed amount at maturity, even though this may be less than the amount originally 
invested.

8.4 Given the increasing risk and very low returns from short-term unsecured bank investments, the 
Council aims to continue its strategy of diversifying into more secure and / or higher yielding asset 
classes during 2018/19.  This is especially the case for funds available for longer-term investment. 
The pie chart below shows how  Councils surplus cash is currently invested -  18% is exposed to 
“bail-in” risk (ie the risk that should the counterparty fail the Council will lose a porportion of the 
funds deposited):

UK Banks
15%

Non UK Banks
3%

Local Authorities
27%

Building 
Societies

0%

MMF+
21%

MMFs
10%

Housing 
Ass
2%

Property Fund
7%

Secured 
Investments -

Bonds/Floating 
Rate Notes

15%

Investments as at 16/11/17

8.5 The Council is committed to moving away from unsecured investments where feasible.  To 
minimise the risk of unsecured deposits the Council has the approved counterparties in Table 2 
below, subject to the cash and time limits shown.   

Page 99



80

Table 2: Approved Investment Counterparties (including Non Specified)

£ Unlimited

50 years

£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

 5 years 20 years 50 years  20 years  20 years

£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

5 years 10 years 25 years 10 years 10 years

£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

4 years 5 years 15 years 5 years 10 years

£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

3 years 4 years 10 years 4 years 10 years

£15m £30m £15m £15m £15m

2 years 3 years 5 years 3 years 5 years

£15m £30m £15m £15m £15m

13 months 2 years 5 years 2 years 5 years

£15m £30m £15m £15m £15m

 6 months 13 months  5 years  13 months  5 years

£1m £30m £1m £15m

6 months 25 years 5 years 5 years

Pooled funds

None n/a

£30m per fund

AA+

AA

AA-

A+

A

A-

UK Govt n/a n/a n/a n/a

AAA

Credit Rating Banks 
Unsecured

Banks 
Secured Government Corporates Registered 

Providers

Table 2 should be read in conjunction with the notes below:

 Credit Rating: 
Investment decisions are made by reference to the lowest published long-term credit 
rating from Fitch, Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s.  Where available, the credit rating 
relevant to the specific investment or class of investment is used, otherwise the 
counterparty credit rating is used. However, investment decisions are never made solely 
based on credit ratings, and all other relevant factors including external advice will be 
taken into account.

 Banks Unsecured: 
Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior unsecured bonds with banks and 
building societies, other than multilateral development banks.  These investments are 
subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator determine that the bank 
is failing or likely to fail.

Page 100



81

 Banks Secured: 
Covered bonds, reverse repurchase agreements and other collateralised arrangements 
with banks and building societies.  These investments are secured on the bank’s assets, 
which limits the potential losses in the unlikely event of insolvency, and means that they 
are exempt from bail-in.  Where there is no investment specific credit rating, but the 
collateral upon which the investment is secured has a credit rating, the highest of the 
collateral credit rating and the counterparty credit rating will be used to determine cash 
and time limits.  The combined secured and unsecured investments in any one bank will 
not exceed the cash limit for secured investments.

 Government: 
Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national governments, regional and local 
authorities and multilateral development banks.  These investments are not subject to 
bail-in, and there is an insignificant risk of insolvency.  Investments with the UK Central 
Government may be made in unlimited amounts for up to 50 years.

 Corporates: 
Loans, bonds and commercial paper issued by companies other than banks and 
registered providers. These investments are not subject to bail-in, but are exposed to the 
risk of the company going insolvent.  Loans to unrated companies will only be made either 
following an external credit assessment or to a maximum of £1 million per company as 
part of a diversified pool in order to spread the risk widely.

 Registered Providers: 
Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by or secured on the assets of Registered 
Providers of Social Housing, formerly known as Housing Associations.  These bodies are 
tightly regulated by the Homes and Communities Agency and, as providers of public 
services, they retain the likelihood of receiving government support if needed.

 Pooled Funds: 
Shares in diversified investment vehicles consisting of the any of the above investment 
types, plus equity shares and property. These funds have the advantage of providing wide 
diversification of investment risk, coupled with the services of a professional fund 
manager in return for a fee.  Short Term Money Market Funds that offer same-day 
liquidity and very low or no volatility will be used as an alternative to instant access bank 
accounts, while pooled funds whose value changes with market prices and/or have a 
notice period will be used for longer investment periods. 

Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are 
more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council to diversify into asset classes 
other than cash without the need to own and manage the underlying investments. 
Because these funds have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after 
a notice period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting the Council’s 
investment objectives will be monitored regularly.

 Other Organisations: 
The Council may also invest cash with other organisations, for example by making loans 
to small businesses.  Because of the higher perceived risk of unrated businesses, such 
investments may provide considerably higher rates of return.  They will however only be 
made following a favourable external credit assessment and on the specific advice of the 
Council’s treasury management adviser.

Page 101



82

9 Risk Assessment and Credit Ratings

9.1 The Council uses long-term credit ratings from the three main rating agencies Fitch Ratings, 
Moody’s Investors Service and Standard & Poor’s Financial Services to assess the risk of 
investment default.  The lowest available counterparty credit rating will be used to determine credit 
quality, unless an investment-specific rating is available. Credit ratings are obtained and monitored 
by the Councils treasury advisers, who will notify changes in ratings as they occur.  Where an 
entity has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to meet the approved investment criteria then:

• no new investments will be made,
• any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be, and
• full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing investments with the 

affected counterparty.

9.2 Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for possible downgrade 
(also known as “rating watch negative” or “credit watch negative”) so that it may fall below the 
approved rating criteria, then only specified investments that can be withdrawn on the next working 
day will be made with that organisation until the outcome of the review is announced.  This policy 
will not apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term direction of travel rather than an 
imminent change of rating.

9.3 For specified investments: 
CLG Guidance defines specified investments as those:

• denominated in pound sterling,
• due to be repaid within 12 months of arrangement,
• not defined as capital expenditure by legislation, and
• invested with one of:

o the UK Government,
o a UK local authority, parish council or community council, or
o a body or investment scheme of “high credit quality”.

The Council defines “high credit quality” organisations as those having a credit rating of A- or 
higher that are domiciled in the UK or a foreign country with a sovereign rating of AA+ or higher. 
For money market funds and other pooled funds “high credit quality” is defined as those having a 
credit rating of A- or higher. 

Ratings as determined for use by the Council:

Long-term
Fitch A-
Moody’s A3
S&P  A-

Sovereign AA+

The Council will also take into account information on corporate developments of and market 
sentiment towards investment counterparties. 

9.4 The Council may lend or invest money using any of the following instruments:
• interest-bearing bank accounts,
• fixed term deposits and loans,
• callable deposits and loans where the Council may demand repayment at any time (with 

or without notice),
• callable deposits and loans where the borrower may repay before maturity, but subject to 

a maximum of £30 million in total,

Page 102



83

• certificates of deposit,
• bonds, notes, bills, commercial paper and other marketable instruments, 
• shares in money market funds and other pooled funds, and
• reverse repurchase (repo) agreements.

Investments may be made at either a fixed rate of interest, or at a variable rate linked to a market 
interest rate, such as LIBOR, subject to the limits on interest rate exposures shown in Appendix 
C.

9.5 Liquidity management: The Council uses purpose-built cash flow forecasting software to 
determine the maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed.  The forecast is 
compiled on a prudent basis, with receipts under-estimated and payments over-estimated to 
minimise the risk of the Council being forced to borrow on unfavourable terms to meet its financial 
commitments. Limits on long-term investments are set by reference to the Councils medium term 
financial plan and cash flow forecast.

10 Security of Investments

10.1 The Council understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors of investment 
default.  Full regard will therefore be given to other available information on the credit quality of the 
organisations in which it invests, including credit default swap prices, financial statements, 
information on potential government support and reports in the quality financial press.  No 
investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive doubts about its credit 
quality, even though it may meet the credit rating criteria.

10.2 When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all organisations, as 
happened in 2008 and 2011, this is not generally reflected in credit ratings, but can be seen in 
other market measures.  In these circumstances, the Council will restrict its investments to those 
organisations of higher credit quality and reduce the maximum duration of its investments to 
maintain the required level of security.  The extent of these restrictions will be in line with prevailing 
financial market conditions.  If these restrictions mean that insufficient commercial organisations of 
high credit quality are available to invest the Councils cash balances, then the surplus will be 
deposited with the UK Government, via the Debt Management Office for example, or with other 
local authorities.  This will cause a reduction in the level of investment income earned, but will 
protect the principal sum invested.

10.3 Non-specified Investments: Any investment not meeting the definition of a specified investment 
is classed as non-specified.  Non-specified investments will therefore be limited to long-term 
investments, i.e. those that are due to mature 12 months or longer from the date of arrangement, 
and investments with bodies and schemes not meeting the definition on high credit quality.  Limits 
on non-specified investments are shown in table 3 below.

Page 103



84

Table 3: Non-Specified Investment Limits

Non Specified Investment Limits Cash limit £m

Total long-term investments 200
Total investments without credit ratings or rated below A- 
(except UK Government and local authorities) 150
Total investments (excluding pooled funds) in foreign countries 
rated below AA+ 60

Total non-specified investments

Notes:

1. In determining the period to maturity of an investment, the investment should be regarded 
as commencing on the date of the commitment of the investment rather than the date on which 
funds are paid over to the counterparty.

2. The Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (cash backed option) requires a 5 year deposit to 
be placed with the mortgage lender.  The deposit forms an integral part of the mortgage lending, 
and is included on the investment portfolio in accordance with accounting regulations, however 
is in addition to current lending limits specified.

3. The Council has placed funds with Funding Circle, which is a Local Authority Partnership 
Programme.  Following a change in how the programme is run, these funds now form part of 
the Council's investment portfolio.

410

10.4 The maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other than the UK Government) will be £30 
million.

10.5 A group of banks under the same ownership or a group of funds under the same management will 
be treated as a single organisation for limit purposes.  Limits will also be placed on investments in 
brokers’ nominee accounts (e.g. King & Shaxson), foreign countries and industry sectors as below.  
Investments in pooled funds and multilateral development banks do not count against the limit for 
any single foreign country, since the risk is diversified over many countries.

Table 4: Investment Limits

Cash limit 
Any single organisation, except the UK Central Government £30m each
UK Central Government unlimited
Any group of organisations under the same ownership £30m per group
Any group of pooled funds under the same management £50m per manager
Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s nominee account £100m per broker
Foreign countries £30m per country
Registered Providers £40m in total
Unsecured investments with Building Societies £40m in total
Loans to small businesses £1m in total
Loans to unrated corporates £30m in total
Money Market Funds £150m in total

Page 104



85

10.6 Non-Treasury Investments: Although not classed as treasury management activities and 
therefore not covered by the CIPFA Code or the CLG Guidance, the Council may also purchase 
property for investment purposes and may also make loans and investments for service purposes.  
Such loans and investments will be subject to the Council’s normal approval processes for revenue 
and capital expenditure and need not comply with this treasury management strategy.  The Council 
has £1 million invested in Lloyds Bank as part of the Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMs), 
which sits outside of the treasury management investment limits.

11 Policy on Use of Financial Derivatives 

11.1 Local authorities have previously made use of financial derivatives embedded into loans and 
investments both to reduce interest rate risk (e.g. interest rate collars and forward deals) and to 
reduce costs or increase income at the expense of greater risk (e.g. LOBO loans and callable 
deposits).  The general power of competence in Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 removes much 
of the uncertainty over local authorities’ use of standalone financial derivatives (i.e. those that are 
not embedded into a loan or investment). The CIPFA Code requires authorities to clearly detail 
their policy on the use of derivatives in the annual strategy.

11.2 The Council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, forwards, futures and 
options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to reduce the overall level of the financial risks 
that the Council is exposed to.  Additional risks presented, such as credit exposure to derivative 
counterparties, will be taken into account when determining the overall level of risk.  Embedded 
derivatives, including those present in pooled funds and forward starting transactions, will not be 
subject to this policy, although the risks they present will be managed in line with the overall 
treasury risk management strategy.

11.3 Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that meets the approved 
investment criteria. The current value of any amount due from a derivative counterparty will count 
against the counterparty credit limit and the relevant foreign country limit.

11.4 The Council will only use derivatives after seeking expertise, a legal opinion and ensuring officers 
have the appropriate training for their use. 

12 Minimum Revenue Provision

12.1 The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) was introduced when the Local Government Capital 
Finance System was changed on 1 April 1990.  CLG’s Guidance on MRP places a duty on local 
authorities to make a prudent provision for debt redemption.  Guidance has been issued by the 
Secretary of State and local authorities are required to “have regard” to such Guidance under 
section 21(1A) of the Local Government Act 2003.  The MRP Statement must be submitted to 
Council before the start of the financial year.  If it is ever proposed to vary the terms of the original 
MRP Statement during the year, a revised statement would be put to Council at that time.

12.2 In line with Council policy on the repayment of debt, and with the continuation of capital grants by 
government, the Council has not borrowed externally to fund the capital programme over the last 7 
years.  Opportunities are now limited for the repayment of debt early due to the low interest rate 
environment, meaning that high premiums would need to be paid should the Council wish to 
restructure or repay external debt early.  Internal borrowing has been fully repaid during 2016/17, 
and maturing debt will continue to be redeemed over the next few years. 

12.3 In order to ensure that the MRP charge remains prudent, the Council remains within Prudential 
Indicators, and to reduce the amount of excess MRP set aside, the Council changed its policy for 
supported capital expenditure in 2015/16. The method used is similar to other local authorities and 
sets aside a fixed sum of MRP each year. For Gloucestershire the fixed sum was set at £8.2m. 

Page 105



86

12.4 Following further review of the Capital Financing Requirement and the Prudential Indicators, and 
discussions with the Council’s treasury advisors (Arlingclose) and external auditor (Grant Thornton) 
it is proposed to further reduce the MRP charge for existing debt to £6.2 million, releasing £2 
million per annum from 2017/18.  This change still allows for a prudent provision for the repayment 
of existing debt, and ensures that Prudential Indicators are not breeched.

12.5 The asset life of capital assets obtained through the capital programme  will form the basis of 
calculating an annual MRP provision  for any new borrowing requirement going forward.

12.6 MRP in respect of PFI and finance leases brought on Balance Sheet under the IFRS-based Code 
of Practice will match the annual principal repayment for the associated deferred liability. 

13 Monitoring and Reporting on the Treasury Outturn and Prudential Indicators

13.1 Treasury Activity is monitored regularly and reported internally to the Strategic Finance Director.  
The Prudential Indicators will be monitored through the year and reported as follows:

The Strategic Finance Director will report to the Audit and Governance Committee on Treasury 
Management activity / performance and Performance Indicators as follows:

 Outturn report on treasury activity for the prior year will be presented to the July meeting.
 A monitoring update report will be presented to the October meeting.
 Consultation on the following year strategy will be presented to the January meeting.

14 Other items

Treasury Management Training

CIPFA’s Code of Practice requires the Strategic Finance Director to ensure that all members and 
staff tasked with treasury management responsibilities, including scrutiny of the treasury 
management function, receive appropriate training relevant to their needs and understand fully 
their roles and responsibilities.  

Requirements for members training, including Audit and Governance Committee, will be kept 
under review.  Senior staff with responsibility for treasury management have a professional 
responsibility to ensure that they are aware of the relevant Codes and Guidance which apply to the 
treasury function, and have access to the skills and knowledge to carry out their roles effectively.

Investment Consultants / Treasury Advisors

CLG’s Guidance on local government investments recommends that the Investment Strategy 
should state:

 Whether and, if so, how the Council uses external contractors offering information, advice 
or assistance relating to investment, and

 How the quality of any such service is controlled.

In order to ensure that we manage the relationship with our treasury advisors effectively we meet 
on a regular basis, usually quarterly.  At these meetings current market conditions are reviewed, as 
is the strategy in light of this.  We ensure that the information provided is current and appropriate to 
our circumstances.  

The Council maintains the quality of the service with its advisors by holding quarterly meetings and 
tendering periodically.  The current contract was recently retendered and effective from 1st 
December 2017.  

Page 106



87

Appendix   A 

Arlingclose’s Economic and Interest Rate Forecast 

Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18 Mar-19 Jun-19 Sep-19 Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Average
Official Bank Rate
Upside risk 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.44
Arlingclose Central Case 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25
Downside risk 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.15

3-month LIBID rate
Upside risk 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.53
Arlingclose Central Case 0.25 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.29
Downside risk -0.10 -0.10 -0.15 -0.10 -0.10 -0.20 -0.20 -0.20 -0.20 -0.20 -0.20 -0.20 -0.20 -0.17

1-yr LIBID rate
Upside risk 0.15 0.15 0.20 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.65 0.65 0.32
Arlingclose Central Case 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.60 0.60 0.62
Downside risk -0.15 -0.20 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.10 -0.10 -0.25

5-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55
Arlingclose Central Case 0.55 0.55 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.65 0.70 0.75 0.80 0.85 0.90 0.95 0.95 0.73
Downside risk -0.20 -0.20 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.35 -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.33

10-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55
Arlingclose Central Case 1.05 1.05 1.05 1.05 1.05 1.10 1.15 1.20 1.25 1.30 1.35 1.40 1.40 1.18
Downside risk -0.20 -0.35 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.15 -0.15 -0.24

20-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.70 0.70 0.57
Arlingclose Central Case 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.65 1.70 1.75 1.80 1.85 1.90 1.95 1.95 1.73
Downside risk -0.30 -0.30 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.34

50-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.85 0.85 0.60
Arlingclose Central Case 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.55 1.60 1.65 1.70 1.75 1.80 1.85 1.85 1.63
Downside risk -0.30 -0.30 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.50 -0.50 -0.37

Underlying Assumptions:

 The Monetary Policy Committee once again voted 7-2 in favour of maintaining bank rate at 0.25% 
in September. However, the Committee meeting minutes suggested that the upside risks to Bank 
Rate had increased, noting that the majority of MPC members judged that the withdrawal of 
monetary stimulus was likely to be appropriate to return inflation to target.

 This potential rise in Bank Rate is dependent on policymakers seeing continued erosion of 
economic capacity and a gradual rise in underlying inflationary pressure.

 All members agreed that any prospective increases in Bank Rate would be expected to be at a 
gradual pace and to a limited extent.

 The UK economy faces a challenging outlook as the minority government continues to negotiate 
the country's exit from the European Union. UK Q2 2017 GDP growth was 0.3%, after a 0.2% 
expansion in Q1. The initial expenditure breakdown showed weakness in consumption, business 
investment and net trade. Both consumer and business confidence remain subdued.

 Household consumption growth, the driver of UK GDP growth, has softened following a 
contraction in real wages. Savings rates are at an all-time low, with little scope for further 
reduction to smooth consumption. When inflation eventually eases, savings are likely to be 
replenished, further diverting money away from consumption.

 Some data has held up better than expected, with unemployment falling to an all-time low and 
house prices remaining relatively resilient.

Page 107



88

 The depreciation in sterling may assist the economy to rebalance away from spending. Export 
volumes will increase, helped by a stronger Eurozone economic expansion.

 Near-term global growth prospects have continued to improve and broaden, and expectations of 
inflation are subdued. Central banks are moving to reduce the level of monetary stimulus.

 Geo-political risks remain elevated and help to anchor safe-haven flows into the UK government 
bond (gilt) market. 

Forecast: 
 The MPC have changed their rhetoric, implying a rise in Bank Rate in "the coming months". We 

are not convinced the UK’s economic outlook justifies such a move at this stage, but the Bank’s 
interpretation of the data seems to have shifted.

 This decision is still very data dependent and we are for now maintaining our central case for 
Bank Rate at 0.25% whilst introducing near-term upside risks to our forecasts.

 The Arlingclose central case is for gilt yields and therefore long-term interest rates to remain 
broadly stable in the across the medium term, but there may be near term volatility due to shifts in 
interest rate expectations.

Page 108



89

Appendix B 

EXISTING PORTFOLIO PROJECTED FORWARD

Portfolio 
16 Nov 
2017

Average 
Rate

31-Mar-18 31-Mar-19 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-21

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m % £m £m £m £m

External Borrowing
Fixed Rate – PWLB 244.463 5.29 236.599 228.736 228.736 220.773
Fixed Rate – Market 33.050 4.23 33.050 33.050 33.050 33.050
Variable Rate – PWLB 0.000 0.00 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Variable Rate – Market 8.000 5.00 8.000 8.000 8.000 8.000
Total External Borrowings 285.513 5.18 277.649 269.786 269.786 261.823
Other long-term liabilities (PFI) 0.000
Total External Debt 285.513 277.649 269.786 269.786 261.823
Investments:
Managed in house

- Short term deposits and monies 
on call and Money Market Funds 175.480 0.50 155.480 135.480 115.480 95.480

- Long Term investments (over 12 
months)

90.586 1.40 90.586 90.586 90.586 90.586

Managed externally 70.000 1.54 70.000 70.000 70.000 70.000
Total Investments 336.066 316.066 296.066 276.066 256.066

Net  Borrowing / Investment 
Position 50.553 38.417 26.280 6.280 (5.757)

Page 109



90

Appendix C 
Prudential Indicators 2018/19

1. Background:

There is a requirement under the Local Government Act 2003 for local authorities to have 
regard to CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the “CIPFA 
Prudential Code”) when setting and reviewing their Prudential Indicators. The objectives of the 
Prudential Code are to ensure, within a clear framework, that the capital investment plans of 
local authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that treasury management 
decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice. To demonstrate that the 
Council has fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential Code sets out the following indicators that 
must be set and monitored each year.

2. Estimates of Capital Expenditure:

2.1 This indicator is set to ensure that capital expenditure remains within sustainable limits and, in 
particular, to consider the impact on Council Tax.  The table below shows the estimates of 
capital expenditure, and further detail can be found in the Capital Programme Report.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Capital Expenditure 106.73 146.946 66.246 44.122

2.2 Capital expenditure is expected to be financed as follows:

Capital Financing 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Revenue Contributions 1.924 0.236 0.000 0.000
Capital Fund and other Reserves 13.599 9.804 2.885 0.000
Government Grants and External 
Contributions

75.111 88.039 29.627 25.855

Capital receipts 16.096 25.201 7.067 0.600
Total Financing 106.730 123.280 39.579 26.455
Internal Borrowing 0.000 23.666 26.667 17.667
External Borrowing 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Total Funding 0.000 23.666 26.667 17.667
Total Financing & Funding 106.730 146.946 66.246 44.122

3. Capital Financing Requirement:

3.1 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) measures the Council’s underlying need to borrow 
for a capital purpose.  The calculation of the CFR is taken from the amounts held in the Balance 
Sheet relating to capital expenditure and its financing.  The CFR is forecast to fall over the next 
three years as maturing debt is repaid and additional volunary revenue contributions are made.

Page 110



91

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Capital Financing Requirement 302.076 318.854 337.842 344.918

4. Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement:

4.1 This is a key indicator of prudence.  In order to ensure that over the medium term net borrowing 
will only be for a capital purpose, the Council should ensure that the net external borrowing 
does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the 
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional increases to the capital financing 
requirement for the current and next two financial years. 

4.2 If in any of these years there is a reduction in the capital financing requirement, this reduction is 
ignored in estimating the cumulative increase in the capital financing requirement which is used 
for comparison with gross external debt.

4.3 The Strategic Finance Director reports that the Council is currently experiencing a short term 
issue whereby the level of external borrowing exceeds the Capital Financing Requirement. This 
is due to the current limitations in being able to repay external debt early and that the current 
policy whereby the capital programme is approved and largely fully funded without the need for 
additional borrowing. This doesn’t have any adverse impact on the Council’s revenue budget 
and overall financial position.  It is anticipated that this temporary position will be rectified in 
2017-18 .  This view takes into account current commitments, existing plans and the proposals 
from the approved budget.

5. Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt:

5.1 The Council has an integrated Treasury Management Strategy and manages its treasury 
position in accordance with its approved strategy and practice.  Overall borrowing will therefore 
arise as a consequence of all the financial transactions of the Council and not just those arising 
from capital spending reflected in the CFR. 

5.2 The Authorised Limit sets the maximum level of external borrowing on a gross basis (i.e. not 
net of investments) for the Council. It is measured on a daily basis against all external 
borrowing items on the Balance Sheet (i.e. long and short term borrowing, overdrawn bank 
balances and long term liabilities.  This Prudential Indicator separately identifies borrowing from 
other long term liabilities such as finance leases.  It is consistent with the Council’s existing 
commitments, its proposals for capital expenditure and financing and its approved treasury 
management policy statement and practices.  

5.3 The Authorised Limit has been set on the estimate of the most likely, prudent but not worst 
case scenario with sufficient headroom over and above this to allow for unusual cash 
movements. 

5.4 The Authorised Limit is the statutory limit determined under Section 3(1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003 (referred to in the legislation as the Affordable Limit).  The Council’s 
Authorised Limit is shown below.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Total 363.000 380.000 385.000 390.000

Authorised Limit for External Debt

Page 111



92

5.5 The Operational Boundary links directly to the Council’s estimates of the CFR and estimates of 
other cashflow requirements.  This indicator is based on the same estimates as the Authorised 
Limit reflecting the most likely, prudent but not worst case scenario but without the additional 
headroom included within the Authorised Limit.  

5.6 The Strategic Finance Director has delegated authority, within the total limit for any individual 
year, to effect movement between the separately agreed limits for borrowing and other long-
term liabilities.  Decisions will be based on the outcome of financial option appraisals and best 
value considerations.  Any movement between these separate limits will be reported to the next 
appropriate meeting of the Council.  The Council’s Operational Boundary is shown below.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Total 343.000 360.000 365.000 370.000

Operational Boundary for External 
Debt

6. Actual External Debt:

6.1 This indicator is obtained directly from the Council’s balance sheet. It is the closing balance for 
actual gross borrowing plus other long-term liabilities. This Indicator is measured in a manner 
consistent for comparison with the Operational Boundary and Authorised Limit.

31.03.17 
Actual 

31.03.18 
Estimate

31.03.19 
Estimate

31.03.19 
Estimate

31.03.19 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Borrowing 285.513 277.650 269.786 261.823 251.878
PFI liabilities 19.825 19.138 18.465 17.688 17.096
Total Debt 305.338 296.788 288.251 279.511 268.974

Debt

7. Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream:

7.1 This is an indicator of affordability and highlights the revenue implications of existing and 
proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget required to 
meet financing costs. The definition of financing costs is set out in the Prudential Code.

7.2 The estimate for interest payments in 2016/17 is £17.5 million and for interest receipts is £2.8 
million.  The ratio of financing costs to the Council’s net revenue stream is an indicator of 
affordability and highlights the revenue implications of existing and proposed capital 
expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget required to meet borrowing 
costs.  The ratio is based on costs net of investment income.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net 
Revenue Stream 4.86% 4.76% 4.65% 5.16%

Page 112



93

8. Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions:

8.1 This is an indicator of affordability that shows the impact of capital investment decisions on 
Council Tax.  The incremental impact is calculated by comparing the total revenue budget 
requirement of the current approved capital programme with an equivalent calculation of the 
revenue budget requirement arising from the proposed capital programme.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£ £ £ £
Increase in Band D Council Tax 0.00 2.38 8.55 11.34

Incremental Impact of Capital 
Investment Decisions

8.2 The Council’s capital plans, as estimated in forthcoming financial years, will have a minimal 
impact on Council Tax.  This reflects the fact that capital expenditure is predominantly financed 
from grants, contributions, capital receipts, and internal resources. 

9. Adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code:

9.1 This indicator demonstrates that the Council has adopted the principles of best practice.

Adoption of the CIPFA Code of Practice in Treasury Management
The Council approved the adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code at its 
Council meeting on 24th February 2010*.  

*The Council has incorporated the changes from the revised CIPFA Code of Practice (published November 
2011) into its treasury policies, procedures and practices.

10. Upper Limits for Fixed Interest Rate Exposure and Variable Interest Rate Exposure:

10.1 These indicators allow the Council to manage the extent to which it is exposed to changes in 
interest rates.  This Council calculates these limits on net principal outstanding sums, (i.e. fixed 
rate debt net of fixed rate investments).

10.2 The upper limit for variable rate exposure has been set to ensure that the Council is not 
exposed to interest rate rises which could adversely impact on the revenue budget.  The limit 
allows for the use of variable rate debt to offset exposure to changes in short-term rates on 
investments.

10.3 The limits above provide the necessary flexibility within which decisions will be made for 
drawing down new loans on a fixed or variable rate basis; the decisions will ultimately be 
determined by expectations of anticipated interest rate movements as set out in the Council’s 
treasury management strategy. 

10.4 This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to interest rate risk.  The upper limits on 
fixed and variable rate interest rate exposures, expressed as the amount of net principal 
borrowed will be:

Page 113



94

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
340.000 350.000

Upper limit for Variable Interest 
Rate exposure

0 0 0 0

320.000Upper limit for Fixed Interest Rate 
exposure

320.000

11. Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate borrowing:

11.1 This indicator highlights the existence of any large concentrations of fixed rate debt needing to 
be replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates and is designed to protect against 
excessive exposures to interest rate changes in any one period, in particular in the course of 
the next ten years.  

11.2 It is calculated as the amount of projected borrowing that is fixed rate maturing in each period 
as a percentage of total projected borrowing that is fixed rate. The maturity of borrowing is 
determined by reference to the earliest date on which the lender can require payment. 

Actual Fixed 
Rate £m 

Borrowing 
as at 

31/03/18

Actual Fixed 
Rate £m 

Borrowing as 
at 31/03/18

LOBO PWLB/Other

under 12 months 25 0 33.050 7.863 14.7 Yes 
12 months and within 24 months 25 0 0.000 30.009 10.8 Yes
24 months and within 5 years 50 0 0.000 29.500 10.6 Yes
5 years and within 10 years 75 0 0.000 29.000 10.4 Yes
10 years and within 20 years 100 0 0.000 58.671 21.1 Yes
20 years and within 30 years 100 0 0.000 81.557 29.4 Yes
30 years and within 40 years 100 0 0.000 0.000 0.0 Yes
40 years plus 100 0 0.000 8.000 2.9 Yes

Compliance 
with Set 
Limits?

Maturity Structure of Fixed 
Rate Borrowing

Upper 
Limit %

Lower 
Limit %

% Fixed 
Rate 

Borrowing 
as at 

31/03/18

12. Upper Limit for total principal sums invested over 364 days:

12.1 The purpose of this limit is to contain exposure to the possibility of loss that may arise as a 
result of the Council having to seek early repayment of the sums invested. 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

200.000 200.000 200.000
Upper Limit for total principal sums 
invested over 364 days 200.000

Page 114



1

FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT: 2017/18

Cabinet Date 13 December 2017

Finance and 
Change Cllr Ray Theodoulou

Key Decision Yes

Other Documents MTFS to 15th February 2017 County Council, and Financial Monitoring 
Reports to Cabinet in  19th July 17, 27th September 17 & 15th November 17

Main Consultees Corporate Management Team, Senior Officers, Cabinet Members.

Planned Dates Not applicable

Divisional 
Councillor

County Wide

Officers Jo Walker, Strategic Finance Director (01452) 328469
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Paul Blacker, Head of Financial Management (01452) 328999 
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jayne Fuller, Corporate Finance Manager (01452) 328926
jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To provide an update on the year-end forecast for the 2017/18 County 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets

Key 
Recommendations That the Cabinet:

1. Notes the forecast revenue year end position as at the end of October 
2017 for the 2017/18 financial year of a net £0.214 million underspend.

2. Approves the drawdown of £0.921million from the Ordinary 
Residence(OR) Reserve to fund a back dated OR payment

3. Notes the forecast capital year end position as at the end of October 2017 
of £109.277 million against a re-profiled budget of £106.730 million 
resulting from additional planned scheme spend of £2.546 million with 
additional funding expected to be confirmed within the next month.

4. Notes a capital budget re-profiling exercise that has taken place since the 
previous Cabinet Finance Monitoring report – as outlined in Section B of 
this report. This re-profiling has been approved in accordance with the 
formal scheme of delegation to officers and there is no impact on the 
overall value of the approved capital programme. 

Page 115

Agenda Item 6

mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

5. Approves the revenue contribution to capital of £0.123 million from the 
Highways Locals budget to the Highway Capital budget to support the 
completion of capital schemes 

6. Approves the allocation of £0.013 million s106 developer contributions 
towards St Paul’s Primary garden room capital project

7. Notes the overall increase to the Capital programme taking into account 
the above changes of £0.136 million

. 
 Resource 
Implications These are detailed within the report

Page 116



3

Revenue Expenditure 2017/18

A. Revenue Forecast  Outturn Position 2017/18

1. The current forecast of the year end revenue position, based on actual expenditure 
at the end of October 2017 and forecasts made in November 2017 is an underspend 
of £0.214 million. (0.05% of the budget).  This position has improved since the last 
report in November, reflecting an under spend Adult Social Care now being forecast, 
offsetting an increase in Children and Families overspend.

2. Details of the forecast year end position, analysed by service area is provided in the 
table below and the narrative that follows.  

Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position as at the end of Oct 2017
 

Variance
2017/18 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn 
Position

Forecast 
Outturn 
Variance %

Forecast 
Variance 

Previously 
reported 

Change 
in 

variance Service Area

£000 £000 £000 % £000 £000
       
Adults 145,232 144,812 -420 -0.3% 0 -420 
       
       
Public Health 24,912 24,912 0 0.0% 0 0 
       
       
Children & Families 98,203 104,542 6,339 6.5% 6,046 293 
       
       
Communities & 
Infrastructure

88,706 88,706 0 0.0% 0 0 

       
       
Business Support 
Services

26,383 26,383 0 0.0% 0 0 

       
       
Support Services 
Recharges

-26,408 -26,408 0 0.0% 0 0 

       
       
Total for Services 357,028 362,947 5,919 1.7% 6,046 -127 
       
       
Technical & Corporate 50,674 44,541 -6,133 -12.1% -6,133 0 
       
       
Total 407,702 407,488 -214 -0.05% -87 -127 
       

Page 117



4

3. Commentary and main reasons for the forecast outturn positions are provided in the 
following sections.

Adult Social Care

4. The forecast outturn position for Adult Social Care is an underspend of £0.420 
million , as below;

Oct-17 Sep-17
Learning Disabilities (LD) (External Care) £0.064m 4.077m
Older People/Physical Disabilities (OP/PD) (External Care) £0.238m 0.316m
Mental Health (MH) Services £0.034m 0.478m
Community Equipment Service (CES) and Telecare (£0.056m) (0.031m)
Other Services (£0.639m) 0.258m
Unallocated Budgets (£0.061m) (0.045m)
Underlying Service Variance (£0.420m) 5.053m

Less: Adult 16/17 Social Care Levy (permanent) (£0.000m) (2.500m)
Less: Adult 17/18 Social Care Levy (committed 2018/19) (£0.000m) (1.012m)
Less: Adult Social Care Support Grant (temporary) (£0.000m) (1.541m)

Reported Position (£0.420m) 0.000m

5. The underlying budget position now fully includes the allocation of the Adult Social 
Care Levy (permanent), and Adult Social Care Grant (temporary) to service areas.  
It should be noted that £2.853 million of this transfer is either temporary for 2017/18 
(using Adult Social Care Grant and MTFS temporary allocations), or committed in 
2018/19 (National Living Wage uplifts).

6.  At this stage there is no formal request being made to Cabinet for the use any of 
the Vulnerable Adults reserve or Care Act reserve.   However, as previously 
reported this may change as the year progresses and outturn forecasts are updated. 
Total reserve balances available are £4.226 million. This total includes an Ordinary 
Residence reserve of £1.250 million for the provision of the back dated element of 
disputed Ordinary Residence cases.  As previously reported, 2 cases were being 
disputed, with a Secretary of State decision just received for the one case.  This 
decision stated that GCC take responsibility for the case from 1 December 2017 and 
that costs should be back dated to 20th October 2010.  The 17/18 costs are included 
within the forecast and a request is therefore made for the back dated element to be 
drawn down from this reserve.  The amount required to settle the invoice to the 
other Local Authority is £0.921million.  The other case is not yet at resolution and 
therefore there may be a need to request a further transfer from this reserve when 
the final decision has been received and the full financial impact is known.  At this 
stage, no further calls on the remaining reserve balance are included in the forecast 
therefore the balance in reserves excluding Ordinary Residence Reserve is £2.976 
million 

Page 118



5

7. The £10.598m Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) Plan has started to be reflected 
within budgets both at GCC and the CCG.  The detailed work undertaken by Lead 
Commissioners to understand the spend, timeline, funding flows and the impact on 
the Adult Single Programme (ASP) and overall Adults financial position is starting to 
be reflected within the position. There will be further impacts on the financial position 
as work continues and further decisions are made by Lead Commissioners.  The 
Director of Integration will be reporting the budget position monthly to the Joint 
Commissioning Partnership Executive group (JCPE), and the position will be 
incorporated within this budget report.

8. Savings programmes for all client groups are now integrated under the Adults Single 
Programme (ASP) and monitored through the Adult Programme Board. The impact 
on operational budgets and performance is managed by the Head of Social Care, 
working with Commissioning and Support Service colleagues.  

9. Learning Disability External Care is forecast to overspend by £0.064 million 
(compared to £4.077 million last month). The change in the position is due to two 
factors. Firstly, additional funding totalling £3.514m being allocated to LD External 
Care from the Adult Social Care Levy (£3.014m-permanent) and from the Adult 
Social Care Grant (£0.5m-temporary). Secondly, due to a further release of £0.552m 
uncommitted MTFS cost pressure (Transforming Care, Complex Transitions and 
Ordinary Residence) items not required in this financial year.  

10.The overspend is mainly due to budget savings reductions not being matched by 
forecast savings to date. It is important to note that £0.393 million of savings are 
forecast for the remaining five months of the current financial year, with in-year ECM 
targets of £0.544 million still to be achieved.  The risk associated with achieving 
these savings is reviewed on a monthly basis by LD Operations and Lead 
Commissioner to ensure forecasts are realistic. Known commitments against 
Ordinary Residence, Transforming Care and Complex Transitions have been met 
from funds held for these specific purposes,  with £1.404 million uncommitted in-
year now offset against the overspend. Funding has also been set aside for inflation 
and National Living Wage (NLW) cost pressures.  

11.Older People and Physical Disabilities External Care is overspending by £0.238 
million (last month £0.316 million). The net reduction of £0.078 million includes 
£0.500 million temporary allocation of Adult Social Care Grant, net of £0.140 million 
reduction to respite forecast cost (including  £0.500 million iBCF money), offsetting 
£0.208 million current year cost of Ordinary Residence cases referred to above, as 
well as £0.194 million other net commitment increases.

12.Mental Health is forecasting a £0.034 million overspend (last month £0.478 million), 
relating to budget managed on GCC’s behalf by 2Gether NHSFT (2G), offset by 
available MTFS funding.  The Lead Commissioner continues to negotiate an 
appropriate level of funding transfer to 2G, as well as an associated savings target. 

Page 119



6

This is still progressing positively. The decrease in overspend relates to the 
temporary allocation of £0.500 million Adult Social Care Grant and £0.041 million 
temporary agreed use of MTFS funding to cover savings, net of an increase in 
External Care.

13.The Community Equipment Service (CES)/ Telecare budgets are reported as 
underspent by £0.056million (£0.031 million last month).  The GCC CES 
commissioning budget is showing a £0.195 million underspend, relating to funding 
not yet allocated to the Pool.  The Lead Commissioner (OP/ BCF) continues to 
commit Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) support in this financial year to offset the 
underlying overspend in the CES Pooled Budget.  Telecare is forecasting a £0.139 
million overspend, due to activity being higher than previously forecast levels. 

14.Other Services comprise all staffing budgets for Adult Social Care, as well as a 
number of specific commissioned contracts.  The forecast position for these services 
nets to a £0.639 million underspend, including;

 £0.756 million significant overspends; slippage on the reshaping of LD in-
house services (£0.941 million), net of £0.500 million Adult Social Care Levy, 
LD staffing costs which have resulted from the reduction in temporary joint 
funding for key projects (£0.131 million), and the OP/PD Reablement Service, 
managed by Gloucestershire Care Services (£0.184 million).

 £1.327 million significant underspends; OP/PD Integrated Social Care 
Management (ISCM) teams, due largely to vacancies net of an income 
shortfall in a residential unit (£0.572 million), Safeguarding and 
Commissioning Hubs (£0.176 million, due to vacancies), an underspend for 
the Advocacy contract (£0.085 million), uncommitted Carers and OT contract 
budgets (£0.206 million), and £0.288 million uncommitted government grant, 
as no repayment conditions are attached to the grants.

 a number of smaller variances netting to a £0.068 million underspend.

Public Health

15.As in previous years, Public Health is reported as in balance, as services are funded 
by a ring-fenced grant, which if unspent is required to be carried forward in a specific 
reserve.

16.The in-year forecast for Public Health is a £0.611 million underspend (last month 
£0.538 million), of which £0.143 million relates to staff vacancies, £0.12 million to 
NHS Healthcheck programme and £0.248 million to tobacco control services with 
£0.1 million relating to a number of small underspends across the service.  The 
increase in underspend mainly relates to activity-based costs within tobacco control/ 
smoking cessation services.  The underspend will be transferred to the Public 
Health reserve at year end.

Page 120



7

Children and Families

17.  The current forecast of the year end revenue position as at November 2017 for non-
DSG funded services is an over-spend position of £6.33 million (6.45% of budget). 
The underlying forecast over-spend is £9.38 million which reduces to £6.33 million 
when the vulnerable children’s reserve of £3.05 million is applied. The increase in the 
over-spend from the previous report is due to increased costs from safeguarding staff 
and youth support services.

18.The significant rise in children coming into care (October 2017 645 cases compared 
to April 2014 479) is continuing to cause considerable pressures on children’s 
services and in particular against the external placement and safeguarding budgets 
resulting in the over-spend. Significant contingencies were put in place to cover the 
cost of envisaged increases in children in care following the recent Ofsted Inspection. 
Although activity has risen, the expected increases have not materialised to date, 
however individual placement costs for some young people have been exceptionally 
high. The contingencies set aside to mitigate the impact within the external placement 
budget have been used to meet the cost of these expensive placements. The costs 
relating to the implementation of the Improvement Plan are estimated to be £2.61 
million following a review of what is required in both children’s and support services. 
Part of the total cost (£1.4m) will be funded from within the service area using one-off 
funding approved as part of the 2017/18 budget and unallocated contingencies, with 
the balance of £1.21 million funded from the transformation reserve.

19.Within Children in Care the external placement budget is forecasting a £7.44 million 
over-spend (77.1% above budget). There are currently 246 external placements, 
compared with 221 at the same point last year. The IRIS (Intensive Recovery and 
Intervention Service) project is being developed to look at reducing residential costs 
by supporting young people to step down to foster care or to return home. A 
contingency of £0.8 million is currently being held to cover new placements. 

20.Safeguarding staffing budgets have received £3.7 million of investment in total in two 
phases since 2016/17. Recruitment of experienced social workers continues to be 
challenging and agency staff have continued to cover staff vacancies or where 
caseloads remained high. The staffing budgets are forecasting to be £0.65 million 
over-spent. In addition the cost of child protection conferences is forecast to over-
spend by £0.33 million due to the use of agency staff to cover the number of child 
protection conferences required.

21.Section 17 and discretionary payments for children in care are over-spending by 
£0.69 million (91.5% of the budget) part of which is due to supporting families who 
have no recourse to public funds and interpreter fees. Some changes in practice were 
introduced last year replacing the use of ad hoc arrangements with a more coherent 
commissioning framework. 

Page 121



8

22.Special guardianship order budgets are forecast to over-spend by £0.47 million due to 
the continued increased number of orders made but this is being offset by lower 
commitments within adoption allowances and over achievement of income from inter 
agency placements totalling £0.36 million plus lower fostering costs of £0.27 million. 
Youth support services are forecasting an over-spend of £0.3 million due to the cost 
of agency staff in the youth support teams. The forecast for early year’s services is 
£0.17 million over-spend and relates to the implementation of new contracts for 
children’s centres, reflecting one off costs borne this financial year. Children with 
disabilities budgets are forecast to under-spend by £0.22 million due to lower costs in 
the residential unit and staff vacancies in the field work teams.  

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position

23.Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be under-spent by 
£2.62 million which includes uncommitted balances brought forward from 2016/17 
totalling £3.88 million. Independent Special Schools are forecasting an over-spend of 
£0.75 million due to increased activity and Special Educational Needs services are 
declaring a £0.17 million over-spend due to staffing costs. Further pressure on top up 
budgets are resulting in a forecast over-spend of £0.88 million but this is partly offset 
by unallocated high needs funding of £0.66 million which has been declared as 
uncommitted in year. The council’s High Needs Programme will, in part, be focussing 
upon independent special school placements and over time should reduce the 
financial pressure in this area.  SEN staffing costs will be addressed by year end 
through a restructure of education services.

Communities & Infrastructure 

24.The current year end forecast for Communities & Infrastructure is breakeven.

25.  Highway Commissioning is reporting a £0.252 million overspend this month, largely 
due to an overspend forecast against the Street Lighting budget. This is made up of 
a significantly higher than forecasted increase in the electricity price and the number 
of street lights as a result of development growth and has been reduced since last 
month due to the release of some unrequired Highways reserve funding. The 
Highways contract is still forecast to breakeven, although there are potential 
pressures on the revenue budget from costs associated with preparing the 
Highways contract tender for March 2019. This position includes a recommended 
£0.123 million revenue contribution from the Highways Local budget to the 
Highways capital budget.

26.Waste is currently reporting a balanced position. If there is an underspend at the 
year end it will be used to fund investment in the Household Recycling Centres, 
subject to the revenue contribution to capital being approved by Cabinet.

27.The Integrated Transport budget, Fire and Rescue Service budget are forecasting a 
break even position.
 

28.Customer Services are reporting an under spend of £0.137 million due to part year 
vacancies that will be filled within 2017/18.

Page 122



9

29.Strategic Infrastructure continue to report a £0.275 million underspend which relates 
to a planned revenue contribution to capital that may no longer take place. The 
capital schemes may now be funded from existing capital funds allowing the 
resulting revenue underspend to be used to off-set pressure in the overall C&I 
revenue budget.

30.Regulatory Services are reporting an over spend of £0.16 million due to lower than 
forecast income in Registrar’s and Trading Standards. Finance is currently working 
with the service area to review income and explore opportunities to increase it with 
the aim of reducing the over spend.  

Business Support Services

31.The forecast outturn for Business Support Services is balanced position. 

32.Within Business Support Services, Strategy and Challenge are forecasting a 
balanced position. This position takes into account the continuing uncertainty around 
the volume of child protection legal cases, fluctuating levels of traded service 
buyback from schools and the capacity required to address Ofsted 
recommendations.

Technical and Cross Cutting

33.The forecast outturn position for Technical and Corporate budgets is a £6.13 million 
underspend (12.1% of budget).  The main reasons are;

 When the 2017/18 Budget was agreed in February 2017 a number of 
government funding streams had not been finalised. These funding streams 
have now been confirmed and have resulted in slightly more central funding 
than originally estimated.  In total, £1.196 million more will be received from 
s31 grants as a result of changes that central government have made to 
business rates, known as Business Rates Autumn Statement 
Reimbursement for 2017/18, and consisting of eight separate s31 grants.  
These changes to funding are managed within the Technical and Corporate 
budgets for the Council.

 Positive interest rate credits on balances increased income by a further £0.5 
million to £2.0 million, reflecting better diversification of investments and 
longer term deposits;

 The 2017/18 budget included an MtC2 savings contingency; this was 
approved by Council to reflect the high risk nature of some of the savings 
programmes in demand led areas in 2017/18. Given the difficulties in 
achieving savings across some services as outlined in this report £1.6 
million has been released to support the overall budget. 

 A review of insurance premiums and potential in year liabilities has resulted 
in a one-off underspend of £0.75 million now being reported on the 
corporate insurance budget.  This will kept under review as the year 
continues given that the position could change linked to insurance risk.

 A number of small underspends totalling £0.58 million.

Page 123



10

B. Capital Expenditure

Current Spend 2017/18

34.Following a re-profiling exercise across the capital programme the re-profiled capital 
budget for 2017/18 is £106.730 million.  Actual spend against the capital programme 
as at 31st October 2017 is £48.193 million. The nature of capital investment means 
that spend tends to be lower during the first phase of a scheme with the majority of 
spend occurring once the construction phase begins.  This means for new schemes 
the majority of spend will occur towards the end of the financial year. 

Re-profiled Budget and Capital Forecast Outturn Position 2017/18

35.The re-profiled capital budget for 2017/18 is £106.730 million, this is £13.993 million 
lower than the capital budget and new approvals last reported to Cabinet in 
November 2017. The reduction reflects the re-profiling of budgets for anticipated 
acceleration and delays in schemes in 2017/18.

36.These re-profiling changes have been approved in accordance with the formal 
scheme of delegation to officers. There is no impact on the total approved budget for 
each scheme or the overall value of the approved capital programme.

37.The forecast outturn position for 2017/18 against re-profiled budgets is £109.277 
million, showing additional scheme spend of £2.546 million. Additional funding for 
these forecast schemes is expected to be confirmed within the next month. If this 
anticipated funding is not received the planned expenditure will not take place.

38.Details of the budgets, forecast year end position analysed by service area and key 
factors considered in producing this forecast position are provided in the table below 
and the narrative that follows.  Any variations shown below only relate to the 
2017/18 spend profiles and will not translate into over or underspends against the 
overall scheme budgets unless highlighted.

 

Page 124



11

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2017/18    

Service Area

Reprofiled 
Budget 
2017/18

Current 
Year 

Spend 
2017/18

% Current 
Year 

Spend 
against 

Reprofiled 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn 
2017/18

Forecast 
Year-end 
Variance

 £000 £000 % £000 £000
Capital Receipts Works 
Before Sale 0 0  0 0

Adults 7,872 3,666 47 7,871 0

Children & Families 29,249 13,411 46 29,254 4

Communities      

Highways 39,883 19,192 48 42,154 2,271

Strategic Infrastructure 3,614 270 7 3,614 0

Waste Disposal 866 270 31 866 0

Libraries 520 84 16 520 0

Community Safety 1,384 434 31 1,384 0

Business Support      

AMPS 18,040 9,537 53 18,040 0

ICT projects 2,929 662 23 3,200 271

Archives & Information Mgnt 2,327 634 27 2,327 0

Customer 46 32 70 46 0

Business Support Misc 0 0  0 0 0

Total 106,730 48,193 45 109,277 2,546

 

Adults Capital Programme 

39.Adults schemes are forecast to spend £7.872 million in 2017/18, in line with the re-
profiled budget for the year. 

Children & Families Capital Programme 

40.Children & Families schemes are forecast to spend £29.25 million in 2017/18 in line 
with the re-profiled budget for the year. 

Highways Capital Programme

41.Highways schemes are forecast to spend £42.154 million in 2017/18, against the re-
profiled budget of £39.883 million, giving a forecast in-year overspend of £2.271 
million against the 2017/18 re-profiled budget.  This overspend is a result of works 
planned against new grants and Highways Locals contributions to capital schemes 
that have not yet had cabinet approval or been transferred form the revenue budget 
to capital. Funding is therefore anticipated to be available to cover this planned 

Page 125



12

spend – if this funding does not become available as anticipated the planned 
expenditure will not take place. 

Strategic Infrastructure Capital Programme 

42.Strategic Infrastructure schemes are forecast to spend £3.614 million in 2017/18, in 
line with the re-profiled budget for the year.

Waste Disposal Capital Programme 

43.Waste Disposal schemes are forecast to spend £0.886 million in 2017/18, in line 
with the re-profiled budget for the year.

Libraries Capital Programme 

44.Libraries schemes are forecast to spend £0.520 million in 2017/18, in line with the 
re-profiled budget for the year.

Safety Capital Programme 

45.Safety schemes are forecast to spend £1.384 million in 2017/18, in line with the re-
profiled budget for the year.

Asset Management and Property Services Capital Programme 

46.AMPS schemes are forecast to spend £18.040 million in 2017/18, in line with the re-
profiled budget for the year. 

ICT projects Capital Programme 

47. ICT schemes are forecast to spend £3.200 million in 2017/18, against a budget of 
£2.929 million, resulting in a forecast overspend of £0.271 million. This relates to a 
scheme where economies of scale meant early purchase of equipment to support 
the OFSTED improvement plan provides better value for money. Funding for this 
accelerated spend is available as a result of capital receipts from asset sales being 
achieved in advance of requirements.

Archives & Information Management Capital Programme 

48.Archives schemes are forecast to spend £2.327 million in 2017/18, in line with the 
re-profiled budget for the year. 

Customer Capital Programme 

49.Customer schemes are forecast to spend £0.046 million in 2017/18, in line with the 
re-profiled budget for the year.

Page 126



13

Changes to the Capital Programme in 2017/18 and future years

Children & Families

50.The Council is holding a £0.013 million s106 developer contribution in respect of 
Albion House, Southgate Street, Gloucester which, according to the legal 
agreement, must be used towards St. Paul’s C of E Primary School, Gloucester. 
The school has recently installed a garden room to provide an additional teaching 
classroom and intervention room.

51. It is recommended that Cabinet approves the allocation of £0.013 million s106 
developer contribution towards the St. Paul’s Primary garden room capital project.

Highways

52. It is recommended that Cabinet approves an increase of £0.123 million in the 
Highways Capital budget. This increase will support completion of twelve 
carriageway and one footway reactive patching and resurfacing schemes and be 
funded by RCCOs from Highways Locals revenue budgets.

Overall

53.As a result of the above changes, the overall capital programme will increase by 
£0.136 million.

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



PROCUREMENT OF CORPORATE INSURANCES AND 

RELATED PROCUREMENT OF A BROKER

Cabinet Date 13 December 2017

Finance and 
Change

Cllr Ray Theodoulou 

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

None

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

N/A

Main Consultees Marsh Insurance Brokers/GCC Commercial Service/Director of Strategic 
Finance

Planned Dates Issue of tender through the Crown Commercial Service Insurance 
Framework – February, 2018. Tender response deadline –3 May 2018.  
Insurance renewal – 24th June, 2018

Divisional 
Councillor

N/A

Officer Elaine Foxwell: Risk and Insurance Manager
Tel. no: 01452 328895
Email address: Elaine.Foxwell@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 129

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Elaine.Foxwell@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval to:

(a) seek tenders for corporate insurance policies ( Property, Liability, Motor, 
Fidelity Guarantee, Personal Accident, School Journey and Travel and 
claims handling ) through the Crown Commercial Service’s (CCS) 
Insurance Framework (RM3731) and award a contract to commence on 
24th June 2018 and continue for a period of 3 + 2 years ; or 5 years if 
more cost efficient; and 

(b) make a legally compliant direct award of a contract for insurance 
brokerage services to the incumbent supplier of such services to 
specifically assist in the procurement of the contract for Corporate 
Insurances and claims handling. It is a requirement of the CCS 
insurance framework terms that  the services of any broker undertaking 
a procurement on behalf of a LA will also have to have been procured 
via the framework’. 

Recommendations That Cabinet authorises:

(a) The Director of Strategic Finance to conduct a legally compliant 
competitive procurement process through the Crown Commercial 
Service’s Insurance Framework (RM3731) for the supply of Corporate 
Insurance policies ; and for the Director of Strategic Finance, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, to award 
the contract to commence on 24th June 2018 and continue for a period 
of 3 + 2 years or 5 years if more cost efficient, in accordance with the 
terms of the tender process; and 

(b) The Director of Strategic Finance to make a legally compliant direct 
award of a contract for brokerage services to the incumbent supplier of 
such services (namely “ Marsh Limited”) through the Crown Commercial 
Service’s (CCS) RM3731 framework, specifically to assist in the 
procurement of the contract for Corporate Insurances and claims  
handling.

Reasons for 
recommendations

To comply with the requirement of Financial Regulation C.3 – ‘Risk 
Management Control and Use of Resources'

Resource 
Implications

It is forecast that the total costs over the 5 year period of the contract for 
corporate insurances is likely to be in the region of £5,552,049 to be met 
from the insurance budget.

Page 130



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

Background 

In June, 2013 all the Council’s corporate insurance policies were subject to a tender 
process. The contracts were awarded for three years with a two year extension.  

In October, 2014 the liability insurers (Travelers), broke the Long Term Agreement with 
GCC by stating that they intended significantly increasing the premium rates. As a 
result of this the liability policies were retendered to be effective from 24th June, 2015. 
The term of the contract was awarded on  a 3 + 2 years basis so as to bring the liability 
policy into line with the expiry of all other policies ( 23rd June, 2018). 

In October, 2015, the motor insurers, (Travelers), again broke the Long Term 
Agreement by stating that they intended significantly increasing premium rates. The 
motor insurance was retendered in 2016 and awarded on a 2 + 3 years basis to realign 
the policy with the expiry of all the other policies ( 23rd June, 2018). 

The key objectives of the tender are:-

1. To ensure that the Council has an insurance programme and a claims handling 
service in place on 24th June, 2018 that is fit for purpose and assists with the 
mitigation of risk to the authority;

2. To achieve best value premiums with an insurer who has experience of 
underwriting Local Authority insurance; and

3. To meet the requirement of Financial Regulation C.3 – ‘Risk Management 
Control and Use of Resources’, a responsibility of the Director of Strategic 
Finance (Section 151 Officer).

Scope of Project 

1. The policies subject to tender are Property, Liability, Motor, Fidelity Guarantee, 
Personal accident, School Journey and Travel insurance policies and associated 
claims handling . The Council provides an Insurance Service Traded Service to 
non-academy maintained schools. The above mentioned policies are included in 
the insurance service traded service programme provided to those schools.

Options

2. De-commissioning. i.e. not procuring any insurance cover

        The risk to this option is that the Council will have no financial protection for any   
        sums that it may be found to be legally liable for or any insurance protection for its 
        properties/vehicles. 

Page 131



        In respect of the liability this risk will remain for all future years if claims are 
        received that relate to the uninsured period. The Council would not be able to 
        provide an Insurance Services Traded Service to maintained schools.

3. Tender the Property, Liability, Motor, Fidelity Guarantee, Personal accident, 
School Journey and Travel insurance policies and claims handling

This option provides peace of mind and potential to secure good value premiums 
for the next term of the contract ( 3 + 2 years or 5 years). This will assist with the 
future budget planning of the Council. This is the preferred option. 

Risk Assessment  

     The main risks to the Council are:

a. Limited number of bidders:  This risk arises because there are not many 
insurers who are able to underwrite insurance for large authorities.  The 
mitigation of this risk is that the tender will be procured through the Crown 
Commercial Service Insurance Framework. 

b. Significant increase in premiums.  This risk has arisen due to :-

 Insurers’ nervousness about their own risk exposure as a result of the 
impact on the Council’s management of risk due to the public sector 
cuts in particular around safeguarding issues.

 Insurers have potentially high risk exposure relating to claims from the 
‘blue light’ services.  GCC insures all Gloucester Fire and Rescue 
Service vehicles.  

Officer Advice
           

 To direct award a contract to the Council’s incumbent broker, namely Marsh 
Limited, for the supply of such brokerage services as will be necessary to 
undertake a tender process on the Council’s behalf (through CCS Framework 
RM3731) for the purposes of procuring  corporate insurance policies  under 
that framework. Marsh is bound by the Financial Services Authority and the 
CCS framework to recommend the best policy for GCC requirements. The 
final decision will be made by the Director of Strategic Finance in consultation 
with Cabinet Member for Finance and Change. 

 To undertake a tender process and thereafter award a contract for corporate 
insurances through the Crown Commercial Service Insurance framework 
RM3731. 

In terms of financial implications, the total forecast costs over the five year 
period of the contract for the corporate insurances  are likely to be in excess 
of the current contract, given the market conditions prevailing.  Any cost 
increase will need to be reflected in the MTFS. During the procurement both 
types of provider ( i.e. those insurers who pay commission to the broker and 

Page 132



the one insurer that does not )will be invited to tender to maximise 
competitive opportunity.    

Equalities considerations

In accordance with the public sector equality duty, the impact of the 
recommendations upon the protected characteristic groups has been considered 
and no adverse impact has been identified. 

Consultation feedback

The Director of Strategic Finance is content with the proposed strategy.

Performance Management/Follow-up 

In respect of the contract/performance management arrangements, this 
procurement will be managed against a clear specification/timeline.  The contract 
will include specific and measureable targets which will be actively managed at 
regular meetings with the successful insurer by Insurance Services.  

Page 133



Report Title
Procurement of Corporate Insurance Policies and related 
procurement of an insurance broker

Statutory Authority
To comply with the requirement of Financial Regulation C.3 – 
‘Risk Management Control and Use of Resources'

Relevant County Council 
policy

Corporate Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy

Resource Implications
It is forecast that the total costs over the 5 year period of the 
contract for corporate insurances is likely to be in the region of 
£5,552,049.

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships n/a

Decision Making and 
Involvement

Cabinet lead Member for Finance and Change and Director of 
Strategic Finance.

Economy and Employment n/a

Caring for people n/a

Social Value n/a

Built Environment n/a

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

n/a

Education and Information Insurance Services Traded Service to maintained schools.

Tackling Climate Change N/a
Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive/ Neutral/ Negative
Vulnerable to climate change? Yes/ No/ Maybe

Page 134



Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     No

Human rights Implications None

Consultation 
Arrangements

Marsh brokers/GCC Commercial Service/Director of Strategic 
Finance

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



ENERGY CONTRACT AWARD (ELECTRICITY) FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
ESTATE AND SCHOOLS (INC ACADEMIES)

Cabinet Date 13 December 2017

Finance and 
Change Cllr Ray Theodoulou

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

Gas and electricity procurement for Gloucestershire County Council 
buildings and schools, Cabinet 10th July 2013
Extension of the West Mercia Energy (WME) Electricity Contract, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Change, 3rd March 2016

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

Gas and electricity procurement for Gloucestershire County Council 
buildings and schools, Cabinet 10th July 2013
Extension of the West Mercia Energy (WME) Electricity Contract, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Change, 3rd March 2016

Main Consultees

Planned Dates Modification of current contract to run from 1st October 2018 to 31st March 
2020.

Provider to begin forward-purchasing winter energy volumes (Oct 2018 to 
March 2019) on the Council’s behalf March 2018.

Divisional 
Councillor

None

Officer Jo Walker, Director Strategic Finance
Email: joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Tel: 01452 328469

Purpose To seek approval to modify the term of the contract for the supply of 
electricity to the Council and participating schools.

Recommendations

That Cabinet authorises the Director, Strategic Finance in compliance with 
the Public Contract Regulations 2015, to enter into negotiations and 
conclude an agreement with WME to modify the term of the current 
electricity energy contract to include the period 1st October 2018 to 30th 
September 2019 inclusive.    

Reasons for 
recommendations

To allow the Council to continue to purchase electricity in a way that best 
manages the price risk of buying energy as recommended by the Cabinet 
Office, using combined leverage of other Local Authorities and/or the 
Government Procurement Service.

Page 137

Agenda Item 8

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?bcr=1&DM=117C
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?bcr=1&DM=117C
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?bcr=1&DM=117C
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=780
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=780
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?bcr=1&DM=117C
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?bcr=1&DM=117C
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=780
mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


The service provided to date has been good and the prices the Council has 
paid are comparable with market spot prices.  The cost of the actual service 
is competitive with other suppliers and therefore it is recommended that the 
Council continues with the existing supplier.
The Council requires a short term interim electricity contract to be in place 
until a new buying and selling arrangement can be procured. The Council 
will be unable to procure such a short term interim contract without 
incurring significant economic inconvenience and duplication of cost 
resulting from a change of supplier. 

Resource 
Implications

The service charge for the WME contract and the annual cost of electricity 
are included within existing budgets.  The electricity volumes used by the 
council are reducing year on year, however the cost of electricity is 
increasing significantly therefore it is important we contract to forward buy 
and not be left to purchase from the open market. 
The actual spend on electricity in 2016/17 (including the schools and 
Academies), was £4.7m on electricity split between circa £1m council 
premises; c£2m street lighting, signs and bollards, and c£1.7 m schools 
The option proposed is the most efficient way to move forward by avoiding 
the inconvenience of changing supplier across all users and avoiding the 
resource and costs of re-procuring for a short period of time. 

Page 138



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

Background
1. In July 2013 Cabinet authorised the Director, Strategic Finance in consultation with the 

Lead Cabinet Member to enter into a call-off contract under the framework identified as 
offering the Council the best strategy for the procurement and management of 
electricity. Cabinet approved that the contract for the provision of electricity would be for 
an initial term of two years with options to extend for two further periods of one year 
each. 

2. In March 2016 the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change authorised the Director, 
Strategic Finance to:
1) Execute a deed of variation to amend the provisions of the current West Mercia 

Energy (WME) Contract to allow the option to extend to be exercised for a single 
period of 2 years as opposed to the current provision, which provides for two 
consecutive periods of one year each; and

2) Exercise the varied option to extend the West Mercia Energy (WME) Contract for 
the provision of electricity for a further period of two years from 1 October 2016.

3. The Council currently spends c£5.3m per annum on gas and electricity (including for 
over 300 schools), of that c£4.7m is on electricity alone, however this is subject to 
market conditions and may vary.  In 2016/17, 47% of the total electricity consumed by 
the Council was sourced from renewable sources; for comparison the UK average was 
24.2%.

4. The Council procured the services of WME using a managed framework from a Public 
Buying Organisation (PBO).  The contract allows the Council to continue to purchase 
energy in a way that best manages the price risk of buying electricity as recommended 
by government, using the combined leverage of other Local Authorities and/or the 
Crown Commercial Service.

5. Government guidance, in line with the findings of the Pan Government Energy Project, 
is that all public sector organisations take advantage of framework contracts which 
centralise spend into a single supply contract that purchases up to three years in 
advance, aggregates demand and optimises energy prices.

6. PBOs offering such consortium frameworks include:
 WME (West Mercia Energy)
 LASER (Energy buying group for Kent)
 ESPO (Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation)
 YPO (Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation)
 LEP (London Energy Project)
 CCS (Crown Commercial Service)
 NEPO (North Eastern Purchasing Organisation)

7. The main differences between these organisations/frameworks are their business 
models and the services they offer to customers in respect of billing, energy 
management and information. These additional services are extremely important to 
the Council as they facilitate the adoption of the contract by schools and allow the 
Council to implement more energy efficient strategies.

Page 139



8. WME’s current contract was previously awarded using the following considerations:
 How purchasing risk is managed
 How the contract will be monitored, especially as regards pricing
 The ability to set a maximum price paid and then should the market price fall, to 

pass on that discount to the contract users
 Administration of the contract and the services offered by the provider such as 

demand management and bill validation
 The fee for using the framework.

9. WME undertook a compliant open procurement to secure an electricity supply contract, 
awarded in 2015 to run from 1st April 2016 to 31st March 2020.  At this point all Council 
sites, including over 300 schools, have transferred over to the new supplier.  

10.On-contract schools account for over two thirds of the total volume of electricity 
procured through the contract. The Communities and Infrastructure Commissioners, 
AMPS and Street Lighting Manager are keen to achieve a solution which has the 
potential to minimise energy usage and continues to manage price fluctuation risk.

11.The contract with WME ends on 30th September 2018.  A modification is required to the 
current WME contract until a new energy buying and selling arrangement is procured. 

Options
Option 1: Do nothing

12.The present contract with WME ends on the 30th September 2018.  Should the 
Council decide not to procure a new contract:
 The Council and each school would be exposed to ‘out of contract’ unit rates, 

which would be subject to the volatility of the electricity market and pressures 
(Brexit, increasing international tensions, climatic events).

 The Council would risk being in breach of Public Contract Regulations 2015 (PCR 
2015) as it will have effectively directly awarded a contract without competition 
should the arrangement with WME continue out of contract or the Council enter a 
contract with a new supplier.

13.Therefore this is not a viable option.  The Council needs to ensure continuation of this 
service to deliver its front line services and to comply with EU procurement regulations.

Option 2: Re-procure a new contract using a Public Buying Organisation (PBO) for 
electricity consumption

14.As considered previously by Cabinet, the preferred option is to purchase through a 
managed framework run by one of the PBOs.  This allows the Council to aggregate 
volume with others, optimise energy prices, manage procurement risk through a robust 
purchasing strategy defined by market experts and take advantage of other services 
that are offered including bill validation, demand management and a rebate facility (this 
allows the Council to receive a percentage of the contract value back to manage the 
service).

15.Re-procuring this sho r t  t e rm  i n t e r im  contract instead of modifying the current 
contract would not provide the Council with better value for money.  HM Treasury 

Page 140



and the Crown Commercial Service estimate that re-procurement of the service 
would cost c£50,000.  For the Council this would likely be a mix of the cost of 
external professional advice and staff time diverted from other procurement activity.

16.A change in PBO would result in a change of electricity provider, which all sites 
(including over 300 schools) would have to change over to from October 2018.  This is 
then likely to be repeated following the Council’s procurement to enable it to buy and 
sell energy.  As such over 300 schools are likely to have to switch supplier three times 
from April 2016 to July 2019.  There is a significant risk that schools will choose to 
leave the contract as a result, undermining the Council’s buying power.

Option 3: Modify the existing contract with WME
17.There is no contractual option to further extend the existing contract with WME, 

however the Council is able to modify the contract to extend the term and allow for 
additional services under Regulation 72 (1)(b) and under the contract with WME. This 
permits the Council to purchase additional supplies and services from its incumbent 
supplier where a change of supplier cannot be made for economic reasons and where 
such a change would cause significant inconvenience or substantial duplication of costs 
for the Council.

18.There are economic or technical reasons that discourage a change in supplier (broker 
for electricity):

a. Any change of PBO or framework provider would involve a change in electricity 
provider which would result in a large amount of billing and administration 
resources in switching all 300 schools and corporate properties to the new 
provider just for a 12 month period. The option proposed is the most efficient way 
to move forward by avoiding the inconvenience of changing supplier across all 
users and avoiding the resource and costs of re-procuring for a short period of 
time.

b. The accepted industry cost for changing any energy supply contract is around 
£50,000 (para 15) which exceeds the service payment for WME and hence there 
would be no economic advantage since the value for money gains may be lost

19.A change would also cause significant inconvenience or duplication of costs. As cited in 
paragraph 16, tendering costs would be duplicated and 300+ schools are likely to have 
to switch supplier three times from April 2016 to July 2019. Therefore there is a 
significant risk that schools will choose to leave the contract as a result, undermining 
the Council’s buying power. This also significantly impacts the resource requirements to 
manage the contract; internally and its customers, the schools. Modifying the term of 
the current WME contract would enable this service to continue until the Council has 
procured a new contract(s) to sell and buy energy.

20.The contract modification will not exceed 50% of the value of the original contract; for 
the 12 month period. The initial term was 2 years and the value of the contract has 
remained consistent.

21.WME are providing value for money. The service provided to date has been good and 
the prices the Council has paid are comparable with market spot prices. The cost of the 
actual service is competitive with other suppliers. 

22.The Council and schools continue to be satisfied with the service WME provides. 
During the previous procurement process it was identified that only a few other PBOs 

Page 141



offer the services required by the Council.  For example, the flexible buying approach, 
the rebate system, and comprehensive billing system.  In addition analysis suggests 
that the WME buying and risk strategy provides the Council with value for money and is 
competitive with other PBOs.  Therefore there is no evidence to suggest re-
procurement will provide the Council with any savings in the short-term. 

Risk Assessment  
23.Although the council (and each school) is buffered by the purchasing power of a PBO, 

electricity pricing is subject to the volatility of the electricity market, pressures and fiscal 
measures which are passed on directly to the purchaser. The Department for Business, 
Environment and Industrial Strategy’s (BEIS) long-term forecast is for the energy 
market to continue to rise. In addition, the schools not signing up to the contract would 
also increase the risk of the price rising further as the Council’s purchasing power is 
reduced.

24.There is also the risk of challenge to the decision to modify the contract. The Council 
will comply with the Public Contract Regulations 2015 and serve a modification notice 
to minimise risk of challenge.

Officer Advice
25.Option 3 is recommended as the benefits of this option, detailed above, are such that in 

the current situation it provides the most cost effective solution for the Council.
26.Therefore officers recommend: That Cabinet authorises the Director, Strategic Finance 

in compliance with the Public Contract Regulations 2015 to enter into negotiations and 
conclude an agreement with WME to modify the term of the current electricity energy 
contract to include the period 1st October 2018 to 30th September 2019 inclusive.    

Equalities considerations
27. In the development of this procurement approach ‘due regard’ has been given to the 

aims of the Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equalities Act 2010; it is concluded 
that the process of procuring electricity for the Council estate and schools will have no 
significant equality implications for the ‘protected characteristics’ given the nature of 
the services involved.

Consultation feedback

28. Not applicable. 

Performance Management/Follow-up 
29.There will be regular monitoring of pricing and service delivery with WME in line with 

the Council’s contract management processes.
30.Based on good practice, internal working group monitor the performance of the contract 

and regular contract management meetings will continue to be held.
31.Cabinet will receive a report on the future arrangements for buying and selling 

electricity.

Page 142



Report Title
Modification of the Electricity Energy Contract for 
Gloucestershire County Council estate and schools (inc 
Academies) Council

Statutory Authority N/A

Relevant County Council 
policy

None

Resource Implications The service charge for the WME contract and the annual cost 
of electricity are included within existing budgets.  The 
electricity volumes used by the council are reducing year on 
year, however the cost of electricity is increasing significantly 
therefore it is important we contract to forward buy and not 
be left to purchase from the open market. 
The actual spend on electricity in 2016/17 (including the 
schools and Academies), was £4.7m on electricity split 
between circa £1m council premises; c£2m street lighting, 
signs and bollards, and c£1.7 m schools 
The option proposed is the most efficient way to move 
forward by avoiding the inconvenience of changing supplier 
across all users and avoiding the resource and costs of re-
procuring for a short period of time. 

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships N/A

Decision Making and 
Involvement

Strategic Infrastructure commissioners, Street Lighting 
Manager, Strategic Finance, Commercial Services

Economy and Employment N/A

Caring for people N/A

Social Value No significant Social Value implications or opportunities.

Built Environment No significant impact

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

The Council’s procurement approach is to buy ‘brown’ non-
renewable grid electricity unless ‘green’ renewable grid 
electricity is the same price or cheaper. In 2016/17, 47% of the 
total electricity consumed by the Council was sourced from 
renewable sources; for comparison the UK average is 

Page 143



24.2%.The Council has invested in energy efficiency measures 
to minimise electricity use, associated costs and carbon 
emissions, as part of its carbon management programme. 
The Council is on target to reduce carbon emissions from its 
estate by 60% by 2020/21 on the 2006/07 baseline.

Education and Information No significant impact

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? Yes – the vulnerability of the 
Council to the loss of electricity supply through the 
impacts of a changing climate will not be affected by this 
procurement.

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?    No

Human rights Implications N/A

Consultation 
Arrangements

N/A

Page 144



TO ESTABLISH A NEW SECONDARY SCHOOL FOR CHELTENHAM

Cabinet Date 13 December 2017

Economy, Skills 
and Growth Cllr Lynden Stowe

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

1. Strategic Review Documents
2. Education Act 2011
3. Property Acquisition Policy

Additional information can be found at: 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/cheltenham-school-planning

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

Please contact Francesca Ciereszko-Lane, Education Planning & 
Development Project Manager, 
Tel: 01452 328694 
Email: Francesca.Ciereszko-Lane@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Main Consultees Cheltenham Councillors

Planned Dates  School competition to take place in Spring 2018

 Phased opening of new school with effect from September 2019

Divisional 
Councillor

Cheltenham Councillors

Officer Gareth Vine – Interim Manager (Education & Capital)
Tel. 01452 427547
Email: gareth.vine@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval to establish a new secondary school in 
Cheltenham.

Recommendations 1. That Cabinet approves the establishment of a new 900 place secondary 
free school (6 forms of entry) in Cheltenham to open in September 2019.

2. That Cabinet delegates authority to the Head of Education, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economy, Skills and Growth, 
to:

a) hold a free school presumption competition in accordance with the 
Department for Education’s advice contained in, “The free school 
presumption” (February 2016).

Page 145

Agenda Item 9

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/cheltenham-school-planning
mailto:gareth.vine@gloucestershire.gov.uk


b) upon conclusion of the competition, to recommend to the Secretary of 
State the findings of the Local Authority’s assessment to enable her to 
decide upon the most suitable proposer to take forward the new free 
school

3. That Cabinet delegates authority to the Head of Property Services to 
acquire land to establish a new 900 place school in Cheltenham in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change. 

Reasons for 
recommendations

Pupil forecasts show that by 2019/20 all Cheltenham secondary schools 
will be full in year 7, with at least 120 children without school places (4 
forms of entry).  By 2021/22 this will have increased to at least 180 
children without places, equivalent to 6 forms of entry each year.

Resource 
Implications

The total capital cost of the new school is estimated at £30million.  This 
would be met from Schools Capital Grant, County Council borrowing and 
Section 106 Developer contributions.  The scheme is a proposed capital 
scheme in the Medium Term Financial Strategy capital programme and 
would be subject to approved funding by Council in February.

On-going revenue costs will be met from the Dedicated Schools Grant. 

Page 146



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Introduction

1.1. The County Council has a statutory duty to ensure that sufficient school places 
are available within its area for every child of school age whose parents/carers 
wish them to have one.  It is a commissioner of places rather than being a direct 
provider – working in partnership with providers and stakeholders to meet current 
and future demand across the county1.

2. Background

2.1. Since 2007 there has been an increase in birth rates which has, in part, resulted 
in a sustained growth in demand for school places.  This, coupled with additional 
pupil yield from strategic and non strategic housing, has resulted in the 
significant increase in demand for primary school places year on year in 
Cheltenham.

2.2. Since 2011 this rising demand has been met by working collaboratively with 
schools in the primary sector to increase their published admission number 
(PAN).  Work has also been on-going with secondary schools to provide 
additional capacity as these pupils move into the secondary phase of their 
education.

3. Strategic Review of Cheltenham Place Planning

3.1. In the autumn of 2016 a strategic review of school planning in Cheltenham was 
undertaken to update pupil forecasts in the light of changing demand and to 
identify future patterns of needs for school places across the town.

3.2. The review concluded that, taking into account basic need projections, new 
housing developments and the provision of a new secondary school as part of 
the north west Cheltenham development, there will be a shortfall of at least 120 
year 7 places by 2019/20 (4 forms of entry).  Should no additional capacity be 
available, this will increase to a shortage of at least 180 places each year by 
2021/22, equivalent to 6 forms of entry.

1 The Education and Inspections Act 2006, Academies Act 2010 & Education Act 2011

Page 147



3.3. The pressure on both primary and secondary school places is concentrated in 
the central/southern area of Cheltenham.  Whilst the council has successfully 
sought to maximise the opportunities available from the expansion of existing 
primary and secondary schools in the local school system, it is not feasible to 
continue this approach to meet the future demand in full.  However, if this 
approach did continue to be adopted, a shortfall of around 120 places each year 
would remain by 2021, with no flexibility going forward to cater for any 
unidentified need e.g. demand from new housing yet to come forward.

4. Establishing a new school 

4.1. The Education Act 2011 changed the arrangements for establishing new schools 
and introduced Section 6A (the academy and free school presumption) to the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006.  Where a local authority identifies a need 
for a new school in its area, it must seek proposals to establish a free school.  All 
new free school proposals require the Secretary of State’s approval.  

4.2. The local authority must assess all proposals received and send the outcome of 
the assessment to the Secretary of State for consideration and approval.  The 
preference indicated by the local authority will be a key factor in that 
consideration.  

4.3. Under the Free School Presumption route the local authority is responsible for 
providing the site for the new school and meeting the associated capital and pre-
/post-opening costs.

4.4. Proposers or sponsors (the body or group that is proposing a new school) can 
also apply directly to the Department of Education (DfE) through the 
Government’s Free School Programme to establish a new school – with all costs 
being met by the DfE.  However, the DfE has not yet announced if and when the 
next window (wave 13) in which proposers can apply to set up a free school will 
be, with no guarantee that such a bid would be successful in any event.  

4.5. This therefore leaves the council with a need for 900 additional secondary school 
places in south Cheltenham, which if not now, will result in the council failing to 
provide sufficient places from 2019 given the length of time required to build and 
establish a new school.

4.6. Whilst the bidding round for Wave 13 of the Free School Programme was 
originally expected to commence in the Spring of 2017, and the council has since 
been waiting for an announcement to progress the new school, the delay means 
that even if a bidding round were to open at this stage, there would now be 
insufficient time to deliver the new school through any national programme.

5. The Free School Presumption (Competition) Process

5.1. The presumption arrangements require local authorities to seek proposals (hold 
a competition) with potential sponsors to establish a free school where they have 
identified a need for a new school in their area.

Page 148



5.2. In accordance with the Free School Presumption Guidance published by the 
Department for Education (February 2016), it is the local authority’s decision as 
to how it consults on a proposed new school and with whom. 

5.3. As part of the planning process for new schools, local authorities must also 
undertake an assessment of the impact of the proposal, both on existing 
educational institutions locally and upon protected groups.  This is to enable the 
Secretary of State to fulfil her duties under section 9 of the Academies Act 2010 
and under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

5.4. The local authority will hold an event for interested parties who may be 
considering becoming sponsors of the new school.  It will publicise the need for a 
school on the Gloucestershire County Council website and on the Department of 
Education’s website under the section ‘local authorities looking for details on new 
free school proposals’. 

5.5. Gloucestershire County Council will develop and publish a specification and 
impact assessment for a period of four weeks to allow interested parties to 
submit bids to run the new school.  Once all bids are received these will be 
forwarded to the Secretary of State for information. The local authority will then 
assess the proposals and hold interviews prior to submitting their preferred 
sponsor to the Secretary of State for final approval.  The Secretary of State’s 
decision is delegated to the South West Regional Schools Commissioner (RSC) 
for determination.

5.6. The RSC does not have to agree with the council’s recommendation and could 
opt to appoint a sponsor of their choice.

5.7. The RSC will need to be satisfied about their suitability to set up and run a free 
school.  As soon as a suitable proposer is agreed ’in principle’ by the RSC, the 
DfE will notify the local authority, the successful proposer and the local MP

5.8. The successful proposer is under a duty, as required by section 10 of the 
Academies Act 2010, to consult such persons as it thinks appropriate on whether 
it should enter into a funding agreement for the new school with the Secretary of 
State. 

5.9. Land acquisition and construction of the new school does not form part of this 
process, although some of which would be likely to occur in parallel.

6. Options

6.1. Option 1 - To continue to expand existing schools to meet the demand and fund 
transport for pupils to alternative school provision outside of Cheltenham once 
capacity has been reached in the town.

6.2. Option 2 – To establish a new 900 place secondary school (6 forms of entry) in 
Cheltenham with a phased opening from September 2019.

Page 149



7. Land Implications

7.1. A review of land in the south Cheltenham area has established that the County 
Council does not currently own a site of sufficient size to accommodate a 6 FE 
school outside of the existing Greenbelt.  However, by utilising Council land at 
Farm Lane, Leckhampton, together with part of the land to the south of the 
Shurdington Road, it would provide a site of sufficient size in the area of demand 
(see appendix 1).

7.2. As a consequence, should option 2 be adopted, land will need to be acquired 
either through negotiation or by use of statutory powers - the extent of how much 
land acquired will be established through detailed determination of education 
operational needs and further technical investigations regarding Planning, 
Transport, Environmental, Design and Site investigations.

8. Financial Implications

8.1. Option 1
The cost of expanding existing schools to provide adequate capacity going 
forward is estimated at £30 million.  The associated transport cost to the council 
is estimated at £356,000 each year.

8.2. The on-going school revenue costs will be met from the Dedicated Schools 
Grant

8.3. Option 2
The total capital cost of the new school is estimated at £30 million, covering both 
land and build costs.  This will be met from the schools capital grant (£15 
million), county council borrowing (£15 million), with the latter being offset by 
Section 106 developer contributions, which will come in over time and mitigate 
the £15 million borrowing – as outlined in the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
capital programme from 2018/2019 until 2020/2021. This option also forgoes a 
possible capital receipt to the County Council from its land being incorporated in 
to a new school site.

8.4. The on-going school revenue costs will be met from the Dedicated Schools 
Grant.

9. Officer Advice

9.1. Officers recommend that Cabinet adopts option 2 and establishes a new 900 
place secondary school (6 forms of entry) with a phased opening from 
September 2019.

9.2. Whilst the continued expansion of existing Cheltenham schools could meet some 
of the projected shortfall, it would not be possible to meet the future demand in 
full.  Adopting this approach would result in an on-going shortfall of between 90 
and 120 places each year (3-4 forms of entry) from 2021.  Further, the 
opportunity to establish a new school would be lost given that 3-4 forms of entry 
is not a viable size for a secondary school, with no flexibility going forward to 
cater for any unidentified need e.g. new housing yet to come forward.

Page 150



9.3. The council could expand schools outside Cheltenham to accommodate children 
from the town.  However, it would incur similar capital costs to a new school and 
significant additional revenue costs in doing so – with an on-going transport 
liability being created for the council each year.  This approach would also be 
contrary to the council’s policy of providing local provision for local children, and, 
in any event, would at best merely delay the need for a new secondary school 
given the rising demand for school places being experienced within the county 
as a whole.

9.4. Further, transporting children outside of their local area would be considered 
unreasonable admissions practice by independent appeal panels and the Local 
Government Ombudsman – and, on this scale, could potentially lead to judicial 
review and intervention from central government for failure to effectively fulfil the 
council’s statutory duties.

9.5. This option would also be considered unacceptable to Cheltenham families due 
to distance and, given individual academy admissions policy, would result in the 
additional Cheltenham children being allocated places at the least popular 
schools outside of Cheltenham.

10.Risk Assessment 

10.1. Risk 1
There is a delay in the new housing coming forward and associated delay in the 
need for additional school places.

10.2. The Local Authority will closely monitor the progress of housing developments 
and adjust the phasing of the new school provision accordingly.

10.3. Pupil forecasts will be updated regularly and a review of historical pupil yield 
from housing developments will be undertaken.

10.4. Risk 2
Excess capacity within the Cheltenham School Planning Area will negatively 
impact other schools.

10.5. The planned growth of the school will be in line with the increased demand 
generated from new housing to prevent any destabilisation of the local school 
system.

10.6. Schools in the Cheltenham School Planning area will continue to be involved in 
discussions over the phasing of the new capacity coming on-line.

10.7. Risk 3
The council is unable to identify and acquire sufficient land to site the new school 
in south Cheltenham and secure planning permission.

10.8. A sequential land test assessment has been undertaken to identify appropriate 
sites and early discussions will take place with local planners to ensure any 
proposed locations are included within local development plans.

Land will be acquired either through negotiation or by use of statutory powers 
and in line with the County Council’s Property Acquisition Policy.

Page 151



10.9. Risk 4
The new school building is not completed before the additional places are 
required.

10.10. Early feasibility work and discussions with Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Borough 
Councils will take place to address any potential site and planning issues which 
may arise during the proposed building project. 

10.11. Arrangements will be agreed with the successful sponsor to establish temporary 
provision at a host school which would remain in place until the new building is 
completed.  

10.12. Risk 5
Revenue funding is insufficient to meet the running costs of the school.

10.13. The school will receive revenue funding from the Dedicated Schools Grant, in 
accordance with the National Funding Formula – with a 6 form of entry school 
(900 pupils) being a viable size school.

10.14. Additional revenue funding will be made available whilst the school fills in 
accordance with established local arrangements.

11.Consultation Feedback

11.1. Discussions with stakeholders has established that there is a shared 
understanding of the need to create additional school places in the south of 
Cheltenham.

11.2. 2 potential sponsors have conducted their own consultation involving a range of 
stakeholders, including local families, each with a view to submitting a bid to run 
the new school – indicating there is a competitive market of high quality 
providers able and willing to provide additional good and outstanding school 
places for Cheltenham.

11.3. A market place event will be held for potential sponsors prior to the Free School 
Presumption (Competition) commencing.

12.Equalities considerations

12.1. The proposals, as outlined in this report, actively seek to improve outcomes for 
children, young people and their families by ensuring there is access to good 
secondary school places now and in the future.  A due regard statement will be 
developed as the project progresses.

13.Performance Management/Follow-up 

13.1. An experienced project group has been set up by the Council to manage all 
aspects of establishing the new school, under the direction of the Head of 
Education.

Page 152



Report Title To establish a new secondary school for Cheltenham

Statutory Authority Gloucestershire County Council, Education and Inspections Act 
2006 and The Education Act 1996

Department for Education - “The free school presumption” 
Departmental advice for local authorities and new school 
proposers (February 2016).

Relevant County Council 
policy

Provision of sufficient school places and Property Acquisition 
Policy

Resource Implications
The total capital cost of the new school is estimated at 
£30million.  This would be met from Schools Capital Grant, 
County Council borrowing and Section 106 Developer 
contributions.  The scheme is a proposed capital scheme in the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy capital programme and would 
be subject to approved funding by Council in February.

On-going revenue costs will be met from the Dedicated 
Schools Grant.

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships Working with local Head Teachers of Cheltenham Primary & 
Secondary Schools, the Diocese of Gloucester, Diocese of 
Clifton Schools and Cheltenham and Tewkesbury District 
Councils.

Decision Making and 
Involvement

A full stakeholder engagement process has been undertaken.

Economy and Employment Positive effect on local businesses with increased population in 
the area. Further employment opportunities with provision of a 
new school.

Caring for people Supporting children, young people and their families through 
provision of good local support services as part of the new 
school.

Social Value Supporting children and young people and their families to 
have access to good quality school provision closer to where 
they live.

Page 153



Built Environment The new school will be designed to meet all the current DfE 
accommodation schedules/guidelines and to current building 
regulations/sustainable features.

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

All necessary surveys will be carried our on the site of the new 
building to ensure all ecological risks are assessed.

Education and Information Provision of extra spaces will allow local children to access 
their local school.

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive/ Neutral/ Negative
Vulnerable to climate change? Yes/ No/ Maybe

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     No
- considerations included in main body of report

Human rights Implications None

Consultation 
Arrangements

Consultation involving all stakeholders will be undertaken as 
part of the process of establishing the new school. A webpage 
has been set up and there will be the opportunity to record 
electronic responses and FREEPOST address for written 
responses.  Drop in sessions will be held with the public/ 
interested parties.

Page 154



P
age 155



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Medium Term Financial Strategy - 2018/19 to 2020/21
	Item 5 - MTFS Document

	6 Financial Monitoring Report 2017/18
	7 Procurement of Corporate Insurances and Related Procurement of a Broker
	8 Energy Contract Award (Electricity) for Gloucestershire County Council Estate and Schools (including Academies)
	9 To establish a new Secondary School for Cheltenham
	Item 9 - Map


